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PART 1
Item 1. Business

World Wrestling Entertainment, Inc. is an integrated media and entertainment company. "WWE" refers to World Wrestling Entertainment, Inc. and its
subsidiaries, unless the context otherwise requires. References to "we," "us," "our" and the "Company" refer to WWE. The initials "WWE" and our stylized and
iconic "W" logo are two of our trademarks. This report also contains other WWE trademarks and trade names as well as those of other companies. All trademarks
and trade names appearing in this report are the property of their respective holders.

We have been involved in the sports entertainment business for four decades, and have developed WWE into one of the most popular brands in global
entertainment today. We are principally engaged in the production and distribution of unique and creative content through various channels, including the
premium over-the-top subscription network (“WWE Network™), content rights agreements, pay-per-view event programming, filmed entertainment, live events,
licensing of various WWE themed products, and the sale of consumer products featuring our brands. At the heart of our success are the athletic and entertainment
skills and appeal of our Superstars, and our consistently innovative and multi-faceted storylines. Our distribution platforms provide significant cross-promotion
and marketing opportunities that reinforce our brands while effectively reaching our fans.

Based on the strength of the Company’s brands and its ownership and control over its intellectual property, the Company has been able to leverage its
content and talent globally across virtually all media platforms. We continually evaluate additional opportunities to monetize new and existing content, including
WWE Network, which is available in all international markets other than embargoed countries. In this regard, we recently announced a multi-year agreement with
Peacock TV LLC, an affiliate of NBC Universal (“NBCU”) which operates the Peacock paid streaming service (“Peacock™). This agreement grants, among other
things, the exclusive domestic streaming and video-on-demand rights to WWE Network content via Peacock, as well as certain WWE Network subscriber data.

Our operations are organized around the following principal activities:

Media:

. The Media segment reflects the production and monetization of long-form and short-form video content across various platforms, including WWE
Network, broadcast and pay television, digital and social media, as well as filmed entertainment. Across these platforms, revenues principally consist
of content rights fees, subscriptions to WWE Network, and advertising and sponsorships. Effective March 18, 2021, the domestic monetization of
WWE Network will be generated from content license fees and certain shared sponsorship revenues from NBCU.

Live Events:

. Live events provide ongoing content for our media platforms. Live Event segment revenues consist primarily of ticket sales, including primary and
secondary distribution, revenues from events for which we receive a fixed fee, as well as the sale of travel packages associated with the Company’s
global live events. As a result of the global spread of the coronavirus pandemic (“COVID-19”), these revenues were greatly limited in 2020 and we
expect this pattern to continue into 2021 for an indeterminate period.

Consumer Products:

. The Consumer Products segment engages in the merchandising of WWE branded products, such as video games, toys and apparel, through licensing
arrangements and direct-to-consumer sales. Revenues principally consist of royalties and licensee fees related to WWE branded products, and sales of
merchandise distributed at our live events and through eCommerce platforms.

Media

Media net revenues were $868.2 million, $743.1 million and $683.4 million, representing 89%, 77% and 73% of total net revenues in 2020, 2019 and
2018, respectively.

Network

WWE Network launched in February 2014, becoming the first-ever 24/7 live streaming direct-to-consumer network. This subscription-based network is
currently available in all international markets other than embargoed countries, including the United Kingdom, Canada, the Middle East, China and Australia,
among others. Subscribers can access all of WWE’s live pay-per-view events, exclusive original programming and over 13,000 hours of our video-on-demand
library. The inclusion of our monthly marquis pay-per-view events, including WrestleMania, and the access to original content and live specials are critical
components of the programming which drives our viewer engagement and satisfaction. WWE Network content includes exclusive original programming,
groundbreaking
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documentaries, reality shows and in-ring specials, including Undertaker: The Last Ride, Steve Austin's Broken Skull Sessions and WWE Untold. Our strategy of
creating compelling original content for broadcast on WWE Network has contributed to the popularity of WWE Network, which premiered nearly 350 hours of
original content during 2020.

WWE Network is available on select gaming consoles, computers, mobile devices, internet connected TVs, and popular digital media players. As of
December 31, 2020, WWE Network had 1,469,700 paid subscribers as compared to 1,391,000 paid subscribers at December 31, 2019, representing a 6% increase
in our subscriber base. For domestic subscribers, the current subscription pricing of WWE Network is $9.99 per month with no minimum commitment.

In connection with the new multi-year agreement with NBCU beginning on March 18, 2021, the content licensed via Peacock will include WWE’s pay-
per-view content, second runs of our in-ring television programming, original and archival content, as well as new WWE Network content.

Core Content Rights Fees

Leveraging our expertise in live event television production, we currently produce seven hours of original weekly domestic television programming, RAW,
SmackDown and NXT, our core content. RAW and NXT are licensed domestically under multi-year contracts with NBCU, while SmackDown is licensed
domestically under a multi-year contract with Fox Network. Second runs of RAW and SmackDown are also available on WWE Network 30 days after the original
first run airing dates on television.

RAW is a three-hour live primetime program which ranks among the most watched regularly scheduled programs on primetime cable television. RAW
remains the longest running weekly episodic program in primetime television history, with over 1,400 original episodes, and anchors USA Network’s
programming line-up, consistently helping make it the top-rated cable entertainment network.

SmackDown is a two-hour live primetime program airing on Fridays on Fox Network. SmackDown continues to be the second longest running weekly
episodic program in primetime TV history, second only to RAW.

NXT is a two-hour live primetime program airing on Wednesday nights on USA Network. The weekly program continues to air on WWE Network shortly
after the initial run on USA Network.

WWE’s TV-PG, family-friendly television programming, including RAW and SmackDown, can be seen in more than 900 million homes and in 28
languages around the world. Our international broadcast partners currently include: BT Sport in the United Kingdom; Sony Ten in India, Rogers Communication
in Canada, and PP Sports in China, among many others.

Advertising and Sponsorships

WWE utilizes the Internet and social media platforms to promote our brands, market and distribute our content and digital products, create a community
experience among our fans and sell advertising across these various platforms. WWE currently streams its media content on select social media platforms, such as
YouTube and Facebook. WWE surpassed 70 million subscribers on YouTube, and consistently ranks among the top viewed channels, with over 21 billion views
of WWE content in 2020. The Company also receives advertising revenues from YouTube and Facebook based on viewership data of our content. In 2020, WWE
had over 1.3 billion social media fan engagements across social media platforms such as Facebook, Twitter, YouTube, Instagram and Tumblr.

Our primary website, WWE.com, attracted an average of over 6 million monthly unique visitors worldwide during 2020. These visitors viewed an average
of 67 million pages and 6 million video streams per month. WWE short-form video and other content is available through our mobile partnerships. WWE
currently has local language-based websites allowing fans to experience WWE in their native language with a concentration on local events and shows. Currently,
the available languages are English, Spanish, Mandarin, French, German, Polish and Arabic. We monetize our digital advertising inventory on WWE.com in
global markets via programmatic ad sales and relationships with sales agencies.

In addition, through our sponsorship packages, we offer advertisers a full range of our promotional opportunities, including online and print advertising,
on-air announcements and special appearances by our Superstars. These opportunities allow our advertisers and sponsors to engage consumers across a variety of
our platforms. In 2020, we grew several partnerships with blue-chip brands, including Hyundai, Mars, Coca-Cola, Unilever, Microsoft and Nestle Waters, and
partnered with new advertisers, such as Constellation Brands, Foster Farms, Credit One and Progressive Insurance. Our sponsors promote their products utilizing
our digital media assets, including promotion on WWE.com as well as promotion through WWE Network and through our live events. As part of our recently
announced agreement with NBCU, sales of certain sponsorships on their platform will be shared by both parties.
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Other

Our Media segment also generates revenue from the distribution of other WWE content, including, but not limited to, certain live in-ring programming
content in international markets, scripted, reality and other programming, as well as theatrical and direct-to-home video releases.

Our reality-based television series currently includes Total Bellas, and Miz and Mrs. Total Bellas, a spinoff of our hit series, Total Divas, was added to
WWE's programming line-up in October 2016, and launched a sixth season in November 2020. This reality-based series airing on E! gives viewers exclusive
access into the lives of The Bella Twins and their family. Previous episodes of Seasons 1 through 5 are also replayed on WWE Network.

Miz & Mprs., a docuseries chronicling the lives of WWE Superstars The Miz and Maryse, premiered in July 2018 on USA Network. Following the success
of the initial six episodes of this reality-based series, USA Network picked up 14 more episodes, which aired during 2019. Season 2 of the series premiered in
January 2020. Previous episodes of Season 1 are also replayed on WWE Network.

WWE Studios is our multi-platform production company that develops and produces feature films, television (scripted, non-scripted), and digital content.
In 2020, WWE Studios secured partnerships for films, animated content, unscripted formats, scripted series and documentaries on a variety of platforms,
including Netflix, A&E, Universal Television and other domestic and international platforms.

Live Events

Live Events net revenues were $19.9 million, $125.6 million and $144.2 million, representing 2%, 13% and 16% of total net revenues in 2020, 2019 and
2018, respectively.

Our broad and talented roster of Superstars allows us to perform in numerous domestic markets and take advantage of the strong international demand for
our events. Live events and the associated programming produced at our live events are our principal creative content and production activities. Our creative team
develops compelling and complex characters and weaves them into dynamic storylines that combine physical and emotional elements. Storylines are usually
played out in the ring and unfold on our weekly television shows, culminating in our monthly marquis events which air on WWE Network and are also available
via pay-per-view.

The global spread of COVID-19 and the various attempts to contain it have resulted in restrictions, postponements and cancellations of various events,
such as the relocation of WrestleMania 36 and the cancellation of ticketed events due to public health concerns. The impact of COVID-19 was significant on our
live events segment, which is highly dependent on ticket sales at our live events. We expect this pattern to continue into 2021 for an indeterminate period as we
continue to monitor the developments of COVID-19 and actively manage our business to respond to these and other potential impacts.

North American Ticket Sales

In 2020, prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, we produced 41 live events (excluding NXT) throughout North America, entertaining 259,000 fans at an
average ticket price of $53.46. We held many of these live events at major arenas across the country. In addition to providing content for our television and other
programming, these events provide us with a real-time assessment of the popularity of our storylines and characters.

International Ticket Sales

In 2020, as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, we were unable to generate any ticket sales related to international events. We held one large-scale
international event in 2020, for which we received a fixed fee.

Consumer Products

Consumer Products net revenues were $86.1 million, $91.7 million and $102.6 million, representing 9%, 10% and 11% of total net revenues in 2020, 2019
and 2018, respectively.

Consumer Product Licensing

We have established a worldwide licensing program using our marks and logos, copyrighted works and characters on a large variety of retail products,
including video games, toys, apparel and books. Currently, we have relationships with more than 200 licensees worldwide that provide products for sale at major
retailers. To maintain the distinctive style and quality of our intellectual property and brand, we retain creative approval over the design, packaging, advertising
and promotional materials associated with these products. Additionally, we continually seek new opportunities to partner with best-in-class organizations to
develop new products for our fans and further expand our licensing business.
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Video games and toys are the largest components of our licensing program. We have a comprehensive, multi-year licensing agreement with Mattel, Inc.,
our master toy licensee, covering all global territories, and a multi-year licensing agreement with Take-Two Interactive Software, Inc. ("Take-Two") to produce
and sell our branded console video games. WWE branded video games currently include WWE 2K and WWE Battlegrounds, available on PlayStation and XBOX
platforms and on iOS and Android devices, and WWE SuperCard, available on iOS and Android devices. The video game industry continues to migrate the
availability of video games toward downloadable content through an Internet connected device. Accordingly, our video games can be downloaded via the Internet
and contain subsequent downloadable content that can be purchased to add additional characters and game modes to enhance game play.

Music is an integral part of the WWE entertainment experience. We compose and record music, including Superstar entrance themes, in our recording
studio. In addition to our own composed music, we license music performed by popular artists.

eCommerce

WWEShop is our direct-to-consumer e-commerce storefront. WWE merchandise is also distributed on other domestic and international e-commerce
platforms, including Amazon. We processed 722,300 orders during 2020 as compared to 619,700 in 2019, driven, in part, by the release of new replica title belts
and changes in consumer spending habits as a result of COVID-19.

Venue Merchandise

Our direct-to-consumer venue merchandise business consists of the design, sourcing, marketing and distribution of numerous WWE-branded products such
as t-shirts, belts, caps and other novelty items, all of which feature our Superstars and/or logos.

The impact of COVID-19 was significant on our venue merchandise results, which are highly dependent on purchases of merchandise by consumers at our
live events. We expect this pattern to continue into 2021 for an indeterminate period as we continue to monitor the developments of COVID-19 and actively
manage our business to respond to the ongoing impacts.

Customers

Our customers include content distributors of our media content through their networks and platforms, fans who purchase tickets to our live events,
purchase our merchandise at venues or online through our eCommerce platforms and subscribers to WWE Network, advertisers and sponsors, consumer product
licensees, and film distributors/buyers. As noted elsewhere, we have several important partners, including NBCU and its affiliates who, among other things, carry
the domestic television distribution of Raw and NX7, and, beginning in March 2021, will carry the exclusive domestic streaming rights of WWE Network content.
We also partner with Fox Network who carries the domestic television distribution of SmackDown, and the General Entertainment Authority of the Kingdom of
Saudi Arabia who, among other things, hosts our live events in the Middle East.

Creative Development and Production

Headed by our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Vincent K. McMahon, our creative team develops compelling and complex characters and weaves
them into dynamic storylines that combine physical and emotional elements. Storylines are usually played out in the ring and unfold on our weekly television
shows, culminating in our monthly marquis events. We voluntarily designate the suitability of each of our television shows using standard industry ratings, and all
our in-ring television programming carries a PG rating, which is critical to maintaining the Company’s reputation for family friendly entertainment.

Our success is due primarily to the continuing popularity of our Superstars. We have nearly 300 Superstars under exclusive contracts, ranging from multi-
year guaranteed contracts with established Superstars to developmental contracts with our Superstars in training. Our Superstars are highly trained and motivated
independent contractors, whose compensation is tied to the revenue that they help generate. We own the rights to substantially all our characters and exclusively
license the rights we do not own through agreements with our Superstars.

Talent Development

We continually seek to identify, recruit and develop additional talent for our business. Our development system, including the NXT division, features talent
training to become WWE Superstars and has produced over 85% of our current active main roster stars, such as Roman Reigns, Sasha Banks, The Street Profits,
Otis, and Bianca Belair. NXT has now evolved into our third brand after Raw and SmackDown and has transitioned into a weekly live television series. Prior to
COVID-19, NXT was also a global touring brand broadcasting live specials on WWE Network. Approximately 60% of our developmental talent come from more
than 20 countries outside the U.S., including the United Kingdom, China, India, Japan, Australia, Ireland, Brazil and Germany. Women comprise approximately
30% of our developmental talent. NXT talent train at our WWE Performance Center in Florida, a state-of-the-art training facility, which was designed to cultivate
our next generation of talent and has become the center of our talent development program. In efforts to localize our content around the world, we opened the
WWE UK Performance Center in January 2019, the first WWE training facility outside of the United States.

6



Table of Contents

Competition

While we believe that we have a loyal fan base, the entertainment industry is highly competitive and subject to fluctuations in popularity, which are not
easy to predict. For our live event and media content audiences, we face competition from professional and college sports, other live, filmed, televised and
streamed entertainment, which includes other professional wrestling leagues, and other leisure activities. We will face increased competition from websites and
mobile and other internet connected apps delivering paid and free content as streamed media offerings continue to expand. For purchases of our merchandise, we
compete with entertainment companies, professional and college sports leagues and other makers of branded apparel and merchandise. Many companies with
whom we compete have greater financial resources than we do.

Trademarks and Copyrights

Intellectual property is material to all aspects of our operations, and we expend substantial cost and effort in an attempt to maintain and protect our
intellectual property and to maintain compliance vis-a-vis other parties’ intellectual property. We have a large portfolio of registered and unregistered trademarks
and service marks worldwide and maintain a large catalog of copyrighted works, including copyrights in our television and WWE Network programming, music,
photographs, books, films and apparel art. We also own a large number of internet website domain names and operate a network of developed, content-based
sites, which facilitate and contribute to the exploitation of our intellectual property worldwide.

We vigorously seek to enforce our intellectual property rights worldwide by, among other things, searching the internet to ascertain unauthorized use,
seizing counterfeit goods and seeking restraining orders and/or damages in court against individuals or entities infringing our intellectual property rights. Our
failure or inability to curtail piracy, infringement or other unauthorized use of our intellectual property rights effectively, or our infringement of others’ intellectual
property rights, could adversely affect our operating results.

Human Capital

The human capital objectives we focus on in managing our business include attracting, developing, and retaining key personnel. Our employees are critical
to the success of our organization and the Company is committed to supporting our employees’ professional development. We believe our management team has
the experience necessary to effectively implement our growth strategy and continue to drive shareholder value. We provide competitive compensation and
benefits to attract and retain key personnel, while also providing a safe, inclusive and respectful workplace. The Company develops personnel by offering in-
house learning and development resources that include online and in-person training programs on a variety of topics, including topics that advance leadership
skills.

We currently have over 900 full-time employees. Our in-house production staff is supplemented with contract personnel for our television production who
are not included in our headcount. We believe the relationship between WWE and our employees is strong. Our employee headcount also excludes our Superstars
and NXT talent, who are independent contractors.

Regulation
Live Events

In some United States and foreign jurisdictions, athletic commissions and other applicable regulatory agencies require us to obtain licenses for promoters,
medical clearances and/or other permits or licenses for performers and/or permits for events in order for us to promote and conduct our live events. If we fail to
comply with the regulations of a particular jurisdiction, we may be prohibited from promoting and conducting our live events in that jurisdiction. The inability to
present our live events over an extended period of time, especially after the hiatus resulting from COVID-19, or in a number of jurisdictions could lead to a
decline in the various revenue streams generated from our live events, which could adversely affect our operating results.

Television and WWE Network Programming

The marketplace for audio-visual programming (including cable television and Internet programming) in the United States and internationally is
substantially affected by government regulations applicable to, as well as social and political influences on, television stations, television networks and cable and
satellite television systems and channels. Certain Federal Communications Commission (“FCC”) regulations are imposed directly on the Company and/or
indirectly through our distributors. Other domestic and foreign governmental and private-sector initiatives relating to video programming are announced from
time to time. In addition, the delivery of WWE Network in international markets exposes us to multiple regulatory frameworks, the complexity of which may
result in unintentional noncompliance. One of our weekly television programs, SmackDown, is distributed via broadcast television on the Fox Network, and we
are responsible, directly or indirectly, for compliance with certain additional FCC regulations and statutory requirements. Any failure by us to meet these
governmental policies or regulations and private-sector expectations could restrict our program content and, in the case of government regulation, result in
monetary liability. Such failure could also adversely affect our levels of viewership and/or number of WWE Network subscribers. Any of these could affect our
operating results.
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Available Information

Copies of our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and any amendments to those reports, are
available free of charge on our website at http://corporate.wwe.com as soon as reasonably practicable after such reports are filed with or furnished to the
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Our reports are also available free of charge on the SEC’s website, http://www.sec.gov. None of the information
on any of our websites is part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Our Corporate Governance Guidelines, Code of Business Conduct and charters of our Audit,
Compensation and our Governance and Nominating Committees are also available on our website. A copy of any of these documents will be mailed to any
stockholder without charge upon request to us at 1241 East Main Street, Stamford, CT 06902, Attn: Investor Relations Department.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

There are inherent risks and uncertainties associated with our business that could adversely affect our operating performance and financial condition. Set
forth below are descriptions of those risks and uncertainties that we currently believe to be material, but the risks and uncertainties described below are not the
only risks and uncertainties that could affect our business. See the discussion under “Cautionary Statement for Purposes of the ‘Safe Harbor’ Provisions of the
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 in Item 7, Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Risks Related to Our Industry and Business

The ongoing coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic may continue to negatively affect world economies as well as our industry, business and results of
operations.

The global spread of the coronavirus (COVID-19) and the various attempts to contain it have resulted in restrictions, postponements and cancellations of
various sports and other events and has and likely will continue to require us to cancel, postpone or relocate certain of our live events. We do not expect insurance
to cover a significant portion, if any, of this lost business. The pandemic has also continued to create significant volatility, uncertainty and economic disruption,
the full extent of which will depend on numerous evolving factors that we can neither predict nor control including the pandemic’s duration and severity and the
governmental, business and individual responses to it. As a result, we have been required to alter certain aspects of our operations beyond our live events. We are
unable to predict when our fans will return to live events, even when the pandemic risks and restrictions have lessened. We have also taken measures to protect
the health and well-being of our employees and our talent and other vendors. Our workforce has spent a significant amount of time working from home. Travel
has been severely curtailed. We have greatly increased our cleaning and health check protocols, which increase related expenditures. We also implemented certain
cash conserving measures, which were or have been in effect for various time periods, including pausing our stock repurchase program and certain capital
expenditures; containing employment costs through salary reductions and furloughs; containing certain third party vendor costs; and drawing under our revolving
credit facility, which has since been repaid.

We believe our partners’ operations have also been affected including, without limitation, in their sales of advertising. If economic disruption becomes
severe as a result of the pandemic, we could see supply constraints and/or a negative impact on our customers’ demand, or ability to pay (including an impact on
the collectability of our accounts receivable), for our goods and services. We will continue actively to monitor the issues raised by the COVID-19 pandemic and
may take further actions that alter our business operations as required by applicable governmental authorities and/or that we determine to be in the best interests
of our employees, talent, customers, partners and stockholders. There can be no assurance that we will be entirely successful in these endeavors, which could
result in inadvertent noncompliance with applicable law. The COVID-19 pandemic also could result in heightened litigation risks relating to personal injury or
death and/or increased levels of commercial litigation. Any of the foregoing could have a material negative effect on our business and results of operations.

Our failure to maintain or renew key agreements could adversely affect our ability to distribute our media content, WWE Network, our films
and/or other of our goods and services, which could adversely affect our operating results.

Our media content is distributed by cable, satellite and broadcast television networks and digital platforms around the globe. We recently announced that
WWE Network will be distributed exclusively via Peacock in the domestic market. As detailed below, we have depended on and, in international markets will
continue to depend on, third parties for many aspects of the operation and distribution of WWE Network. Our films are generally also distributed by other, more
established film companies. Because a large portion of our revenues are generated, directly and indirectly, from this distribution, any failure to maintain (such as
due to a breach or alleged breach by either party) or renew arrangements with distributors and platforms, the failure of distributors or platforms to continue to
provide services to us or the failure to enter into new distribution opportunities on terms favorable to us could adversely affect our financial outlook, liquidity,
business and operating results. We regularly engage in negotiations relating to substantial agreements covering the distribution of our media content by carriers
located in the United States and abroad. We have substantial relationships with NBCU, which carries RAW and NXT through its cable networks, and will soon
carry WWE Network via Peacock, and Fox Network, which carries SmackDown. We also have an important partnership with the General Entertainment
Authority of the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.
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These relationships are expected to continue to constitute a significant percentage of our revenues. Many of our other goods and services, such as our toys, video
games and home video offerings are manufactured and sold by other parties under licenses of our intellectual property or distribution agreements. Our inability
for any of the reasons set forth in these Risk Factors to enter into, maintain and/or renew or replace, as the case may be, these agreements on terms favorable to us
could adversely affect our financial outlook, liquidity, business and/or operating results.

Our failure to compete effectively in a rapidly evolving media landscape could adversely affect our operating results.

The manner in which audio/media content is distributed and viewed is constantly changing, and consumers have increasing options to access entertainment
video. Changes in technology require Company resources including personnel, capital and operating expenses. Conversely, technology changes have also
decreased the cost of video production and distribution for certain programmers (such as through social media), which lowers the barriers to entry and increases
the competition for viewership and revenues. While we attempt to distribute our programming across all platforms, our failure to continue to do so effectively
(including, for example only, our emphasizing a distribution platform that in time lessens in importance or becomes obsolete or our loss of, or other inability to
procure, carriage on an important platform) could adversely affect our operating results. If other providers of video programming address the changes in
consumer viewing habits in a manner that is better able to meet content distributor and consumer needs and expectations, our business could be adversely
affected. The number of subscribers and ratings of television networks and advertising revenues in general have been reported as being impacted by viewers
moving to alternative media content providers, a process known as “cord cutting” and “cord shaving”. Many well-funded digital companies have been competing
with the traditional television business model and, while it has been widely reported that they are paying significant amounts for media content, it is not clear that
these digital distributors will replace the importance (in terms of money paid for content, viewer penetration and other factors) of television distribution to media
content owners such as WWE. Our media partners’ businesses are affected by their sale of advertising and subscriptions for their services. If they are unable to
sell advertising and/or subscriptions either with regard to WWE programming specifically (such as, by way of example and without limitation, due to a decline in
the popularity of our programming and/or brand) or all of their programing generally, it could adversely affect our operating results.

The Company spends substantial amounts to produce content, build infrastructure and market WWE Network. If, for any number of reasons, we
are unable to continue to develop and monetize this content successfully, it could have a material adverse effect on our operating results.

Need to Attract, Retain and Replace Fans. We believe that WWE has a passionate fan base. However, the markets for entertainment video are intensely
competitive and include many subscription, transactional and ad-supported models and vast amounts of pirated materials, all of which capture segments of the
entertainment video market. These markets have and are expected to continue to be subject to rapid changes, and new technologies and evolving business models
are developing at a fast pace. The Company expects this competition to continue to grow and the markets to continue to transform. Many players that have
entered this space have vastly greater financial and marketing resources than the Company as well as longer operating histories, large customer bases and strong
brand recognition. These competitors may secure better terms from suppliers, aggressively price their offerings and devote more technology and marketing
resources. Certain of these competitors have begun to bundle digital networks. Other competitors for viewers of media content include broadcast, cable and
satellite television, many of which have so-called “TV everywhere”, stand-alone streaming and/or “on demand” content, online movie and television content
providers (both legal such as iTunes and illegal (pirated)), and ad-supported services such as YouTube. In non-pandemic times, viewers also commit viewing
dollars to theatrical films, live events or other leisure activities. As previously disclosed, in domestic markets, WWE Network will be carried exclusively as a part
of Peacock. Our ability to attract and retain fans for WWE Network internationally (and for Peacock) will depend in part on our ability to provide consistent high-
quality content and a high level of service that is perceived as a good value for the consumer’s entertainment dollars in the face of this intense competition. Our
failure to do so could adversely affect our business and operating results.

Significant Ongoing Costs. WWE Network has and will continue to require significant capital expenditures, content cost and operating costs. We also
intend to continue spending significant amounts on marketing. Any and all such capital and operating costs, if not more than offset by revenues from WWE
Network, could have a material adverse effect on our business and operating results.

Reliance on Partners to Offer our Content. Fans have the ability to receive streaming WWE content through their PCs, Macs and other Internet-connected
devices, including game consoles and mobile devices, such as tablets and mobile phones as well as smart televisions and Blu-Ray players. We intend to continue
to offer WWE Network in international markets through available platforms and partners. As a result, we rely on outside partners to develop, supply and maintain
technology and infrastructure necessary to deliver our content and interact with the user. If we or Peacock are not successful in maintaining, renewing and/or
replacing this technology or if we or Peacock are not successful in entering into and maintaining relationships with platform providers, if we or our partners
(including Peacock) encounter technological, licensing or other impediments to streaming our content, or if viewers either upgrade existing platforms or migrate
to new platforms in such a way that we or our partners (including Peacock) do not or cannot deliver through the new or upgraded platform, our ability to reach
our fans and monetize our content successfully could be adversely impacted. Certain platforms, such as Amazon and Apple, offer their owned or licensed content
and, therefore, may be disincentivized to promote and deliver our content at the same level as provided for their content.
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Possible Disruption of Systems Utilized in Our Operations. Our reputation and ability to attract, retain and serve our fans will depend on the reliable
performance of computer and information systems and other technologies, including technology systems used in connection with the production and distribution
of our programming and those of third-parties (including Peacock) with whom we partner in our operations. Interruptions in these systems, or with the Internet in
general whether due to fault by any party or due to weather, natural disasters, terrorist attacks, power loss or other force majeure type events, could make our
content unavailable or degraded. These service disruptions or failures could be prolonged. Delivery of video programming over the Internet is done through a
series of carriers with switch-overs between carriers, and any point of failure in this distribution chain would cause a disruption or degradation of our signal.
Service disruption or degradation for any of the foregoing reasons could diminish the overall attractiveness of our content. We do not carry insurance that would
cover us in the event of many types of business interruption that could occur.

Our servers and those of third parties used in the distribution of WWE Network/Peacock may be vulnerable to cybersecurity attacks, computer viruses
(including worms, malware, ransomware and other destructive or disruptive software or denial of service attacks), physical or electronic break-ins and similar
disruptions and could experience directed attacks intended to lead to interruptions and delays in our service and operations as well as loss, misuse, theft or release
of proprietary, confidential, sensitive or otherwise valuable Company or subscriber data or information. Such a cybersecurity attack, virus, break-in, disruption or
attack could remain undetected for an extended period, could harm our business, financial condition or results of operations, be expensive to remedy, expose us to
litigation and/or damage our reputation. Our insurance may not cover expenses related to such disruptions or unauthorized access fully or at all.

Because the techniques used to obtain unauthorized access to, or disable, degrade or sabotage, these systems and servers change frequently and often are
not recognized until launched against a target, we and Peacock and the third parties used in distribution of our content may be unable to anticipate these
techniques, implement adequate preventative measures or remediate any intrusion on a timely or effective basis. Moreover, the development and maintenance of
these preventative and detective measures is costly and requires ongoing monitoring and updating as technologies change and efforts to overcome security
measures become more sophisticated. Despite the efforts of Peacock, WWE and/or third parties, the possibility of these events occurring cannot be eliminated.

Impact of Government Regulations. The adoption or modification of laws and regulations relating to the Internet or other areas of our business could limit
or otherwise adversely affect the manner in which we conduct our business. The growth and development of the market for online commerce has led to more
stringent consumer protection laws, including privacy laws such as the European Union General Data Protection Regulation (“GDPR”) and the California
Consumer Privacy Act (“CCPA”), imposing additional burdens on us. We may be required to comply with new regulations or legislation or new interpretations of
existing regulations or legislation. This compliance could cause us to incur significant additional expense or alter our business model or could result in substantial
fines, civil liability and/or harm to reputation for noncompliance. In addition, the delivery of WWE Network in international markets exposes us to multiple
regulatory frameworks and societal norms, the complexity of which may result in unintentional noncompliance which could adversely affect our business and
operating results.

The adoption of any laws or regulations that adversely affect the growth, popularity or use of the Internet to access our programming, including laws
and/or court decisions that have the effect of limiting Internet neutrality, could limit the demand for our content via Peacock. The FCC had adopted an “Open
Internet” Report and Order and accompanying rules, which addressed various practices of broadband Internet access providers. Those rules, in substantial part,
were reversed by the FCC “Restoring Internet Freedom” Declaratory Ruling, Report and Order released in 2018, and replaced by what the FCC refers to as a
“light-touch regulatory framework,” including modified customer transparency requirements. Petitions for review of the FCC’s rulings were filed by multiple
parties. In October 2019, the United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia (“D.C. Circuit”) largely affirmed the FCC’s 2018 Restoring Internet
Freedom decision, though reversed the blanket preemption adopted by the FCC of state and local requirements that are inconsistent with FCC’s deregulatory
approach and remanded to the FCC to further consider three discrete issues. The FCC concluded in an order on remand that there was no basis to alter its
conclusions in the Restoring Internet Freedom Order. To the extent that network operators engage in discriminatory practices, our business could be adversely
impacted. As we expand internationally, government regulation concerning the Internet, and in particular, net neutrality, may be nascent or non-existent. Within
such a regulatory environment, due to the political and economic power of local network operators, who may have interests that do not align with ours, we could
experience discriminatory or anti-competitive practices that could impede our growth, cause us to incur additional expense or otherwise negatively affect our
business.

Risks Relating to the Internet. We rely on the ability of our fans to access our content through the Internet. Any point of failure within the Internet
infrastructure, whether caused by network hackers, force majeure type events or otherwise, could have a significant adverse effect. In addition, devices for
accessing our content are manufactured and sold by entities other than the Company, and any transmission issues through these devices may result in consumer
dissatisfaction with our content and adversely affect our business. Technology changes may require that platforms and/or subscribers update their devices and any
failure to do so, or the failure of us or our distribution partners (including Peacock) to perform adequately through these updated devices could negatively affect
our fans’ enjoyment of our programming which would negatively affect our business. To the extent, in international markets, that network operators implement
usage based pricing, including meaningful bandwidth caps, or otherwise try to monetize access to their networks
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by data providers (such as through tiered access or pricing), due to the heavy bandwidth use of audio/visual content, we could incur greater operating expenses
and our business could be negatively impacted.

We Are Subject to Intellectual Property Risks. From time to time, third parties allege that we have violated their intellectual property rights. If we and/or
our partners (including Peacock) are unable to obtain sufficient rights, successfully defend the use, or otherwise alter business practices in a timely manner in
response to claims for infringement, misappropriation, misuse or other violation of third-party intellectual property rights, our business could be adversely
affected. Many companies devote significant resources on patents relating to various aspects of streaming services. For example, there are numerous patents that
broadly claim means and methods of conducting business on the Internet and we and/or our service providers have from time to time been named in lawsuits and
other claims alleging violations of patents in connection with various aspects of our business. Defending against intellectual property claims, whether they are
with or without merit, can result in costly litigation and diversion of personnel. These types of claims could result in our inability to use technology and could
significantly impact the monetization of our content.

International Offerings. We have made WWE Network available in international markets other than embargoed countries. International markets entail
greater infrastructure and differing legal and regulatory environments. Other risks relating to foreign operations could include difficulties and costs associated
with staffing and managing foreign operations, management distraction, new and different sources of competition, compliance with U.S. and international laws
relating, among other things, to bribery, less favorable foreign intellectual property laws, laws relating to repatriation of funds, lower levels of Internet
availability, complexity of VAT and other local tax laws, and data protection (including the GDPR), consumer protection, censorship, licensing and other
regulatory matters. If we are not able to manage the growing complexity of our international operations, our business could be adversely affected.

Our failure to continue to build and maintain our brand of entertainment could adversely affect our operating results.

We must continue to build and maintain our strong brand identity to attract and retain fans who have a number of entertainment choices. The creation,
marketing and distribution of live events, programming and films that our fans value and enjoy is at the core of our business. The production of compelling live,
televised, streamed and film content is critical to our ability to generate revenues across our media platforms and product outlets. Also important are effective
consumer communications, such as marketing, customer service and public relations. The role of social media by fans and by us is an important factor in our
brand perception. If our efforts to create compelling services and goods and/or otherwise promote and maintain our brand, services and merchandise are not
successful, our ability to attract and retain fans may be adversely affected. Such a result would likely lead to a decline in our television ratings, attendance at our
live events post-pandemic, and/or otherwise impact our sales of goods and services, which would adversely affect our operating results.

Our failure to retain or continue to recruit key performers could lead to a decline in the appeal of our storylines and the popularity of our brand
of entertainment, which could adversely affect our operating results.

Our success depends, in large part, upon our ability to recruit, train and retain athletic performers who have the physical presence, acting ability and
charisma to portray characters in our live events, programming and films. We cannot guarantee that we will be able to continue to identify and train these
performers. Additionally, throughout our history, performers from time to time have stopped working for us for any number of reasons, and we cannot guarantee
that we will be able to retain our current performers either during the terms of their contracts or when their contracts expire. Our failure to attract and retain key
performers, an increase in the costs required to attract and retain such performers, or a serious or untimely injury to, or the death of, or unexpected or premature
loss or retirement for any reason of, any of our key performers could lead to a decline in the appeal of our storylines and the popularity of our brand of
entertainment. Scheduling conflicts for talent services may also affect certain productions. Any of the foregoing issues could adversely affect our operating
results.

A decline in the popularity of our brand of sports entertainment, including as a result of changes in the social and political climate, could
adversely affect our business.

Our operations are affected by consumer tastes and entertainment trends, which are unpredictable and subject to change and may be affected by changes in
the social and political climate. Our programming is created to evoke a passionate response from our fans. Changes in our fans’ tastes or a material change in the
perceptions of our business partners, including our distributors, sponsors and licensees, whether as a result of the social and political climate or otherwise, could
adversely affect our operating results.

The unexpected loss of the services of Vincent K. McMahon could adversely affect our ability to create popular characters and creative storylines
or could otherwise adversely affect our operating results.

In addition to serving as Chairman of our Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer, Mr. McMahon leads the creative team that develops the
storylines and the characters for our programming (including our television, WWE Network and other programming) and live events. The loss of Mr. McMahon
due to unexpected retirement, disability, death or other unexpected termination for any reason could have a material adverse effect on our ability to create popular
characters and creative storylines or could otherwise adversely affect our operating results.
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Changes in the regulatory atmosphere and related private sector initiatives could adversely affect our businesses.

Production of video programming by independent producers is generally not directly regulated by the federal or state governments in the United States.
SmackDown is on broadcast television on the Fox Network and we are responsible, directly or indirectly, for compliance with certain additional FCC regulations
and statutory requirements applicable to programming distributed over television broadcast stations. Any failure to remain in compliance with these requirements
could expose us to substantial costs and adverse publicity which could impact our operating results. Changes in FCC regulations, and the ongoing reallocation of
satellite spectrum for “5G” next generation wireless broadband use, could impact the availability of satellite transmission spectrum for video programming
distribution, which could increase the transmission costs of certain of our programming and/or affect transmission quality and reliability. The markets for
programming in the United States and internationally may be substantially affected by government regulations applicable to, as well as social and political
influences on, television stations and networks. We voluntarily designate the suitability of each of our television and WWE Network programs using standard
industry ratings. Domestic and foreign governmental and private-sector initiatives relating to the production and distribution of video programming are
announced from time to time. Compliance by our licensees of these initiatives and/or their noncompliance of governmental policies could restrict our program
distribution and adversely affect our levels of viewership, result in adverse publicity and/or otherwise impact our operating results.

The markets in which we operate are intensely competitive, rapidly changing and increasingly fragmented, and we may not be able to compete
effectively, especially against competitors with greater financial resources or marketplace presence, which could adversely affect our operating results.

We face competition for our audiences from professional and college sports, as well as other forms of live and televised, streamed and filmed
entertainment and other leisure activities in a rapidly changing and increasingly fragmented marketplace. For the sale of our consumer products, we compete with
entertainment companies, professional and college sports leagues and other makers of branded apparel and merchandise. Many of the companies with whom we
compete have substantially greater financial resources than we do. Other new and existing professional wrestling leagues also compete with our goods and
services. Our failure to compete effectively could result in a significant loss of viewers, subscribers, venues, distribution channels or performers and fewer
entertainment and advertising dollars spent on our form of sports entertainment, any of which could adversely affect our operating results.

We face uncertainties associated with international markets, which could adversely affect our operating results and impair our business strategy.

We are consistently negotiating and entering into new agreements and renewals and extensions of existing agreements for our products and services in
international markets. WWE Network is available in all international markets except where embargos preclude it. In 2018, WWE embarked on an important long-
term partnership with the General Entertainment Authority of the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia for, among other things, a series of live events in that region. We
periodically held talent tryouts overseas pre-pandemic and have a training facility in the United Kingdom. Cultural norms and regulatory frameworks vary in the
markets in which we operate and our products' nonconformance to local norms or applicable law, regulations or licensing requirements could interrupt our
operations or affect our sales, viewership and success in the markets. Our production of live events overseas in non-pandemic times subjects us to numerous risks
involved in foreign travel and operations and also subjects us to local norms and complex regulations (including visa obligations). In addition, these live events
and the licensing and/or sale of our goods and services in international markets expose us to some degree of currency risk. International operations may be subject
to political instability inherent in varying degrees in those markets, terrorism and wars. Other risks relating to foreign operations include difficulties and costs
associated with staffing and managing foreign operations, management distraction, new and different sources of competition, compliance with U.S. and
international laws relating to, among other things, bribery, less favorable foreign intellectual property laws, laws relating to repatriation of funds, lower levels of
Internet availability, complexity of VAT and other local tax laws, and data protection, consumer protection, censorship, licensing and other regulatory matters as
well as possible reputational risks. The GDPR applies to certain of our operations, and its provisions are far reaching. Noncompliance with GDPR could result in
significant fines, operational issues and/or harm to reputation. The United Kingdom’s withdrawal of its membership from the European Union (referred to as
“Brexit”) could complicate international matters including financial, legal, tax and trade implications. While we have committed significant financial and
personnel resources toward compliance, no assurances can be provided that our efforts will be entirely successful. These risks could adversely affect our
operating results and impair our ability to pursue our business strategy as it relates to international markets, which could adversely affect our business.

We may be prohibited from promoting and conducting our live events if we do not comply with applicable regulations, which could lead to a
decline in the various revenue streams generated from our live events, which could adversely affect our operating results.

In some United States and foreign jurisdictions, athletic commissions and other applicable regulatory agencies require us to obtain licenses for promoters,
medical clearances and/or other permits or licenses for performers and/or permits for events in order for us to promote and conduct our live events. Foreign
jurisdictions require visas for personnel and talent at international live events. In international markets, third party promoters generally oversee permitting and
regulatory matters. In the event that we fail to comply with
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the regulations of a particular jurisdiction, whether through our acts or omissions or those of our third-party promoters, we may be prohibited from promoting and
conducting our live events in that jurisdiction. In non-pandemic times, the inability to present our live events in jurisdiction(s), in addition to the lost revenues and
expenses of the missed event(s), could lead to a decline in various revenue streams in such jurisdiction(s), which could adversely affect our operating results.

Because we depend upon our intellectual property rights, our inability to protect those rights, or our infringement of others’ intellectual property
rights, could adversely affect our business.

Intellectual property is material to all aspects of our business. We have a large portfolio of registered and unregistered trademarks, service marks,
copyrighted material and characters, trade names and other intellectual property rights worldwide. We also own a large number of Internet website domain names
and operate a network of developed, content-based sites, which facilitate and contribute to the exploitation of our intellectual property worldwide. We expend
substantial cost and effort in an attempt to maintain and protect this intellectual property and to maintain compliance with other parties’ intellectual property. Our
failure to curtail piracy, infringement or other unauthorized use of our intellectual property rights effectively, or our infringement of others’ intellectual property
rights, could result in litigation, damage our brand or adversely affect our relationships with the companies that distribute our goods and services, any of which
could adversely affect our business, financial condition and operating results.

Our distribution mechanisms for our goods and services are increasingly complex across various distribution platforms, various geographical
areas and timing windows.

Our inadvertent grant of inconsistent rights to our intellectual property, goods and/or services or allegations of such inconsistent grants could result in
claims of breach of our distribution agreements or licenses and/or result in litigation which could adversely impact our operations.

We could incur substantial liability relating to accidents or injuries (or insurance relating thereto) arising out of our physically demanding events.

We hold numerous live events each year. This schedule exposes our performers and our employees who are involved in the production of those events to
the risk of travel and performance-related accidents, the consequences of which are not fully covered by insurance. The physical nature of our events exposes our
performers to the risk of serious injury or death. Although our performers, as independent contractors, are responsible for maintaining their own health, disability
and life insurance, we self-insure medical costs for our performers for injuries that they incur while training and performing. We self-insure a substantial portion
of any other liability that we could incur relating to such injuries. In certain states, notably California and New York, legislative changes have been enacted or are
contemplated that draw into question our ability to treat our talent as independent contractors in those states. The impact to the Company of these initiatives is
unknown. If ultimately required, worker’s compensation insurance for our talent or other aspects of their treatment as employees in those states could add
expense to, or otherwise alter, our operations, which could affect our business, financial condition and/or results of operations. Liability to us resulting from any
death or serious injury sustained by one of our performers while performing, to the extent not covered by our insurance, could adversely affect our business,
financial condition and operating results. As noted below, we are the defendant in litigation claiming that performers sustained significant injuries while
performing for the Company including, but not limited to, traumatic brain injuries.

Our live events entail other risks inherent in public live events, which could lead to disruptions of our business as well as liability to other parties,
any of which could adversely affect our financial condition or results of operations.

We hold numerous large live events each year, both domestically and internationally. Certain risks are inherent in events of the type we perform as well as
the travel to and from them, and we are required to expend substantial resources on safety matters such as security. Risks of travel and large live events include air
and land travel interruption or accidents, the spread of infectious disease or other illness, injuries resulting from building problems, pyrotechnics or other
equipment malfunction, terrorism or other violence, local labor strikes and other force majeure type events. These issues could result in personal injuries or
deaths, canceled events and other disruptions to our business for which our business interruption insurance may be insufficient or nonexistent. Any of these
occurrences also could result in liability to other parties for which we may not have insurance. Any of these risks could adversely affect our business, financial
condition and/or results of operations.

We continue to face certain risks relating to our feature film business, which could result in higher production costs and asset impairment
charges, adversely affecting our financial condition or our results of operations.

We have substantial capitalized film costs. The accounting for our film business in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles entails
significant judgment to develop estimates of expected future revenues from films. If expected revenue from one or more of our films does not materialize because
audience demand does not meet expectations, our estimated revenues may not be sufficient to recoup our investment in the film. If actual revenues are lower than
our estimated revenues or if costs are higher than expected, we are required to record an impairment charge and write down the capitalized costs of the film. No
assurance can be given that we will not record impairment charges in any periods. In addition, capitalized film costs are reflected net of certain production tax
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incentives granted by various governmental authorities. Our ability to realize these credits may be limited by changes in the laws and regulations relating to the
incentives and/or the economic environment. The inability to realize these credits would have the effect of increasing our overall production costs.

‘We could face a variety of risks if we expand into other new and complementary businesses and/or make certain investments or acquisitions.

We have entered into new or complementary businesses and made equity and debt investments in other companies in the past and plan to continue to do so
in the future. We may also enter into business combination transactions, make acquisitions or enter into strategic partnerships, joint ventures or alliances. As
previously noted, we recently entered into a multi-year agreement with Peacock pursuant to which WWE Network will become a part of Peacock on an exclusive
basis domestically. Risks of this expansion and/or these investments and transactions may include, among other risks: unanticipated liabilities or contingencies
including counter-party risks such as inadvertent breaches or collection difficulties; potential diversion of management’s attention and other resources, including
available cash, from our existing businesses; loss on investments due to poor performance by the business invested in; inability to integrate a new business
successfully; revaluations of debt and equity investments as well as market, credit and interest-rate risks (any of which could result in impairment charges and
other costs); competition from other companies with more experience in such businesses; and possible additional regulatory requirements and compliance costs,
all of which could affect our business, financial condition and operating results.

We face various risks relating to our computer systems and online operations, which could have a negative impact on our financial condition or
our results of operations.

The Company faces the risk of a security breach or disruption, whether through external cyber intrusion or from persons with access to systems inside our
organization. The Company commits significant personnel and financial resources to maintain the security of its computer systems, including implementing
various measures to monitor and manage the risk of a security breach or disruption, and to plan for the mitigation of losses if such breach or disruption were to
occur. There can be no assurance that these security efforts will be effective or that attempted security breaches or disruptions would not be successful or
damaging or that the Company would be promptly aware of them or able to mitigate damages from them, if any such breach or disruption were to occur. The
Company also utilizes third party service providers in several aspects of its operations, and these third parties are also subject to risks of security breach or
disruption. The Company is not able to assure the effectiveness of security among our service providers. The Company and certain of its third-party service
providers receive personal information through web services. This information is generally subject to the Company's privacy policies. Personal information
received by our service providers includes credit card information in certain instances. The Company expends significant effort to ensure compliance with its
privacy policy and to ensure that our service providers safeguard credit card information including contractually requiring those providers to remain compliant
with applicable PCI Data Security Standards. However, a significant security breach or other disruption involving the computer systems of the Company or one
or more of its service providers could disrupt the proper functioning of these systems and therefore the Company's operations (for which we likely will not carry
sufficient insurance); result in the unauthorized access to, and destruction, loss, theft, misappropriation or release of proprietary, confidential, sensitive or
otherwise valuable information; require significant management attention and resources to remedy the damages that could result (if, in fact, they can be
remedied), and subject the Company to litigation or damage to its reputation. The GDPR, CCPA and/or similar laws passed in the future, may enhance this risk.
Any or all of these could have a negative impact on our financial condition or results of operations.

Our businesses entail certain risks relating to privacy norms and regulations.

We and our business partners collect certain data supplied by our fans. We utilize this data in various ways including our marketing efforts. We face
complex legal obligations domestically and internationally regarding the manner in which we treat and use such information, including, without limitation, the
GDPR and CCPA. These legal obligations carry substantial monetary penalties if breached. Unintentional noncompliance by us or our partners of these
regulations could have an adverse effect on our business. If we were to disclose or use data about our fans in a manner that is objectionable to them or is contrary
to applicable law, our business reputation could be adversely affected and it could result in litigation, either or both of which could impact our operating results.

Our accounts receivable relate principally to a limited number of distributors, licensees, and other partners increasing our exposure to bad debts
and counter-party risk which could potentially have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.

Substantial portions of our accounts receivable are from distributors of our programming; hosts/promoters of our live events (pre-pandemic); and licensees
who produce consumer products containing our intellectual property. The concentration of our accounts receivable across a limited number of parties subjects us
to individual counter-party and credit risk as these parties may breach our agreement, claim that we have breached the agreement, become insolvent and/or
declare bankruptcy, delaying or reducing our collection of receivables or rendering collection impossible altogether. Certain of the parties are located overseas
which may make collection efforts more difficult (including due to increased legal uncertainty) and, at times, collections may be economically unfeasible.
Adverse changes in general economic conditions and/or contraction in global credit markets could precipitate liquidity problems among our
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debtors. This could increase our exposure to losses from bad debts and have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

Risks relating to our new leased space.

The Company has signed a lease for space in downtown Stamford, Connecticut, in which it plans to house substantially all our operations, including our
corporate headquarters and media production facilities. The scope of this project has changed somewhat, and the move is now expected to begin in late 2022. The
buildout of this space will involve substantial capital expenditure, and it could take longer, and cost more, than currently expected. Significant delays and/or cost
overruns would result in higher expenditures and could be disruptive of operations, any of which could have a negative impact on the Company’s financial
condition or results of operations. Moreover, it is possible that, once built, the space may prove to be less conducive to the Company’s operations than is currently
anticipated, resulting in operational inefficiencies or similar difficulties that could prove difficult or impossible to remediate and result in an adverse impact on the
Company’s financial condition or results of operations.

We could incur substantial liabilities if litigation is resolved unfavorably.

The Company has been named as a defendant in lawsuits alleging, among other things, that the Company ignored, downplayed, and/or failed to disclose
the risks associated with traumatic brain injuries allegedly suffered by WWE’s performers. One such suit also alleges that the Company misclassified its talent as
independent contractors rather than employees. The Company strongly disputes the merit of this type of case and moved to dismiss the lawsuits. These lawsuits
have all been dismissed by the trial court. Plaintiffs have attempted to appeal these dismissals. If any of these dismissals are reversed on appeal, the Company
plans to continue to defend itself vigorously (including, if necessary, opposing class certification in the two cases filed as putative class actions). In the ordinary
course of business, we become subject to various other complaints and litigation matters.

By its nature, the outcome of litigation is difficult to assess and quantify, and its continuing defense is costly. Any adverse judgment or settlement could
have a material adverse impact on our financial condition or results of operations.

Risks Related to Markets Generally

A decline in general economic conditions or disruption of financial markets may, among other things, reduce the discretionary income of
consumers or erode advertising markets, which could adversely affect our business.

Our operations are affected by general economic conditions, including consumers’ disposable income, which has a direct material impact on the demand
for entertainment and leisure activities. Declines in general economic conditions could reduce the level of discretionary income that our fans and potential fans
have to spend on our live events, programming, films and consumer products, which could adversely affect our revenues. Volatility and disruption of financial
markets could limit the ability of our sponsors, licensees and distributors to obtain adequate financing to maintain operations and result in a decrease in sales
volume that could have a negative impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Our television partners derive revenues from the sale of
advertising. We also sell advertising directly on our website and, depending upon the distribution methods used to monetize additional content, we may have
additional advertising to sell. We sell sponsorship packages to our live events and certain other of our services, and we will continue to participate in such
sponsorship sales with Peacock on its platforms. Continued softness in the advertising markets due to a weak economic environment, the COVID-19 pandemic or
otherwise, could adversely affect our revenues or the financial viability of our distributors.

Risks Related to Our Indebtedness

Servicing our debt may require a significant amount of cash, and we could have insufficient cash flow from operations or lack of access to sources
of financing to meet these obligations and/or our other liquidity needs.

Our total consolidated debt, including the $215.0 million aggregate principal amount of 3.375% convertible senior notes due 2023 (the "Convertible
Notes"), is significant. We also have availability under our $200.0 million revolving credit facility (the "Revolving Credit Facility"). Through certain of our
subsidiaries, the Company also has in place a real estate mortgage in the principal amount of $22.1 million secured by the related real estate (the “Asset-Backed
Facilities”).

We believe we have sufficient liquidity for at least the next twelve months for our needs (including the payment of our dividend). However, our ability to
make scheduled principal and interest payments on the Convertible Notes and under the Revolving Credit Facility, the Asset-Backed Facilities and any other
indebtedness that may be outstanding at the time will depend on our future performance, which is subject to economic, financial, competitive and other factors
beyond our control, including the items described elsewhere in these Risk Factors. It is possible our business may not continue to generate cash flow from
operations in the future sufficient to service our debt and provide for all our other uses of cash including capital and operating expenditures and paying our
dividend. If we are unable to generate sufficient cash flow, we could be required to adopt one or more alternatives which, assuming they are, in fact, available,
could be onerous, dilutive or otherwise affect our operations and/or the market price of our Common Stock. Such alternatives
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could include, for example, substantially reducing our cost structure, selling assets, reducing or eliminating our dividend, and/or obtaining additional debt or
equity financing. We may not be able to engage in any of these activities on desirable terms or at all due to our then existing financial condition, market
conditions, regulatory matters or contractual obligations (including, for example, any restrictions under our Revolving Credit Facility or other credit agreement or
debt instruments that may exist at that time). Any failure to make a required payment under our indebtedness may constitute a default under that indebtedness and
under other indebtedness due to cross-default provisions and could trigger acceleration clauses causing the obligations to become immediately due and payable.
The occurrence of one or more of these risks could materially and adversely affect our financial condition and operating results.

The accounting method for convertible debt securities that may be settled in cash, such as the Convertible Notes, could have a material effect on
our reported financial results.

Under ASC 470-20, Debt with Conversion and Other Options, an entity must separately account for the liability and equity components of the convertible
debt instruments (such as the Convertible Notes) that may be settled entirely or partially in cash upon conversion in a manner that reflects the issuer’s economic
interest cost. The effect of ASC 470-20 on the accounting for the Convertible Notes is that the equity component is required to be included in the additional paid-
in capital section of stockholders’ equity on our Consolidated Balance Sheets, and the value of the equity component would be treated as original issue discount
for purposes of accounting for the debt component of the Convertible Notes. As a result, we will be required to record a greater amount of non-cash interest
expense in current periods presented as a result of the amortization of the discounted carrying value of the Convertible Notes to their face amount over the term of
the Convertible Notes. We will report lower net income in our financial results because ASC 470-20 will require interest to include both the current period’s
amortization of the debt discount and the instrument’s coupon interest, which could adversely affect our reported or future financial results, the trading price of
our common stock and the trading price of the Convertible Notes.

In addition, under certain circumstances, convertible debt instruments (such as the Convertible Notes) that may be settled entirely or partly in cash are
currently accounted for utilizing the treasury stock method, the effect of which is that the shares issuable upon conversion of the Convertible Notes are not
included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share except to the extent that the conversion value of the Convertible Notes exceeds their principal amount.
Under the treasury stock method, for diluted earnings per share purposes, the transaction is accounted for as if the number of shares of common stock that would
be necessary to settle such excess, if we elected to settle such excess in shares, are issued. We cannot be sure that the accounting standards in the future will
continue to permit the use of the treasury stock method. If we are unable to use the treasury stock method in accounting for the shares issuable upon conversion of
the Convertible Notes, then our diluted earnings per share would be adversely affected. Conversion of our Convertible Notes and the exercise of related Warrants
may cause economic dilution to our stockholders and dilution to our earnings per share.

Risks Related to Our Stock Ownership

Failure to meet market expectations for our financial performance could adversely affect the market price and volatility of our stock.

We believe that the price of our stock generally reflects certain market expectations for our future operating results. Any failure to meet or delay in meeting
these expectations, including as a result of any of the events, conditions and/or circumstances set forth in these Risk Factors could cause the market price of our
stock to decline significantly.

Through his beneficial ownership of a majority of our Class B common stock, Mr. McMahon can exercise control over our affairs, and his
interests may conflict with the holders of our Class A common stock.

We have Class A common stock and Class B common stock. The holders of Class A common stock generally have rights identical to holders of Class B
common stock, except that holders of Class A common stock are entitled to one vote per share, and holders of Class B common stock are entitled to ten votes per
share. Holders of both classes of common stock generally will vote together as a single class on all matters presented to stockholders for their vote or approval,
except as otherwise required by applicable Delaware law.

A substantial majority of the issued and outstanding shares of Class B common stock is owned beneficially by Vincent K. McMahon and, as a result, he
controls a majority of the voting power of our common stock and can effectively exercise control over our affairs. His interest could conflict with the holders of
our Class A common stock. McMahon’s voting control could discourage or preclude others from initiating potential mergers, takeovers or other change of control
transactions. As a result, the market price of our Class A common stock could decline.

Our dividend is affected by a number of factors and we cannot provide any guaranty that we will continue to repurchase shares of our common
stock pursuant to our share repurchase program.

Our Board of Directors regularly evaluates the Company’s Common Stock dividend policy and determines the dividend rate each quarter. The level of
dividends, if any, will continue to be influenced by many factors, including, among other things, our liquidity and historical and projected cash flow, our strategic
plan (including alternative uses of capital), our financial results and condition, contractual
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and legal restrictions on the payment of dividends (including under our revolving credit facility), general economic and competitive conditions and such other
factors as our Board of Directors may consider relevant from time to time. All of these factors are subject to the various contingencies listed in the other Risk
Factors included in this Form 10-K. We cannot assure our stockholders that dividends will be paid in the future, or that, if paid, dividends will be at the same
amount or with the same frequency as in the past. Any reduction in our dividend payments could have a negative effect on our stock price.

In February 2019, the Company announced a $500 million stock repurchase program pursuant to which we are authorized to repurchase shares of our
common stock at management’s discretion and subject to applicable laws. We have repurchased $83.4 million of common stock to date and all share repurchases
have been retired. This program is subject to the same risk factors as those influencing our dividend. The share repurchase program does not obligate us to
repurchase any set dollar amount or number of shares and may be modified, suspended, or terminated at any time, and it was suspended throughout 2020, largely
as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. Accordingly, no assurances can be provided as to when, if at all, the Company will resume repurchases or complete this
repurchase program at any specific time or at all. The continued suspension or termination of our share repurchase program could adversely affect the market
price of our common stock. Additionally, the existence of a share repurchase program could cause the market price of our common stock to be higher than it
would be in the absence of such a program. As a result, any repurchase program may not ultimately result in enhanced value to our stockholders and may not
prove to be the best use of our cash resources.

A substantial number of shares are eligible for sale by Mr. McMahon and members of his family or trusts established for their benefit, and the
sale of those shares could lower our stock price.

All of the issued and outstanding shares of Class B common stock are held by Vincent McMahon and other members of his family including certain trusts
set up for family members. Sales of substantial amounts of these shares, or the perception that such sales could occur, may lower the prevailing market price of
our Class A common stock. If any sales or transfers of Class B common stock are made to persons outside of the McMahon family, the shares automatically
convert into Class A common stock.

The market for our Class A common stock is volatile.

The price at which our common stock has traded has fluctuated significantly, especially in the past two years. The price may continue to be volatile due to
a number of factors beyond our direct control, including our operating results (especially where different from the expectations of securities analysts, investors
and the financial community), market volatility in general and short interest in our stock. Given the dynamic nature of our business and all other factors that limit
the predictability of the future, any of our forecasts, outlook or other forward-looking statements could differ materially from actual results which could cause a
decline in the trading price of our common stock.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
Item 2. Properties

Our headquarters are located in Stamford, Connecticut. During 2019, we entered into a long-term lease for a new global headquarters site in Stamford. We
expect to move into the new location in phases upon completion of leasehold improvements. We currently own our existing headquarters building, as well as two
nearby buildings in Stamford that support our television production operations. We also have leases in the Stamford and surrounding areas for additional
corporate office spaces and warehouse storage space. Upon completion of our move to the new global headquarters, we expect to sell our owned and operated
corporate facility, exit our leased spaces, and will evaluate options for our television production studio facilities based on strategic, operating and financial
considerations. In addition, we have leases for our Performance Centers located in Orlando, Florida and the United Kingdom, which are used for development
and training activities. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, we utilized our Orlando Performance Center for approximately nine months during 2020 to produce and
broadcast our weekly televised live events and our monthly pay-per-view events. We also have leases for various sales offices located domestically and
internationally. All of our facilities are utilized by our Media, Live Events and Consumer Products segments.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

Information with respect to this item may be found in Note 15, Commitments and Contingencies, to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 15,
which is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not Applicable.
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PART II
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Market Information and Holders of Each Class of Common Equity

Our Class A common stock trades on the New York Stock Exchange, under the symbol "WWE". Our Class B common stock is not listed on any exchange.

There were 6,818 holders of record of Class A common stock and three holders of record of Class B common stock on February 2, 2021. Vincent K.
McMahon, Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer, controls a substantial majority of the voting power of the issued and outstanding
shares of our common stock, and as a result, can effectively exercise control over our affairs.

Our Class B common stock is fully convertible into Class A common stock, on a one for one basis, at any time at the option of the holder. The two classes
are entitled to equal per share dividends and distributions and vote together as a class with each share of Class B entitled to ten votes and each share of Class A
entitled to one vote, except when separate class voting is required by applicable law. If, at any time, any shares of Class B common stock are beneficially owned
by any person other than Vincent McMahon, Linda McMahon, any descendant of either of them, any entity which is wholly owned and is controlled by any
combination of such persons or any trust, all the beneficiaries of which are any combination of such persons, each of those shares will automatically convert into
shares of Class A common stock.

Dividends

Our Board of Directors regularly evaluates the Company’s Common Stock dividend policy and determines the dividend rate each quarter. The level of
dividends will continue to be influenced by many factors, including, among other things, our liquidity and historical and projected cash flow, our strategic plan
(including alternative uses of capital), our financial results and condition, contractual and legal restrictions on the payment of dividends (including under our
Revolving Credit Facility), general economic and competitive conditions and such other factors as our Board of Directors may consider relevant from time to
time. We cannot assure our stockholders that dividends will be paid in the future, or that, if paid, dividends will be at the same amount or with the same frequency
as in the past. Any reduction in our dividend payments could have a negative effect on our stock price.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

The following table presents information with respect to purchases of common stock of the Company made during the three months ended December 31,
2020 pursuant to the Company’s authorized share repurchase program:

Total Number of
Shares Purchased  Maximum Dollar Value
as Part of Publicly that May Yet Be
Total Number of Average Price Paid Announced Purchased Under the
Period Shares Purchased Per Share Program Program M)
October 1, 2020 to October 31, 2020 — 3 — — 416,559,270
November 1, 2020 to November 30, 2020 $ — — 416,559,270
December 1, 2020 to December 31, 2020 — 3 — — 416,559,270
Total — — — 3 416,559,270

(1)  On February 7, 2019, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized a stock repurchase program of up to $500.0 million of our common stock. Repurchases
may be made from time to time at management’s discretion subject to certain pre-approved parameters and in accordance with all applicable securities and
other laws and regulations. The stock repurchase program does not obligate the Company to repurchase any minimum dollar amount or number of shares
and may be modified, suspended or discontinued at any time. All repurchased shares were subsequently retired.

18



Table of Contents

Cumulative Total Return Chart

Set forth below is a line graph comparing, for the period commencing December 31, 2015 and ended December 31, 2020, the cumulative total return on
our Class A common stock compared to the cumulative total return of the Russell 2000 Index and S&P Movies and Entertainment Index, a published industry
index. The graph assumes the investment of $100 at the close of trading as of December 31, 2015 in our Class A common stock, the Russell 2000 Index and the
S&P Movies and Entertainment Index and the reinvestment of all dividends.

Total Return Performance
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Index 12/31/15 12/31/16 12/31/17 12/31/18 12/31/19 12/31/20
World Wrestling Entertainment, Inc. 100.00 105.83 179.62 442 .48 386.70 289.73
Russell 2000 100.00 121.31 139.08 123.76 155.35 186.36
S&P Movies & Entertainment 100.00 108.57 112.25 111.37 139.99 194.70
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following selected consolidated financial data have been derived from our Consolidated Financial Statements. You should read the selected financial
data in conjunction with our Consolidated Financial Statements and related notes and the information set forth under “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” contained elsewhere in this report.

Financial Highlights: (in millions, except per share data)

For the year ended December 31,

2020 (1) 2019 2018 (2) 2017 (3) 2016
Net revenues $ 9742 $ 960.4 S 9302 $ 801.0 § 729.2
Operating income $ 2085 $ 116.5 § 1145  § 756 $ 55.6
Net income $ 131.8 $ 77.1 $ 99.6 $ 326 § 33.8
Earnings per share, basic $ 170 $ 099 $ 128 $ 043 $ 0.44
Earnings per share, diluted $ 1.56 § 085 § .12 $ 042 $ 0.44
Dividends declared per Class A share $ 048 $ 048 $ 048 $ 048 $ 0.48
Dividends declared per Class B share $ 048 § 048 § 048 § 048 § 0.48

As of December 31,

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments $ 5934 $ 2505 $ 3591 $ 2974 $ 267.1
Total assets $ 1,2973  $ 9922 $ 7003 $ 6145 $ 600.9
Total debt (4) $ 706.3 S 557.8 $ 2139 $ 2135  $ 202.7
Total stockholders’ equity $ 388.8 § 2753  § 3162 $ 2530 $ 239.7

(1)  Operating income includes $7.0 million of severance expenses associated with a reduction in our workforce as a result of COVID-19.
(2)  Operating income includes impairment charges on our content production assets of $4.9 million (See Note 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements).

(3)  Operating income includes $5.6 million of expenses related to non-recurring legal matters and other contractual obligations and impairment charges on our content
production assets of $5.5 million.

(4)  Total debt includes $389.5 and $343.4 million of finance lease obligations as of December 31, 2020 and 2019. Total debt also includes $194.7 million, $188.7 million,
$183.1 million and $177.9 million of convertible senior notes outstanding as of December 31, 2020, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

A discussion regarding our financial condition and results of operations for fiscal 2020 compared to fiscal 2019 is presented below. Discussions of fiscal
2019 items and year-to-year comparisons between fiscal 2019 and fiscal 2018 that are not included in this Form 10-K can be found under Item 7 of Part II of our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019, as filed with the SEC on February 7, 2020.

You should read the following discussion in conjunction with the audited Consolidated Financial Statements and related notes included elsewhere in this
report.

Our operations are organized around the following principal activities:

Media:

. The Media segment reflects the production and monetization of long-form and short-form video content across various platforms, including WWE
Network, broadcast and pay television, digital and social media, as well as filmed entertainment. Across these platforms, revenues principally consist
of content rights fees associated with the distribution of our programming content, subscriptions to WWE Network, and advertising and sponsorships.

Live Events:

. Live events provide ongoing content for our media platforms. Live Event segment revenues consist primarily of ticket sales, including primary and
secondary distribution, revenues from events for which we receive a fixed fee, as well as the sale of travel packages associated with the Company’s
global live events.

Consumer Products:

. The Consumer Products segment engages in the merchandising of WWE branded products, such as video games, toys and apparel, through licensing
arrangements and direct-to-consumer sales. Revenues principally consist of royalties and licensee fees related to WWE branded products, and sales of
merchandise distributed at our live events and through eCommerce platforms.

Results of Operations

The Company presents Adjusted OIBDA as the primary measure of segment profit (loss). The Company defines Adjusted OIBDA as operating income
before depreciation and amortization, excluding stock-based compensation, certain impairment charges and other non-recurring material items. Adjusted OIBDA
includes depreciation and amortization expenses directly related to supporting the operations of our segments, including content production asset amortization,
depreciation and amortization of costs related to content delivery and technology assets utilized for WWE Network, as well as amortization of right-of-use assets
related to finance leases of equipment used to produce and broadcast our live events. The Company believes the presentation of Adjusted OIBDA is relevant and
useful for investors because it allows investors to view our segment performance in the same manner as the primary method used by management to evaluate
segment performance and make decisions about allocating resources. Additionally, we believe that Adjusted OIBDA is a primary measure used by media
investors, analysts and peers for comparative purposes.

Adjusted OIBDA is a non-GAAP financial measure and may be different than similarly-titled non-GAAP financial measures used by other companies. A
limitation of Adjusted OIBDA is that it excludes depreciation and amortization, which represents the periodic charge for certain fixed assets and intangible assets
used in our business. Additionally, Adjusted OIBDA excludes stock-based compensation, a non-cash expense that may vary between periods with limited
correlation to underlying operating performance, as well as other non-recurring material items. Adjusted OIBDA should not be regarded as an alternative to
operating income or net income as an indicator of operating performance, or to the statement of cash flows as a measure of liquidity, nor should it be considered
in isolation or as a substitute for financial measures prepared in accordance with GAAP. We believe that operating income is the most directly comparable GAAP
financial measure to Adjusted OIBDA.

Unallocated corporate general and administrative expenses largely relate to corporate functions such as finance, legal, human resources, facilities and
information technology. These unallocated corporate general and administrative expenses will be shown, as applicable, as a reconciling item in tables where
segment and consolidated results are both shown.
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Summary

In December 2019, an outbreak of a new strain of coronavirus (“COVID-19”) began in Wuhan, Hubei Province, China. In March 2020, the World Health
Organization declared COVID-19 a pandemic. The COVID-19 pandemic has negatively impacted the global economy, disrupted global supply chains and created
significant volatility and disruption of financial markets. COVID-19 has resulted in restrictions, postponements and cancellations of various events, such as the
relocation of WrestleMania 36 and the cancellation of ticketed events due to public health concerns. The impact of COVID-19 to our 2020 results had a greater
impact on our live events and consumer products segments, which are highly dependent on ticket sales and purchases of merchandise by consumers at our live
events. Our Media segment was impacted to a lesser extent since a large portion of these revenues are derived from contractual rights fees from our domestic and
international distribution arrangements, as well as subscriber fees from WWE Network. We continue to deliver the weekly wrestling content associated with these
arrangements (e.g. RAW, SmackDown and NXT) without ticketed live audiences, and continue to provide programming on WWE Network. We will monitor the
developments of COVID-19 and actively manage our business to respond to the potential impacts. Additionally, please refer to Part I, Item 1A, Risk Factors,
which provides a discussion of risk factors related to COVID-19.

Year Ended December 31, 2020 compared to Year Ended December 31, 2019
(dollars in millions, except where noted)

The following tables present our consolidated results followed by our Adjusted OIBDA results:

Increase
2020 2019 (decrease)
Net revenues
Media $ 8682 § 743.1 17 %
Live Events 19.9 125.6 (84)%
Consumer Products 86.1 917 (6)%
Total net revenues (1) 974.2 960.4 1%
Operating expenses
Media 458.3 475.7 @)%
Live Events 339 103.1 (67)%
Consumer Products 57.3 59.4 4%
Total operating expenses (2) 549.5 638.2 (14)%
Marketing and selling expenses
Media 62.2 64.0 3)%
Live Events 5.1 14.8 (66)%
Consumer Products 4.0 5.9 32)%
Total marketing and selling expenses (3) 71.3 84.7 (16)%
General and administrative expenses (4) 102.2 86.9 18 %
Depreciation and amortization 42.6 34.1 25%
Operating income 208.6 116.5 79 %
Interest expense 35.6 26.1 36 %
Other income, net (1.9) 4.3 (144) %
Income before income taxes 171.1 94.7 81 %
Provision for income taxes 39.3 17.6 123%
Net income $ 131.8 § 77.1 71 %

(1)  Our consolidated net revenues increased by $13.8 million, or 1%, in 2020 as compared to 2019. This increase was driven by $189.7 million in incremental core content rights
fees revenues primarily associated with the October 2019 renewal of our key domestic distribution agreements of our flagship programs, Raw and SmackDown. This increase
was partially offset by $112.8 million of lower ticket and merchandise sales from our live events due to the cancellation of ticketed events, coupled with the absence of a
second large-scale international event, both due to public health concerns as a result of COVID-19. Additionally, $11.3 million of incremental ecommerce revenues driven by
increased orders were mostly offset by a reduction in revenues of $10.3 million driven by the timing of our reality-based programming. For further analysis, refer to
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of our business segments.

(2)  Our consolidated operating expenses decreased by $88.7 million, or 14%, in 2020 as compared to 2019. This decrease was primarily driven by $81.8 million of lower event
related and content creation costs due the cancellation of ticketed events and the absence of a second large-scale international event resulting from COVID-19. 2020 also
includes $9.7 million of lower production costs associated with the timing of our reality-based programming, $5.8 million of lower costs associated with the delivery of
content to WWE Network, and the impact of various short-term cost reductions that were implemented as a result of COVID-19. These declines were partially offset by an
increase of $10.8 million in management incentive compensation costs. For further analysis, refer to Management’s Discussion and Analysis of our business segments.
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(3)  Our consolidated marketing and selling expenses decreased by $13.4 million, or 16%, in 2020 as compared to 2019. This decrease was primarily driven by $5.7 million of
lower advertising and promotional costs due to the cancellation of ticketed events resulting from COVID-19, coupled with a decline of $2.4 million in management incentive
compensation costs. 2020 also includes the impact of various short-term cost reductions that were implemented as a result of COVID-19. For further analysis, refer to
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of our business segments.

(4)  Our consolidated general and administrative expenses increased by $15.3 million, or 18%, in 2020 as compared to 2019. This increase was primarily driven by $9.2 million
of additional staff related costs due, in part, to $7.0 million of severance expenses associated with the reduction in our workforce as a result of COVID-19, coupled with $3.7

million of higher legal expenses resulting from ongoing litigation. For further analysis, refer to Management’s Discussion and Analysis of our business segments.

2020 2019
Reconciliation of Operating Income to Adjusted OIBDA % of Rev % of Rev
Operating income $ 208.6 21%  § 116.5 12 %
Depreciation and amortization 42.6 4% 34.1 4%
Stock-based compensation 28.0 3% 29.4 3%
Other adjustments (1) 7.0 1% — — %
Adjusted OIBDA $ 286.2 29 % $ 180.0 19 %
(1) Other adjustments in 2020 include severance expenses associated with a reduction in our workforce as a result of COVID-19.
Increase
2020 2019 (decrease)
Adjusted OIBDA
Media 367.8 $ 224.1 64 %
Live Events (17.6) 9.4 287)%
Consumer Products 26.6 28.5 %
Corporate (90.6) (82.0) 10 %
Total Adjusted OIBDA 2862 $ 180.0 59 %
Media
The following tables present the performance results and key drivers for our Media segment:
Increase
2020 2019 (decrease)
Net Revenues
Network (including pay-per-view) 185.7 $ 184.6 1%
Core content rights fees (1) 538.3 348.6 54 %
Advertising and sponsorship 65.3 72.4 (10)%
Other (2) 78.9 137.5 (43)%
Total net revenues 8682 § 743.1 17 %
Operating Metrics
Number of paid WWE Network subscribers at period end 1,469,700 1,391,000 6 %
Domestic 1,080,900 997,300 8 %
International (3) 388,800 393,700 %
Number of average paid WWE Network subscribers 1,557,400 1,550,000 — %
Domestic 1,134,300 1,128,800 — %
423,100 421,200 — %

International (3)

(@) Core content rights fees consist primarily of licensing revenues earned from the distribution of our flagship programs, Raw and SmackDown, as well as our NXT'

programming, through global broadcast, pay television and digital platforms.

2) Other revenues within our Media segment reflect revenues earned from the distribution of other WWE content, including, but not limited to, certain live in-ring
programming content in international markets, scripted, reality and other programming, as well as theatrical and direct-to-home video releases.

3) Metrics reflect subscribers who are direct customers of WWE Network and estimated subscribers who subscribe to WWE Network under licensed partner agreements,

which have different economic terms for WWE Network.
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2020 2019
Reconciliation of Operating Income to Adjusted OIBDA % of Rev % of Rev
Operating income $ 3325 38 % $ 190.8 26 %
Depreciation and amortization 15.1 2% 12.6 2%
Stock-based compensation 20.2 2% 20.7 3%
Other adjustments — — % — — %
Adjusted OIBDA $ 367.8 2% 3 224.1 30 %

Media revenues increased by $125.1 million, or 17%, in 2020 as compared to 2019. Our core content rights fees increased by $189.7 million, or 54%,
driven primarily by the October 2019 renewal of our key domestic distribution agreements of our flagship programs, Raw and SmackDown. This increase was
partially offset by a decline in Other revenues of $58.6 million, or 43%, driven by the absence of a second large-scale international event due to COVID-19,
coupled with $10.3 million related to the timing of our reality-based programming. Media revenues also reflected lower sales of advertising and sponsorships of
$7.1 million, or 10%, primarily driven by fewer television sponsorships and talent appearances as a result of COVID-19.

Media Adjusted OIBDA as a percentage of revenues increased in 2020 as compared to 2019. This increase was driven by increased revenues of $189.7
million, primarily due to the renewals of our key domestic distribution agreements, partially offset by decreased revenues driven by the absence of a second large-
scale international event. Additionally, Media Adjusted OIBDA includes $13.9 million of lower content creation costs, primarily due to the absence of a second
large-scale international event, and $5.8 million of lower costs associated with the delivery of content to WWE Network, partially offset by and an increase of
$7.5 million in management incentive compensation costs.

Live Events

The following tables present the performance results and key drivers for our Live Events segment:

Increase
2020 2019 (decrease)
Net Revenues
North American ticket sales $ 152§ 93.8 (84)%
International ticket sales 0.2 19.0 (99)%
Advertising and sponsorship 0.4 2.1 (81) %
Other (1) 4.1 10.7 (62) %
Total net revenues $ 199 § 125.6 (84)%
Operating Metrics (2)
Total live event attendance 259,000 1,548,500 (83)%
Number of North American events 41 260 (84)%
Average North American attendance 6,320 5,090 24%
Average North American ticket price (dollars) $ 5346 $ 64.21 (17) %
Number of international events 1 50 (98)%
Average international attendance — 4,520 (100) %
Average international ticket price (dollars) $ — 3 81.18 (100)%

(1) Other revenues within our Live Events segment primarily consists of the sale of travel packages associated with the Company’s global live events and commissions earned
through secondary ticketing, as well as revenues from events for which the Company receives a fixed fee.

2) Metrics exclude the events for our domestic and United Kingdom NXT brands. These are our developmental brands that typically conduct their events in smaller venues
with lower ticket prices. We conducted 44 ticketed NXT events with paid attendance of 40,900 and average ticket prices of $37.36 in 2020 as compared to 203 events with
paid attendance of 156,500 and average ticket prices of $41.51 in 2019.
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2020 2019
Reconciliation of Operating (Loss) Income to Adjusted OIBDA % of Rev % of Rev
Operating (loss) income $ 19.1) 96)% $ 7.7 6 %
Depreciation and amortization — — % — — %
Stock-based compensation 1.5 8 % 1.7 1%
Other adjustments — — % — — %
Adjusted OIBDA $ (17.6) 88)% 94 7%

Live events revenues, which include revenues from ticket sales and travel packages, decreased by $105.7 million, or 84%, in 2020 as compared to 2019.
Revenues from our North American and international ticket sales decreased by $97.4 million, or 86%, due to the impact of 268 fewer events in the current year,
largely driven by the cancellation of ticketed events as a result of COVID-19. Other revenues declined by $6.6 million, or 62%, primarily driven by the absence
of sales from travel packages due to the aforementioned cancellation of events.

Live Events Adjusted OIBDA as a percentage of revenues decreased in 2020 as compared to 2019. This decrease was primarily driven by the impact of
fewer events as a result of COVID-19.

Consumer Products

The following tables present the performance results and key drivers for our Consumer Products segment:

Increase
2020 2019 (decrease)
Net Revenues
Consumer product licensing $ 417 S 432 3)%
eCommerce 41.2 29.9 38%
Venue merchandise 3.2 18.6 (83)%
Total net revenues $ 86.1 § 91.7 (6)%
Operating Metrics
Average eCommerce revenue per order (dollars) $ 5672 $ 47.36 20%
Number of eCommerce orders 722,300 619,700 17%
Venue merchandise domestic per capita spending (dollars) $ 1041  $ 10.00 4%
2020 2019
Reconciliation of Operating Income to Adjusted OIBDA % of Rev % of Rev
Operating income $ 24.8 29%  § 26.4 29 %
Depreciation and amortization — — % — — %
Stock-based compensation 1.8 2% 2.1 2%
Other adjustments — — % — — %
Adjusted OIBDA $ 26.6 31%  $ 28.5 31 %

Consumer Products revenues decreased by $5.6 million, or 6%, in 2020 as compared to 2019. Venue merchandise revenues decreased by $15.4 million, or
83%, primarily driven by the cancellation of ticketed events in the current year due to public health concerns as a result of COVID-19. This decline was partially
offset by increased eCommerce revenues of $11.3 million, or 38%, primarily due to a 17% increase in the volume of online merchandise orders, coupled with a
20% increase in average revenue per order, which was driven, in part, by the release of new replica title belts and changes in consumer spending habits as a result
of COVID-19.

Consumer Products Adjusted OIBDA as a percentage of revenues remained flat in 2020 as compared to 2019.

25



Table of Contents

Corporate

Unallocated corporate general and administrative expenses largely relate to corporate administrative functions, including finance, investor relations,
community relations, corporate communications, information technology, legal, human resources and our Board of Directors. The Company does not allocate

these general and administrative expenses to its business segments.

2020 2019
Reconciliation of Operating Loss to Adjusted OIBDA % of Rev % of Rev
Operating loss $ (129.6) 13)% $ (108.4) 11)%
Depreciation and amortization 27.5 3% 21.5 2%
Stock-based compensation 4.5 0 % 4.9 1 %
7.0 1 % — — %

Other adjustments (1)

Adjusted OIBDA $ (90.6) 9% S (82.0) 9%

@) Other adjustments in 2020 include severance expenses associated with a reduction in our workforce as a result of COVID-19. Our policy is to record Company-wide
severance expenses as unallocated corporate general and administrative expenses.

Corporate Adjusted OIBDA as a percentage of total revenues remained flat in 2020 as compared to 2019. The decrease in Corporate Adjusted OIBDA of
$8.6 million, or 10%, was primarily driven by $3.7 million of higher legal expenses resulting from ongoing litigation, coupled with $2.2 million of staff related

expenses primarily associated with increased medical benefit costs.

Depreciation and Amortization
(dollars in millions)

Increase
2020 2019 (decrease)
$ 42.6 $ 34.1 25 %

Depreciation and amortization

Depreciation and amortization expense increased by $8.5 million, or 25%, in 2020 as compared to 2019. This increase was primarily driven by additional
expenses of $5.9 million associated with the Company’s workplace strategy plan, which includes the amortization related to the right-of-use asset for the
Company’s new global headquarters lease. The remaining increase is attributable to the impact of other prior year capital expenditures.

Interest Expense
(dollars in millions)

Increase
2020 2019 (decrease)
$ 35.6 $ 26.1 36 %

Interest expense

Interest expense increased by $9.5 million in 2020 as compared to 2019, primarily driven by expense of $8.9 million associated with the Company’s new
global headquarters lease, which commenced on July 1, 2019 and is accounted for as a finance lease. The current year also includes $2.6 million associated with
the amount outstanding under the Company’s Revolving Credit Facility. The prior year included additional nonrecurring interest expense of $1.4 million related
to our Convertible Notes. The remaining portion of interest expense relates primarily to interest and amortization associated with our Convertible Notes, the

Revolving Credit Facility, other finance leases, mortgage and aircraft financing.

Other (Expense) Income, Net
(dollars in millions)

Increase
2020 2019 (decrease)
$ (1.9) $ 43 (144)%

Other (expense) income, net

Other (expense) income, net, which is comprised of interest income, gains and losses recorded on our equity investments, realized translation gains and
losses, and rental income, decreased by $6.2 million in 2020 as compared to 2019. This decrease is primarily driven by a $2.9 million reduction in interest
income, coupled with an incremental net loss of $2.4 million associated with impairment charges and valuation adjustments related to our equity investments.
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Income Taxes
(dollars in millions)

Increase
2020 2019 (decrease)
Provision for income taxes $ 39.3 $ 17.6 123 %

Effective tax rate 23 % 19 %

The increase in the effective tax rate in 2020 as compared to 2019 was primarily driven by a reduction in excess tax benefits relating to share-based
compensation. The current year includes $0.4 million of excess tax expenses related to the Company’s share-based compensation awards at vesting, as compared
to $9.4 million of excess tax benefits in the prior year. The tax expense and benefit are driven by the change in the Company’s stock price between when the
Company granted the awards and the subsequent vesting dates.

Discrete tax items, including the aforementioned excess tax expenses and benefits, resulted in a net tax benefit of $0.4 million in the current year as

compared to $7.9 million in the prior year. Excluding these items, our effective tax rate was 23% in the current year as compared to 27% in the prior year, which
was driven by an increase in foreign derived investment income deductions.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

We had cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments of $593.4 million and $250.5 million as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Our
short-term investments consist primarily of U.S. Treasury securities, corporate bonds, municipal bonds, and government agency bonds. Our debt balance totaled
$316.8 million and $214.4 million as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, and includes the carrying value of $194.7 and $188.7 million related to our
convertible senior notes due 2023 as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

The COVID-19 pandemic has negatively impacted the global economy, disrupted business operations and created significant volatility and disruption to
financial markets. Significant uncertainty remains as to the potential impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our operations, and on the global economy as a
whole. The extent and duration of the pandemic could continue to disrupt global markets and may affect our ability to generate cash from operations.
Additionally, please refer to Part I, Item 1A, Risk Factors, which provides a discussion of risk factors related to COVID-19.

In order to preserve sufficient liquidity during these uncertain times, the Company delayed construction on its new headquarters office space during 2020.
The Company did not make any repurchases of common stock under our approved $500.0 million share repurchase program, which was suspended throughout
2020, largely as a result of COVID-19. We may resume repurchases under this program, with any such repurchases being executed opportunistically, subject to
the Company’s business outlook and liquidity at such time as well as our determination that share repurchases compare favorably to other capital allocation
alternatives. To further strengthen the Company’s liquidity, as a precautionary measure, in April 2020, the Company borrowed $200.0 million under its Revolving
Credit Facility. In December 2020, the Company repaid $100.0 million of the borrowings, and in January 2021, the Company repaid the remaining $100.0
million. We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents and short-term investment balances, along with cash generated from operations and available
liquidity under our Revolving Credit Facility, will be sufficient to meet our ongoing operating requirements for at least the next twelve months, inclusive of
dividend payments, debt service, content production activities and planned capital expenditures.

We recently announced a multi-year agreement with Peacock TV LLC, an affiliate of NBC Universal (“NBCU”) which operates the Peacock paid
streaming service (‘“Peacock)”. This agreement grants, among other things, the exclusive domestic streaming and video-on-demand rights to WWE Network
content via Peacock, as well as certain WWE Network subscriber data. Beginning on March 18, 2021, the content licensed via Peacock will include WWE’s pay-
per-view content, second runs of our in-ring television programming, original and archival content, as well as new WWE Network content.

As it relates to our Convertible Notes (defined below), which pursuant to the terms are currently convertible, we believe that if note holders elected to
convert their notes within the next twelve months, the Company has sufficient means to settle the Convertible Notes using any combination of existing cash and
cash equivalents and investment balances, borrowings under our Revolving Credit Facility, cash generated from operations or through the issuance of shares.

Debt Summary and Borrowing Capacity

The Company has $215.0 million aggregate principal amount of 3.375% convertible senior notes (the "Convertible Notes") due December 15, 2023. See
Note 11, Convertible Debt, and Note 3, Earnings Per Share, in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further information on the Convertible Notes,
including the dilutive nature of the Convertible Notes.

In May 2019, the Company entered into an amended and restated $200.0 million senior unsecured revolving credit facility with a syndicated group of
banks, with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. acting as Administrative Agent (the "Revolving Credit Facility"). The Revolving Credit Facility has a maturity date of
May 24, 2024. In April 2020, to further strengthen liquidity due to the uncertainty caused by the COVID-19 pandemic, the Company borrowed $200.0 million
under its Revolving Credit Facility. In December 2020, the Company repaid $100.0 million of the borrowings, and in January 2021, the Company repaid the
remaining $100.0 million. As of December 31, 2020, the Company was in compliance with the provisions of our Revolving Credit Facility, there was $100.0
million outstanding, and the Company had available capacity under the terms of the facility of $100.0 million.

In September 2016, the Company acquired land and a building located in Stamford, Connecticut adjacent to our production facility. In connection with the
acquisition, we assumed future obligations under a loan agreement, in the principal amount of $23.0 million, which loan is secured by a mortgage on the property.
Pursuant to the loan agreement, the assets of WWE Real Estate, a subsidiary of the Company, represent collateral for the underlying mortgage, therefore these
assets will not be available to satisfy debts and obligations due to any other creditors of the Company. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the amounts
outstanding of the mortgage were $22.1 million and $22.5 million, respectively.

In 2013, the Company entered into a $31.6 million promissory note (the “Aircraft Note”) with Citizens Asset Finance, Inc., for the purchase of a 2007
Bombardier Global 5000 aircraft and refurbishments. The Aircraft Note matured on August 7, 2020 and was fully
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repaid. As of December 31, 2020, there were no amounts outstanding under the Aircraft Note. As of December 31, 2019, the amount outstanding under the
Aircraft Note was $3.2 million.

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Cash generated from operating activities was $319.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, as compared to $121.7 million for the year ended
December 31, 2019. The $198.2 million increase in the current year was driven by the timing of collections associated with our large-scale international events,
coupled with improved operating performance, including the renewal of our key domestic distribution agreements of our flagship programs, RAW and
SmackDown, and the reduction in the payout of management incentive compensation.

During 2020, the Company spent $25.6 million on content production activities, including Total Bellas, Miz & Mrs., The Quest for Lost WWE Treasures,
and various programs for WWE Network, as compared to $34.3 million in 2019. We anticipate spending approximately $20 million to $30 million on content
production during the year ending December 31, 2021. In 2020, we received content production incentives of $9.5 million, as compared to $14.7 million in 2019.
During the year ending December 31, 2021, we anticipate receiving $15 million to $20 million in content production incentives.

Our accounts receivable relate principally to a limited number of distributors and licensees. At December 31, 2020, there were no customers that
individually exceeded 10% of our gross accounts receivable balance. Changes in the financial condition or operations of our distributors, customers or licensees
may result in increased delayed payments or non-payments which would adversely impact our cash flows from operating activities and/or our results of
operations. We believe credit risk with respect to accounts receivable is limited due to the generally high credit quality of the Company’s major customers.

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Cash provided by investing activities was $11.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, as compared to cash used of $35.8 million for the year
ended December 31, 2019. During the current year, we received proceeds from the maturities and sales of our short-term investments of $182.3 million and
purchased $153.9 million of short-term investments, as compared to purchases of $124.3 million and proceeds of $157.5 million in the prior year. Additionally,
we sold certain marketable equity investments during 2020 and collected net proceeds of $11.7 million. Capital expenditures in 2020 decreased by $41.5 million
as compared to 2019. The prior year included additional spending to support the Company’s workplace and technology related strategic initiatives. Due to the
uncertainty created from the COVID-19 pandemic, we temporarily delayed construction activity on the Company’s new global headquarters space in Stamford,
Connecticut. Capital expenditures for the year ending December 31, 2021 are estimated to range between $65 million and $85 million, with a large portion of this
spend associated with the resumed buildout of the Company’s new global headquarters.

Cash Flow from Financing Activities

Cash provided by financing activities was $39.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, as compared to cash used of $162.9 million for the year
ended December 31, 2019. The Company received proceeds of $200.0 million from borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility and repaid $100.0 million of
those borrowings during the current year. The Company made dividend payments of $37.2 million and $37.4 million during the years ended December 31, 2020
and 2019, respectively. Additionally, the Company made employee payroll withholding tax payments of $11.1 million and $30.2 million during 2020 and 2019,
respectively, related to net settlement upon vesting of employee equity awards. During 2019, the Company paid $83.4 million for stock repurchases under its
approved stock repurchase program.

Contractual Obligations

We have entered into various contracts under which we have commitments to make contractually required payments, including:

. Scheduled principal and fixed interest payments under our assumed mortgage in connection with an owned building in Stamford, Connecticut.

. Convertible Notes with fixed semi-annual interest payments.

. Various operating leases for facilities, sales offices and equipment with terms generally ranging from one to ten years.

. Finance lease for the Company’s new headquarters building with an accounting lease term of 30 years in addition to finance leases of certain

equipment utilized in our television production operations with contractual terms generally five years or less (see Note 8, Leases, in the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements for further information).

. Service contracts with certain vendors and independent contractors, including our talent, with terms ranging from one to twenty years.
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. Service agreement obligations related to WWE Network (excluding future performance-based payments which are variable in nature).

Our aggregate minimum payment obligations under these contracts as of December 31, 2020 are as follows (dollars in millions):

After
2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2025 Total
Long-term debt $ 14 $ 14 $ 14 $ 14 $ 208 $ — 3 26.4
Convertible debt (1) 7.3 7.2 222.0 — — — 236.5
Operating leases (2) 5.0 3.8 2.2 1.8 1.3 1.5 15.6
Finance leases (2) (3) 28.2 28.9 28.4 26.3 23.1 621.0 755.9
Service contracts and talent commitments 28.4 21.7 10.3 9.4 8.0 7.0 84.8
Total commitments $ 703 $ 63.0 $ 2643 $ 389 $ 532 $ 629.5 § 1,119.2

(1) Convertible debt obligations assume that no notes are converted prior to the December 15, 2023 maturity date. See Note 11, Convertible Debt, in the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.

2) Operating and finance lease obligations disclosed in the table above are presented on an undiscounted basis. See Note 8, Leases, in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements for the discounted amounts which include the amounts for imputed interest.

3) Finance lease payments include $398.5 million related to options to extend our global headquarters lease that are reasonably certain of being exercised.

Our Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2020 includes $0.1 million in liabilities associated with uncertain tax positions (including interest and
penalties), which are not included in the table above. The Company does not expect to pay any significant settlements related to these uncertain tax positions in
2021.

Seasonality

Our operating results are not materially affected by seasonal factors; however, we may produce several large-scale premier events throughout the year,
including WrestleMania, which result in increased revenues and expenses during the periods in which these events occur. WrestleMania typically occurs late in
our first quarter or early second quarter, while certain other large-scale premier events may not have set recurring dates. Revenues from our licensing and direct
sale of consumer products, including our internet sites, varies from period to period depending on the volume and extent of licensing agreements and marketing
and promotion programs entered into during any particular period of time, as well as the commercial success of the media exposure of our characters and brand.
The timing of these events, as well as the continued introduction of new product offerings and revenue generating outlets, can and will cause fluctuations in
quarterly revenues and earnings.

Inflation

During 2020, 2019 and 2018, inflation did not have a material effect on our business.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31, 2020, we did not have any material off-balance sheet arrangements, as defined in Item 303(a)(4) of SEC Regulation S-K.
Critical Accounting Estimates

The preparation of our Consolidated Financial Statements requires us to make estimates that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and
expenses, and the related disclosure of contingent assets and contingent liabilities. We base our estimates on our historical experience and on various other
assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making estimates about the carrying values of assets
and liabilities. The accuracy of these estimates and the likelihood of future changes depend on a range of possible outcomes and a number of underlying
variables, many of which are beyond our control. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

We believe the following judgments and estimates are critical in the preparation of our Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Revenue Recognition with Multiple Performance Obligations

Most of our contracts have one performance obligation and all consideration is allocated to that performance obligation. In contracts that have multiple
performance obligations which may include the production of live events, content licenses, and advertising and sponsorship rights, we allocate the transaction
price to each identified performance obligation based upon their relative standalone selling price. The standalone selling prices are determined using observable
standalone selling prices when available as well as estimates of standalone selling prices using adjusted market assessment and expected cost plus margin
approaches to estimate the price for individual components. Judgment is required to determine the standalone selling prices and estimate the portion of the
transaction price allocated to each performance obligation.

Content Production Assets, Net

The Company is primarily a content producer with content production assets consisting of feature films, non-live event episodic television series, and
original programming content for WWE Network. Feature film titles are predominantly monetized on their own through exploitation and exhibition through
individual film distribution arrangements or by sale to a third party. The non-live event episodic television series are predominantly monetized on their own
through individual television distribution arrangements. The original WWE Network programming content are predominantly monetized as a film group through
the collection of monthly subscription fees from WWE Network.

Amounts capitalized for content production assets typically include development costs, production costs, production overhead, and employee salaries and
are net of any film production incentives associated with our feature films. Content production assets related to our feature films are amortized in the proportion
that revenues bear to management’s estimates of the ultimate revenue expected to be recognized from exploitation, exhibition or sale. Content production assets
related to non-live event episodic television series are expensed upon delivery of the completed programming content to the individual television distributors. Our
programming content distributed on WWE Network is expensed based upon viewership consumption patterns.

Unamortized content production costs are evaluated for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the fair value of a film
predominantly monetized on its own or a film group may be less than its unamortized costs. As it relates to our unamortized feature film production assets, if
estimates for a feature film’s ultimate revenues and/or costs are revised and indicate a significant decline in a film’s profitability or if events or circumstances
change that indicate that we should assess whether the fair value of a film is less than its unamortized film costs, we calculate the film's estimated fair value using
a discounted cash flows model. If fair value is less than the unamortized cost, the film is written down to fair value. Our estimate of ultimate revenues for feature
films includes revenues from all sources for ten years from the date of a film’s initial release. We estimate the ultimate revenues based on industry and Company
specific trends, the historical performance of similar films, the star power of the lead actors, and the genre of the film. Prior to the release of a feature film and
throughout its life, we revise our estimates of revenues based on expected future results, actual results and other known factors affecting the various distribution
markets. As it relates to our unamortized non-live event episodic television series content assets, if conditions indicate a potential impairment, and the estimated
future cash flows using a discounted cash flow model are not sufficient to recover the unamortized asset, the asset is written down to fair value. As it relates to our
unamortized original WWE Network programming content assets, which are predominantly monetized as film group, we review in aggregate at a group level
when an event or change in circumstances indicates a change in the expected usefulness of the content or that the fair value may be less than unamortized cost. In
addition, if we determine that a program will not likely air, we expense the remaining unamortized asset.

As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, we had $15.4 million and $20.0 million, respectively, in capitalized content production costs. During the years ended
December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, we recorded aggregate impairment charges of $3.2 million, $1.3 million, and $4.9 million, respectively, related to our
content production assets. No assurance can be given that additional unfavorable changes impacting the monetization of our content portfolio will not occur,
which, in turn, may result in additional impairment charges that might materially affect our results of operations and financial condition.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Our accounts receivable relate principally to a limited number of distributors and licensees that produce consumer products containing our intellectual
property. Adverse changes in general economic conditions and/or contraction in global credit markets could precipitate liquidity problems among our key
distributors, increasing our exposure to bad debts which could negatively impact our results of operations and financial condition. We estimate the collectibility of
our receivables and establish allowances for the amount of account receivable that we estimate to be uncollectible. We base these allowances on our historical
collection experience, the length of time our accounts receivable are outstanding, the financial condition of individual customers and current economic conditions
that may affect a customer’s ability to pay. Changes in the financial condition of a single major customer, either adverse or positive, could impact the amount and
timing of any additional allowances or reductions that may be required. At December 31, 2020, there were no customers that individually exceeded 10% of our
gross accounts receivable balance. At December 31, 2019, our largest receivable balance from customers was 49% of our gross accounts receivable. As of
December 31, 2020 and 2019, our allowance for doubtful accounts was $4.1 million and $0.8 million, respectively.
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Income Taxes

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are recognized for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been reflected in the Consolidated Financial
Statements. Deferred tax liabilities and assets are determined based on the differences between the book and tax basis of particular assets and liabilities, using tax
rates in effect for the years in which the differences are expected to reverse. A valuation allowance is provided to offset deferred tax assets if, based upon the
available evidence, it is more-likely-than-not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. In evaluating our ability to recover deferred tax assets
within the jurisdiction from which they arise, we consider all available positive and negative evidence, including scheduled reversals of deferred tax liabilities,
projected future taxable income, tax-planning strategies, and results of recent operations. If we determine that we would be able to realize our deferred tax assets
in the future in excess of their net recorded amount, we would make an adjustment to the deferred tax assets valuation allowance, which would reduce the
provision for income taxes.

As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, our deferred tax assets (net of valuation reserve) were $10.1 million and $7.2 million, respectively. The increase in our
net deferred tax asset balance in 2020 was primarily driven by license royalty recognition, partially offset by 100% bonus depreciation. We believe that it is more
likely than not that we will have sufficient taxable income in the future to realize these deferred tax assets and as such have not recorded a valuation allowance to
reduce the net carrying value. If we determine it is more likely than not that we will not have sufficient taxable income to realize these assets, we may need to
record a valuation allowance in the future.

We use a two-step approach in recognizing and measuring uncertain tax positions. The first step is to evaluate tax positions taken or expected to be taken in
a tax return by assessing whether they are more likely than not sustainable, based solely on their technical merits, upon examination, and including resolution of
any related appeals or litigation process. The second step is to measure the associated tax benefit of each position, as the largest amount that we believe is more
likely than not realizable. Differences between the amount of tax benefits taken or expected to be taken in our income tax returns and the amount of tax benefits
recognized in our financial statements represent our unrecognized income tax benefits, which we record as a liability. Our policy is to include interest and
penalties related to unrecognized income tax benefits as a component of income tax expense. At December 31, 2020, our unrecognized tax benefits including
interest and penalties totaled $0.1 million.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

The information set forth under Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements under the caption “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — Recent
Accounting Pronouncements, is incorporated herein by reference.

Cautionary Statement for Purposes of the “Safe Harbor” Provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995

The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 provides a “safe harbor” for certain statements that are forward-looking and are not based on
historical facts. When used in this Form 10-K and our other SEC filings, our press releases and comments made in earnings calls, investor presentations or
otherwise to the public, the words “may,” “will,” “could,” “anticipate,” “plan,” “continue,” “project,” “intend,” “estimate,” “believe,” “expect” and similar
expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements, although not all forward-looking statements contain such words. These statements relate to our
future plans, objectives, expectations and intentions and are not historical facts and accordingly involve known and unknown risks and uncertainties and other
factors that may cause the actual results or the performance by us to be materially different from future results or performance expressed or implied by such
forward-looking statements. The following factors, among others, could cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in forward-looking
statements made in this Form 10-K and our other SEC filings, in press releases, earnings calls and other statements made by our authorized officers: (i) risks
relating to the ongoing coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic may continue to negatively affect world economies as well as our industry, business and results of
operations; (ii) risks relating to entering, maintaining and renewing major distribution agreements; (iii) risks relating to a rapidly evolving media landscape; (iv)
risks relating to WWE Network; (v) our need to continue to develop creative and entertaining programs and events; (vi) our need to retain or continue to recruit
key performers; (vii) the risk of a decline in the popularity of our brand of sports entertainment, including as a result of changes in the social and political climate;
(viii) the possible unexpected loss of the services of Vincent K. McMahon; (ix) possible adverse changes in the regulatory atmosphere and related private sector
initiatives; (x) the highly competitive, rapidly changing and increasingly fragmented nature of the markets in which we operate and/or our inability to compete
effectively, especially against competitors with greater financial resources or marketplace presence; (xi) uncertainties associated with international markets
including possible disruptions and reputational risks; (xii) our difficulty or inability to promote and conduct our live events and/or other businesses if we do not
comply with applicable regulations; (xiii) our dependence on our intellectual property rights, our need to protect those rights, and the risks of our infringement of
others’ intellectual property rights; (xiv) risks relating to the complexity of our rights agreements across distribution mechanisms and geographical areas; (xv) the
risk of substantial liability in the event of accidents or injuries occurring during our physically demanding events including, without limitation, claims alleging
traumatic brain injury; (xvi) exposure to risks relating to large public events as well as travel to and from such events; (xvii) risks inherent in our feature film
business; (xviii) a variety of risks as we expand into new or complementary businesses and/or make strategic investments and/or acquisitions; (xix) risks related
to our computer systems and online operations; (xx) risks relating to privacy norms and regulations; (xxi) risks relating to a possible decline
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in general economic conditions and disruption in financial markets; (xxii) risks relating to our accounts receivable; (xxiii) risks relating to our indebtedness
including our convertible notes; (xxiv) potential substantial liabilities if litigation is resolved unfavorably; (xxv) our potential failure to meet market expectations
for our financial performance; (xxvi) through his beneficial ownership of a substantial majority of our Class B common stock, our controlling stockholder,
Vincent K. McMahon, exercises control over our affairs, and his interests may conflict with the holders of our Class A common stock; (xxvii) a substantial
number of shares are eligible for sale by Mr. McMahon and members of his family or trusts established for their benefit, and the sale, or the perception of possible
sales, of those shares could lower our stock price; and (xxviii) risks related to the volatility of our Class A common stock. In addition, our dividend is dependent
on a number of factors, including, among other things, our liquidity and historical and projected cash flow, strategic plan (including alternative uses of capital),
our financial results and condition, contractual and legal restrictions on the payment of dividends (including under our revolving credit facility), general economic
and competitive conditions and such other factors as our Board of Directors may consider relevant. Forward-looking statements made by the Company speak only
as of the date made, are subject to change without any obligation on the part of the Company to update or revise them, and undue reliance should not be placed on
these statements. For more information about risks and uncertainties associated with the Company's business, please refer to the "Management's Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and "Risk Factors" sections of this Form 10-K and our other SEC filings.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

In the normal course of business, we are exposed to foreign currency exchange rate, interest rate and equity price risks that could impact our results of
operations. Our foreign currency exchange rate risk is minimized by maintaining minimal net assets and liabilities in currencies other than our functional
currency.

Short-Term Investments

Our short-term investment portfolio consists of U.S. Treasury securities, corporate and municipal bonds, and government agency bonds. We are exposed to
market risk related to our investment portfolio primarily as a result of credit quality risk and interest rate risk. Credit quality risk is defined as the risk of a credit
downgrade to an individual fixed or floating rate security and the potential loss attributable to that downgrade. Credit quality risk is managed through our
investment policy, which establishes credit quality limitations on the overall portfolio as well as diversification and percentage limits on securities of individual
issuers. The result is a diversified portfolio of fixed or floating rate securities, with a weighted average credit rating of approximately “AA”.

Interest rate risk is defined as the potential for economic losses on fixed or floating rate securities due to a change in market interest rates. Our investments
in corporate and municipal bonds have exposure to changes in the level of market interest rates. Interest rate risk is mitigated by managing our investment
portfolio’s dollar weighted duration. Additionally, we have the capability of holding any security to maturity, which would allow us to realize full par value. We
have evaluated the impact of an immediate 100 basis point change in interest rates on our investment portfolio. A 100 basis-point increase in interest rates would
result in an approximate $0.2 million decrease in fair value, whereas a 100 basis-point decrease in interest rates would result in an approximate $0.2 million
increase in fair value.

Convertible Senior Notes

We have $215.0 million principal amount of 3.375% convertible senior notes due December 15, 2023. We carry this instrument at face value less
unamortized discount and unamortized debt issuance costs on our Consolidated Balance Sheet. Since this instrument bears interest at fixed rates, we have no
financial statement risk associated with changes in interest rates. However, the fair value of this instrument fluctuates when interest rates change, and when the
market price of our stock fluctuates. The fair value of the convertible senior notes will generally increase as interest rates fall and decrease as interest rates rise. In
addition, the fair value of the convertible senior notes will generally increase as our common stock price increases and will generally decrease as our common
stock price declines in value. The interest and market value changes affect the fair value of our convertible senior notes but do not impact our financial position,
cash flows or results of operations due to the fixed nature of the debt obligation. Conversion of our Convertible Notes and the exercise of related Warrants may
cause economic dilution to our stockholders and dilution to our earnings per share.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
The information required by this item is set forth in the Consolidated Financial Statements filed with this report and are herein incorporated by reference.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosures
None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We have performed an evaluation under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
Based on that evaluation, our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer concluded that as of the end of the period covered by this
Form 10-K, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective and designed to ensure that all material information required to be disclosed by the Company in
reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified by the SEC and that
such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

There were no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with management’s evaluation that occurred
during the fourth quarter of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2020 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control
over financial reporting.

Managements Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f). Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and our
Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020 based on the
guidelines established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(COSO). Our internal control over financial reporting includes policies and procedures that provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external reporting purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

Based on the results of our evaluation, our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2020.
We reviewed the results of management’s assessment with our Audit Committee.

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020 has been audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, an independent

registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which is included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Such report expresses an unqualified opinion on
the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of World Wrestling Entertainment, Inc.

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of World Wrestling Entertainment, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31,
2020, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO). In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2020, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by COSO.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated
financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020, of the Company and our report dated February 4, 2021, expressed an unqualified opinion on
those financial statements.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is
to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB
and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the
Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding
of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of
internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with
the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Stamford, Connecticut
February 4, 2021
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Item 9B. Other Information

None.

PART III

The information required by Part III (Items 10-14) is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive proxy statement for our 2021 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders.

PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) The following documents are filed as a part of this report:

1. Consolidated Financial Statements and Schedule: See index to Consolidated Financial Statements on page F-1 of this report.

2. Exhibits:
Exhibit
No. Description of Exhibit
3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No. 333-

3.1A
3.1B

32
3.2A

4.1

4.2
43

10.4*
10.4A%*
10.5*
10.5A%*
10.6*
10.6A%*
10.7*
10.8*
10.8A*
10.8B*
10.11

10.12

reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K, filed December 12, 2016).

Form of 3.375% Convertible Senior Note due 2023 (included in Exhibit 4.1).

Description of Common Stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31
2019).

Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2018).
Amended and Restated Booking Agreement with Paul Levesque, effective as of January 1, 2012 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to our

the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011).
Booking Agreement, dated October 7, 2013, between the Company and Stephanie McMahon Levesque (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17
to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2013).

First Amendment to Booking Contract with Stephanie McMahon-Levesque, dated October 7, 2016 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2016).

Second Amendment to Booking Contract with Stephanie McMahon-Levesque, dated March 4, 2019 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8B to
the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2019).
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21.1

the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2014).
Form of Performance Stock, Retention, and Non-Competition Agreement for Michelle D. Wilson, George A. Barrios and Kevin Dunn (incorporated

to Exhibit 10.16A to the Current Report on Form 8-K, filed April 21, 2016). o

Amended and Restated Revolving_Credit Facility dated May 24, 2019, among_World Wrestling Entertainment, Inc.,_certain subsidiaries of World
Wrestling Entertainment, Inc. party thereto, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, and the lenders, issuing banks and agents party

Note and Mortgage Assumption Agreement, dated as of September 13, 2016, by and among WWE Real Estate Holdings, LLC, 88 Hamilton Avenue
Associates, LLC and Wilmington Trust, National Association, as trustee for the registered holders of Wells Fargo Commercial Mortgage Trust 2015-
NXS2, Commercial Mortgage Pass-Through Certificates, Series 2015-NXS2 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the Current Report on
Form 8-K, filed September 15, 2016).

Loan Agreement, dated June 8, 2015, between 88 Hamilton Avenue Associates, LLC and Natixis Real Estate Capital LLC (incorporated by reference

Form 8-K, filed December 12, 2016).
Convertible Note Hedge Confirmation between World Wrestling Entertainment, Inc. and JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, London

Convertible Note Hedge Confirmation between World Wrestling_Entertainment, Inc. and Morgan Stanley & Co. International plc, dated December
12,2016 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Current Report on Form 8-K, filed December 12, 2016).

Warrant Confirmation between World Wrestling Entertainment, Inc. and Morgan Stanley & Co. International plc, dated December 12, 2016
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Current Report on Form 8-K, filed December 12, 2016).

Exhibit 10.7 to the Current Report on Form 8-K, filed December 12, 2016).

Agreement of Lease, dated March 7, 2019, between World Wrestling_Entertainment, Inc. and Stamford Washington Office LLC (incorporated by_
reference to Exhibit 10.29 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2019).

Lease Amendment Agreement, dated November 25, 2020, between World Wrestling Entertainment, Inc. and Stamford Washington Office LLC (filed
herewith).

Current Report on Form 8-K, filed July 7, 2020).
Employment Agreement between World Wrestling_Entertainment, Inc. and Nick Khan, effective as of August 3, 2020 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K, filed August 6, 2020).

Form of Performance Stock Sign-On Award and Non-Competition Agreement with Nick Khan under the Company’s 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.35 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2020).

to the Current Report on Form 8-K, filed November 20, 2020).
List of Subsidiaries (filed herewith).
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23.1 Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP (filed herewith).

31.1 Certification by Vincent K. McMahon pursuant to Section 302 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith).

31.2 Certification by Kristina Salen pursuant to Section 302 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith).

32.1 Certification by Vincent K. McMahon and Kristina Salen pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith).

101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)

* Indicates management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereto duly authorized.

World Wrestling Entertainment, Inc.
(Registrant)

Dated: February 4, 2021 By: /s/ VINCENT K. MCMAHON
Vincent K. McMahon
Chairman of the Board of Directors and
Chief Executive Officer
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant
and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature

/s/ VINCENT K. MCMAHON

Vincent K. McMahon

/s/ STEPHANIE MCMAHON

Stephanie McMahon

/s/ PAUL LEVESQUE

Paul Levesque

/s/ STUART U. GOLDFARB

Stuart U. Goldfarb

/s/ ERIKA NARDINI

Erika Nardini

/s LAUREEN ONG

Laureen Ong

/s/ STEPHEN PAMON

Stephen Pamon

/s/ ROBYN W. PETERSON

Robyn W. Peterson

/sl FRANK A. RIDDICK III

Frank A. Riddick III

/s/ MAN JIT SINGH

Man Jit Singh

/s/ JEFFREY R. SPEED

Jeffrey R. Speed

/s ALAN M. WEXLER

Alan M. Wexler

/s/ KRISTINA SALEN

Kristina Salen

/sl KAREN MULLANE

Karen Mullane

Title or Capacity,

Chairman of the Board of Directors and
Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer)
Director and Chief Brand Officer
Director and Executive Vice President,

Global Talent Strategy and Development

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial officer)

Controller
(principal accounting officer)
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of World Wrestling Entertainment, Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of World Wrestling Entertainment, Inc. and subsidiaries (the "Company") as of December
31, 2020 and 2019, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, stockholders' equity, and cash flows, for each of the three years in
the period ended December 31, 2020, and the related notes and the schedules listed in the Index at Item 15 (collectively referred to as the "financial statements").
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the
results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2020, in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company's
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 4, 2021, expressed an unqualified opinion on the Company's
internal control over financial reporting.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's financial
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in
accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to
assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such
procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current-period audit of the financial statements that was communicated or required to
be communicated to the audit committee and that (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially
challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial statements,
taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or
disclosures to which it relates.

Net Revenues — See Notes 2, 4 and 20 to the financial statements
Critical Audit Matter Description

The Company enters into arrangements with customers which include multiple distinct performance obligations, such as production of live events, content
licensing and broadcasting rights, and advertising and sponsorship rights, sold for a single fixed transaction price. The Company allocates the transaction price to
all performance obligations contained within an arrangement based upon their relative standalone selling price. Standalone selling prices based on observable and
estimated standalone selling prices, including adjusted market assessment and expected cost plus margin approaches, are used to determine pricing for individual
components.

Given the judgement involved in determining the standalone selling price and estimating the portion of the transaction price allocated to each performance
obligation, auditing the related revenue required both extensive audit effort and a high degree of audit judgement when performing audit procedures and
evaluating the results of those procedures.
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How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit

Our audit procedures related to determination of standalone selling price and the allocation of transaction price for arrangements with multiple distinct
performance obligations included the following, among others:

o We tested the effectiveness of controls over arrangements, including management’s controls over the identification of performance obligations, allocation of
transaction price to distinct performance obligations, and determination of the standalone selling price.

e  We evaluated the Company’s revenue recognition policy and management’s current year accounting assessment for arrangements with multiple performance
obligations.

e  We obtained and read a sample of contracts, including master agreements, amended agreements, and other source documents that were part of the contract.

e  We tested management’s identification of the performance obligations within the customer contract, including whether material rights that gave rise to a
performance obligation were identified.

e  We evaluated the accuracy and completeness of the data and factors used in management’s determination of standalone selling price for each performance
obligation.

e  We evaluated the methodologies used to develop the standalone selling price for each performance obligation.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Stamford, Connecticut
February 4, 2021

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 1999.
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WORLD WRESTLING ENTERTAINMENT, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Operations
(in thousands, except per share data)

For the years ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018

Net revenues $ 974207 $ 960,442 $ 930,160
Operating expenses 549,480 638,199 609,182
Marketing and selling expenses 71,385 84,713 95,985
General and administrative expenses 102,182 86,893 85,446
Depreciation and amortization 42,616 34,127 25,069
Operating income 208,544 116,510 114,478
Interest expense 35,601 26,121 15,405
Other (expense) income, net (1,834) 4,289 6,964
Income before income taxes 171,109 94,678 106,037
Provision for income taxes 39,338 17,617 6,449
Net income $ 131,771  $ 77,061 $ 99,588
Earnings per share: basic $ 1.70 § 099 § 1.28
Earnings per share: diluted $ 1.56 § 085 § 1.12
Weighted average common shares outstanding:

Basic 77,564 78,157 77,536

Diluted 84,219 90,231 88,619
Dividends declared per common share (Class A and B) $ 048 § 048 § 0.48

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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WORLD WRESTLING ENTERTAINMENT, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
(in thousands)

For the years ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018
Net income $ 131,771  $ 77,061 $ 99,588
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Foreign currency translation adjustments 107 63 (339)
Unrealized holding (losses) gains on available-for-sale debt securities
(net of tax expense (benefit) of $4, $410 and $(167), respectively) 14 1,299 (530)
Total other comprehensive income (loss) 121 1,362 (869)
Comprehensive income $ 131,892 $ 78,423 $ 98,719

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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WORLD WRESTLING ENTERTAINMENT, INC.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments, net
Accounts receivable (net of allowance for doubtful accounts and returns

of $4,050 and $818, respectively)
Inventory
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Finance lease right-of-use assets, net
Operating lease right-of-use assets, net
Content production assets, net
Investment securities
Deferred income tax assets, net
Other assets, net
Total assets
Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Current liabilities:
Current portion of long-term debt
Finance lease liabilities
Operating lease liabilities
Convertible debt
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Deferred income
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt
Finance lease liabilities
Operating lease liabilities
Other non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders' equity:
Class A common stock: ($0.01 par value; 180,000,000 shares authorized;

46,694,963 and 46,181,320 shares issued and outstanding as of

December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively)
Class B convertible common stock: ($0.01 par value; 60,000,000 shares authorized,

31,099,011 and 31,099,011 shares issued and outstanding as of

December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively)
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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As of December 31,

2020 2019
462,102 $ 90,447
131,295 160,034

52,007 124,771
8,386 8,252
73,062 20,806
726,852 404,310
161,545 174,752
310,844 289,932
13,476 20,811
15,425 20,045
11,148 28,106
10,052 7,217
47,980 47,060
1,297,322 $ 992,233
100,412  $ 3,613
9,587 7,945
3,963 6,586
194,683 188,667
124,742 80,592
62,887 56,941
496,274 344,344
21,700 22,098
379,894 335,465
9,723 14,571
937 429
908,528 716,907
467 462
311 311
424,758 405,353
2,985 2,864
(39,727) (133,664)
388,794 275,326
1297322 $ 992,233
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Balance, December 31, 2017
Cumulative effect of adopting ASC 606
Net income
Other comprehensive loss
Stock issuances, net
Conversion of Class B common
stock by shareholder
(See Note 18)
Taxes paid related to net settlement
upon vesting of equity awards
Cash dividends declared
Stock-based compensation
Other
Balance, December 31, 2018
Net income
Other comprehensive income
Repurchases and retirements of common stock
Stock issuances, net
Conversion of Class B common
stock by shareholder
(See Note 18)
Taxes paid related to net settlement
upon vesting of equity awards
Cash dividends declared
Stock-based compensation
Balance, December 31, 2019
Net income
Other comprehensive income
Stock issuances and other, net
Taxes paid related to net settlement
upon vesting of equity awards
Cash dividends declared
Stock-based compensation

Balance, December 31, 2020

WORLD WRESTLING ENTERTAINMENT, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
(in thousands, except per share data)

Accumulated
Common Stock Additional Other
Class A Class B Paid - in Comprehensive Accumulated
Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Income Deficit Total

42,498 $ 425 34,609 $ 346 $ 422,208 $ 2,371 § (172,391) $ 252,959
— — — — — — 10,086 10,086
— — — — — — 99,588 99,588
— — — — — (869) — (869)
917 9 — — 1,939 — — 1,948
306 3 (306) 3) — — — —
— — — — (50,798) — — (50,798)
— — — — 1,366 — (38,609) (37,243)
— — — — 39,304 — — 39,304
— — — — 1,262 — — 1,262
43,721 § 437 34,303 $ 343 § 415,281 $ 1,502 § (101,326) $ 316,237
— — — — — — 77,061 77,061
— — — — — 1,362 — 1,362
(1,398) (14) — — (12,436) — (70,991) (83,441)
654 7 — — 2,318 — — 2,325
3,204 32 (3,204) (32) — — — —
— — — — (30,183) — — (30,183)
— — — — 977 — (38,408) (37,431)
— — — — 29,396 — — 29,396
46,181 § 462 31,099 $ 311 § 405,353 § 2,864 § (133,664) $ 275,326
— — — — — — 131,771 131,771
— — — — — 121 — 121
514 5 — — 2,625 — — 2,630
— — — — (11,082) — — (11,082)
— — — — 585 — (37,834) (37,249)
— — — — 27,277 — — 27,277
46,695 $ 467 31,099 $ 311 § 424,758 $ 2,985 § (39,727) $ 388,794

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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WORLD WRESTLING ENTERTAINMENT, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands)

For the years ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018
OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net income $ 131,771  § 77,061 $ 99,588
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating
activities:
Amortization and impairments of content production assets 26,309 35,708 38,390
Depreciation and amortization 48,533 39,552 31,767
Other amortization 17,998 13,905 6,142
Loss (gain) on equity investments, net 5,720 3,309 (882)
Stock-based compensation 27,989 29,396 39,304
(Benefit from) provision for deferred income taxes (3,015) 9,921 (1,058)
Other non-cash adjustments 22,398 8,189 (743)
Cash (used in) provided by changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable 70,037 (41,486) (3,527)
Inventory (1,287) (499) 579
Prepaid expenses and other assets (12,171) 2,642 (7,973)
Content production assets (25,645) (34,349) (31,682)
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities 5,088 (31,954) 26,750
Deferred income 6,149 10,297 (9,936)
Net cash provided by operating activities 319,874 121,692 186,719
INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchases of property and equipment and other assets (27,662) (69,086) (32,275)
Purchases of short-term investments (153,904) (124,282) (94,910)
Proceeds from sales and maturities of short-term investments 182,316 157,487 61,428
Purchase of investment securities (589) (1,366) (1,330)
Proceeds from sale of investment securities 11,715 — —
Other — 1,438 1,000
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 11,876 (35,809) (66,087)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Repayment of debt (103,599) (5,103) (4,782)
Repayment of finance leases (10,795) (8,352) —
Dividends paid (37,249) (37,431) (37,243)
Debt issuance costs — (708) —
Proceeds from borrowings under the credit facility 200,000 — —
Taxes paid related to net settlement upon vesting of equity awards (11,082) (30,183) (50,798)
Proceeds from issuance of stock and other 2,630 2,325 1,948
Repurchase and retirement of common stock — (83,441) —
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 39,905 (162,893) (90,875)
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 371,655 (77,010) 29,757
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF PERIOD 90,447 167,457 137,700
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF PERIOD $ 462,102 § 90447 167,457
SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION:
Cash paid for income taxes, net of refunds $ 45586 $ 7,386 $ 10,107
Cash paid for interest $ 12,262 $ 10,706  $ 8,899
NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING TRANSACTIONS:
Purchases of property and equipment recorded in accounts payable
and accrued expenses (See Note 10) $ 4,365 $ 4997 $ 13,464

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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1. Basis of Presentation and Business Description

The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of WWE. “WWE” refers to World Wrestling Entertainment, Inc. and its

subsidiaries, unless the context otherwise requires. References to “we,” “us,” “our” and the “Company” refer to WWE.

We are an integrated media and entertainment company, principally engaged in the production and distribution of wrestling entertainment content through
various channels, including our premium over-the-top subscription network (“WWE Network™), content rights agreements, pay-per-view event programming,
filmed entertainment, live events, licensing of various WWE themed products, and the sale of consumer products featuring our brands. Our operations are
organized around the following principal activities:

Media:

. The Media segment reflects the production and monetization of long-form and short-form media content across various platforms, including WWE
Network, broadcast and pay television, digital and social media, as well as filmed entertainment. Across these platforms, revenues principally consist
of content rights fees associated with the distribution of our programming content, subscriptions to WWE Network, and advertising and sponsorships.

Live Events:

. Live events provide ongoing content for our media platforms. Live Event segment revenues consist primarily of ticket sales, including primary and
secondary distribution, revenues from events for which we receive a fixed fee, as well as the sale of travel packages associated with the Company’s
global live events.

Consumer Products:

. The Consumer Products segment engages in the merchandising of WWE branded products, such as video games, toys and apparel, through licensing
arrangements and direct-to-consumer sales. Revenues principally consist of royalties and licensee fees related to WWE branded products, and sales of
merchandise distributed at our live events and through eCommerce platforms.

Note on the COVID-19 Pandemic

The global spread of the coronavirus pandemic (“COVID-19") and the various attempts to contain it have resulted in restrictions, postponements and
cancellations of various sports and other events and has and likely will continue to require us to cancel, postpone or relocate certain of our live events. We do not
currently expect insurance to cover a significant portion, if any, of this lost business. COVID-19 has also continued to create significant volatility, uncertainty and
economic disruption, the full extent of which will depend on numerous evolving factors that we can neither predict nor control, including the pandemic’s duration
and severity and the governmental, business and individual responses to it. As a result, we have been required to alter certain aspects of our operations beyond our
live events. We have taken measures to protect the health and well-being of our employees and our talent and other vendors. Our workforce has spent a significant
amount of time working from home. Travel has been severely curtailed. We have greatly increased our cleaning and health check protocols, which increase
related expenditures. We also implemented certain cash conserving measures, which were or have been in effect for various time periods, including pausing our
stock repurchase program and certain capital expenditures; containing employment costs through salary reductions and furloughs; containing certain third party
vendor costs; and drawing under our revolving credit facility. We believe our partners’ operations have also been affected. To the extent the resulting economic
disruption is severe, we could see supply constraints and/or a negative impact on our customers’ demand, or ability to pay (including an impact on the
collectability of our accounts receivable), for our goods and services. We will continue to actively monitor the issues raised by the COVID-19 pandemic and may
take further actions that alter our business operations that are required by applicable governmental authorities and/or that we determine to be in the best interests
of our employees, talent, customers, partners and stockholders. There can be no assurance that we will be entirely successful in these endeavors, which could
result in inadvertent noncompliance with applicable law. The COVID-19 pandemic also could result in heightened litigation risks relating to personal injury or
death and/or increased levels of commercial litigation. Any of the foregoing could have a material negative effect on our business and results of operations.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Use of Estimates — The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
requires our management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosures of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ from
those estimates.

Basis of Consolidation — The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of WWE and all of its domestic and foreign subsidiaries. Included
in Corporate are intersegment eliminations recorded in consolidation. All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Cash and Cash Equivalents — Cash and cash equivalents include cash on deposit in overnight deposit accounts, investments in Treasury bills and
investments in money market accounts with original maturities of three months or less at the time of purchase.

Short-term Investments, Net — Our short-term investments consist of U.S. Treasury securities, corporate and municipal bonds, and government agency
bonds. We classify and account for these securities as available-for-sale debt securities and carry these securities at fair value. We report the unrealized gains and
losses, net of tax, as other comprehensive income (loss) in stockholders’ equity, with the exception, if applicable, of unrealized losses due to loss of credit
worthiness or unrealized gains due to recovery of credit worthiness, which are recorded to other income, net on the Consolidated Statements of Operations.
Realized gains and losses on investments are included in earnings and are derived using the specific identification method for determining the cost of securities
sold.

Accounts Receivable, Net — Accounts receivable relate principally to amounts due to us from distributors of our content, as well as from licensees that
produce consumer products containing our intellectual property and/or trademarks. We estimate the collectability of our receivables and establish allowances for
the amount of accounts receivable that we estimate to be uncollectible. We base these allowances on our historical collection experience, the length of time our
accounts receivable are outstanding, the financial condition of individual customers and current economic conditions that may affect a customer’s ability to pay.
An individual balance is charged to the allowance when all collection efforts have been exhausted and it is deemed likely to be uncollectible, taking into
consideration the financial condition of the customer and other factors.

Inventory — Inventory consists of merchandise sold on our websites and on distribution platforms, including Amazon, and merchandise sold at live events.
Substantially all of our inventory is comprised of finished goods. Inventory is stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value. The valuation of our inventories
requires management to make market estimates assessing the quantities and the prices at which we believe the inventory can be sold.

Property and Equipment, Net — Property and equipment are carried at historical cost net of benefits associated with tax incentives less accumulated
depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets or, when applicable,
the life of the lease, whichever is shorter. Vehicles and equipment are depreciated based on estimated useful lives varying from three to five years. Buildings and
related improvements are depreciated based on estimated useful lives varying from five years to thirty-nine years. Our corporate aircraft is depreciated over ten
years on a straight-line basis less an estimated residual value.

Leases — The Company determines if a contract contains a lease at the inception of the arrangement. The Company has elected the short-term lease
exemption, whereby leases with initial terms of one year or less are not capitalized and instead expensed generally on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The
depreciable life of the underlying leased assets are generally limited to the expected lease term inclusive of any optional lease terms where we conclude at the
inception of the lease that we are reasonably certain of exercising those renewal options. The Company is primarily a lessee with a lease portfolio comprised
mainly of real estate and equipment leases. Operating and finance lease assets are included on our Consolidated Balance Sheets in non-current assets as an
operating or finance right-of-use asset. Operating and finance lease liabilities are included on our Consolidated Balance Sheets in non-current liabilities for the
portion that is due on a long-term basis and in current liabilities for portion that is due within 12 months of the financial statement date.

The right-of-use assets represent our right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities represent our obligation to make lease payments
arising from the lease. Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are recognized at the commencement date of the lease based on the present value of lease payments
over the lease term using an appropriate discount rate. Since the implicit rate is not readily available for our leases, we use our incremental borrowing rate based
on the information available at the commencement date in determining the present value of lease payments. The right-of-use asset also may include any initial
direct costs paid and is reduced by any lease incentives provided by the lessor. Our lease terms may include options to extend or terminate the lease when it is
reasonably
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certain that we will exercise that option. Lease expense for lease payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term for our operating leases and
for our finance leases, we record interest expense on the lease liability and straight-line amortization of the right-of-use asset over the lease term.

Content Production Assets, Net — The Company is primarily a content producer with content production assets consisting of feature films, non-live event
episodic television series, and original programming content for WWE Network. Feature film titles are predominantly monetized on their own through
exploitation and exhibition through individual film distribution arrangements or by sale to a third party. The non-live event episodic television series are
predominantly monetized on their own through individual television distribution arrangements. The original WWE Network programming content are
predominantly monetized as a film group through the collection of monthly subscription fees from WWE Network.

Amounts capitalized for content production assets typically include development costs, production costs, production overhead, and employee salaries and
are net of any film production incentives associated with our feature films. Content production assets related to our feature films are amortized in the proportion
that revenues bear to management’s estimates of the ultimate revenue expected to be recognized from exploitation, exhibition or sale. Content production assets
related to non-live event episodic television series are expensed upon delivery of the completed programming content to the individual television distributors. Our
programming content distributed on our subscription-based WWE Network is expensed based upon viewership consumption patterns.

Unamortized content production costs are evaluated for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the fair value of a film
predominantly monetized on its own or a film group may be less than its unamortized costs. As it relates to our unamortized feature film production assets, if
estimates for a feature film’s ultimate revenues and/or costs are revised and indicate a significant decline in a film’s profitability or if events or circumstances
change that indicate we should assess whether the fair value of a film is less than its unamortized film costs, we calculate the film's estimated fair value using a
discounted cash flows model. If fair value is less than the unamortized cost, the film is written down to fair value. Our estimate of ultimate revenues for feature
films includes revenues from all sources for ten years from the date of a film’s initial release. We estimate the ultimate revenues based on industry and Company
specific trends, the historical performance of similar films, the star power of the lead actors, and the genre of the film. Prior to the release of a feature film and
throughout its life, we revise our estimates of revenues based on expected future results, actual results and other known factors affecting the various distribution
markets. As it relates to our unamortized non-live event episodic television series content assets, if conditions indicate a potential impairment, and the estimated
future cash flows using a discounted cash flow model are not sufficient to recover the unamortized asset, the asset is written down to fair value. As it relates to our
unamortized original WWE Network programming content assets, which are predominantly monetized as film group, we review in aggregate at a group level
when an event or change in circumstances indicates a change in the expected usefulness of the content or that the fair value may be less than unamortized cost. In
addition, if we determine that a program will not likely air, we expense the remaining unamortized asset.

Valuation of Long-Lived Assets — We periodically evaluate the carrying amount of long-lived assets for impairment when events and circumstances
warrant such a review.

Investment Securities — Equity investments that are marketable and have a readily determinable fair value are carried at fair value with changes in the fair
value recorded through income and reflected in Other income, net on the Consolidated Statements of Operations. For nonmarketable equity securities (those
without a readily determinable fair value), the Company elected to apply the practicality exception to apply fair value measurement, under which such securities
will be measured at cost, less impairment, plus or minus observable price changes for identical or similar securities of the same issuer with such changes recorded
in Other income, net on the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

For equity investments where the Company does not control the investee, and where it is not the primary beneficiary of a variable interest entity but can
exert significant influence over the financial and operating policies of the investee, the Company applies the equity method of accounting. Under the equity
method of accounting, the Company’s share of the investee’s underlying net income or loss is recorded as investment income or loss within Other income, net on
the Consolidated Statements of Operations, and is also included, net of cash dividends received, in Equity in earnings of affiliate, net of dividends received, on the
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. Dividend distributions received from the investee reduces the Company’s carrying value of the investee and the cost
basis if deemed a return of capital.

Nonmarketable equity securities and equity method investments are also subject to periodic impairment evaluations, and when factors indicate that a
significant decrease in value has occurred. Factors considered in making such assessments may include near-term prospects of the investees, subsequent rounds of
financing activities of the investees, and the investees’ capital structure as well as other economic variables, which reflect assumptions market participants may
use in pricing these assets. If an equity method investment is
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deemed to have experienced an other-than-temporary decline below its carrying amount, we reduce the carrying amount of the equity method investment to its
quoted or estimated fair value, as applicable, and establish a new carrying amount for the investment. For nonmarketable equity securities that are accounted for
under the measurement alternative to fair value, the Company applies the impairment model that does not require the Company to consider whether the
impairment is other-than-temporary. We record these impairment charges on our equity investments in Other income, net on the Consolidated Statements of
Operations.

Income Taxes — Deferred tax liabilities and assets are recognized for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been reflected in the
Consolidated Financial Statements. Amounts are determined based on the differences between the book and tax bases of particular assets and liabilities and
operating loss carry forwards, using tax rates in effect for the years in which the differences are expected to reverse. A valuation allowance is provided to offset
deferred tax assets if, based upon the available evidence, it is more-likely-than-not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. In evaluating our
ability to recover our deferred tax assets within the jurisdiction from which they arise, we consider all available positive and negative evidence, including
scheduled reversals of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income, tax-planning strategies, and results of recent operations. If we determine that we
would be able to realize our deferred tax assets in the future in excess of their net recorded amount, we would make an adjustment to the deferred tax asset
valuation allowance, which would reduce the provision for income taxes. Conversely, if we determine we might not be able to realize our deferred tax assets, we
would record a valuation allowance which would result in a charge to the provision for income taxes.

We use a two-step approach to recognizing and measuring uncertain tax positions. The first step is to evaluate tax positions taken or expected to be taken in
a tax return by assessing whether they are more likely than not sustainable, based solely on their technical merits, upon examination, and including resolution of
any related appeals or litigation process. The second step is to measure the associated tax benefit of each position, as the largest amount that we believe is more
likely than not realizable. Differences between the amount of tax benefits taken or expected to be taken in our income tax returns and the amount of tax benefits
recognized in our financial statements represent our unrecognized income tax benefits, which we record as a liability. Our policy is to include interest and
penalties related to unrecognized income tax benefits as a component of income tax expense.

Revenue Recognition — Revenues are generally recognized when control of the promised goods or services is transferred to our customers, either at a
point in time or over time, in an amount that reflects the consideration the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for those goods or services. Most of our
contracts have one performance obligation and all consideration is allocated to that performance obligation. In contracts that have multiple performance
obligations which may include the production of live events, content broadcast rights, and advertising and sponsorship rights, we allocate the transaction price to
each identified performance obligation based upon their relative standalone selling price. The standalone selling prices are determined using observable
standalone selling prices when available as well as estimates of standalone selling prices using adjusted market assessment and expected cost plus margin
approaches to estimate the price for individual components. Our revenues do not include material estimated amounts of variable consideration. The variable
consideration contained in our contracts relates primarily to sales or usage-based royalties earned on consumer product licensing contracts. The variability related
to these sales or usage-based royalties will be resolved in the periods when the licensee generates sales related to the intellectual property license. As it relates to
our Consumer Products segment, the Company accounts for shipping and handling activities as fulfillment activities.

We derive our revenues principally from the following sources: (i) content rights fees associated with the distribution of WWE’s media content, (ii)
subscriptions to WWE Network, (iii) fees for viewing our pay-per-view programming, (iv) feature film distribution, (v) advertising and sponsorship sales, (vi)
live event ticket sales, (vii) consumer product licensing royalties from the sale by third-party licensees of WWE branded merchandise, (viii) direct-to-consumer
sales of merchandise at our live event venues, and (ix) direct-to-consumer sales of our merchandise through eCommerce platforms. The below describes our
revenue recognition policies in further detail for each major revenue source of the Company.

. Content rights fees:
Rights fees received from distributors of our programming, both domestically and internationally, are recorded when the program (functional intellectual
property) has been delivered and control has been transferred to the distributor and the license period has begun. Any advance payments received from the

distributors are deferred upon collection and recognized into revenue as content is delivered. Our content rights distribution agreements are generally between one
year and five years in length and frequently provide for contractual increases over their terms.
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. WWE Network Subscriptions:

Revenues from the sale of subscriptions to WWE Network are recognized ratably over each paid monthly membership period. Deferred revenues consist of
subscription fees billed to members that have not been recognized and gift memberships that have not been redeemed.

. Pay-per-view programming:

Revenues from our pay-per-view programming are recorded when the event is aired/performed and are based upon our initial estimate of the number of
buys achieved. This initial estimate is based on preliminary buy information received from our pay-per-view distributors. These estimates are updated each
reporting period based on the latest information available.

. Advertising and sponsorships:

Through our sponsorship packages, we offer advertisers a full range of our promotional vehicles, including online and print advertising, on-air
announcements and special appearances by our Superstars. We allocate the transaction price to all performance obligations contained within a sponsorship and
advertising arrangement based upon their relative standalone selling price. Standalone selling prices are determined generally based on a rate card used to
determine pricing for individual components. Revenues are recognized as each performance obligation is satisfied, which generally occurs when the sponsorship
and advertising is aired, exhibited, performed or played on the applicable WWE platform. We are generally the principal in our advertising and sponsorship
arrangements because we control the advertising and sponsorship inventory before it is transferred to our customers. Our control is evidenced by our sole ability
to monetize the advertising and sponsorship inventory and being primarily responsible to our customers.

. Live event ticket sales:

Revenues from our live event ticket sales are recognized upon the occurrence of the related live event.

. Consumer product licensing royalties:

Licensing revenues consist principally of royalties or license fees related to various WWE themed products, such as video games, toys and apparel, which
are created using WWE brands and marks (symbolic intellectual property). Revenues from our licensed products are recognized in the period of the underlying
product sales based on estimates from licensees and adjustments to the estimated amounts are recorded when final statements are received. The estimates are
derived from the best available recent information from our licensees of underlying sales performance and represent the most likely amount of revenues expected.

Any upfront license fees or minimum guarantees received from the licensee are deferred upon collection and recognized into revenue over the contract term as
the amounts are earned.

. Direct-to-consumer venue merchandise sales:

Direct-to-consumer merchandise sales consist of sales of merchandise at our live events. Revenues are recognized at the point of sale, as control is
transferred to the customer.

. Direct-to-consumer eCommerce sales:

Direct-to-consumer eCommerce revenues consist of sales of merchandise on our websites, including through our WWEShop Internet storefront, and on
distribution platforms, including Amazon. Revenues are recognized at a point in time, as control is transferred to the customer upon shipment.

Operating Expenses — Operating expenses consist of our production costs associated with developing our content, costs associated with operating WWE
Network, venue rental and related costs associated with the staging of our live events, compensation costs for our talent, and material and related costs associated
with our consumer product merchandise sales. In addition, operating expenses include the operating costs associated with talent development, data analytics, data
engineering, business strategy and real estate and facilities functions. Included within operating expenses are the following depreciation and amortization
expenses:

. Amortization and impairment of feature film production assets:
We amortize feature film production assets based on the estimated future cash flows. Unamortized feature film production assets are evaluated for

impairment each reporting period.
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. Amortization and impairment of television production assets:

Television production assets consist primarily of non-live event episodic television series we have produced for distribution through a variety of platforms,
including on WWE Network. Costs to produce episodic programming for television or distribution on WWE Network are amortized in the proportion that
revenues bear to management's estimates of the ultimate revenue expected to be recognized from exploitation, exhibition or sale. Unamortized television
production assets are evaluated for impairment each reporting period. Program amortization for WWE Network is included in operating expenses as a component
of amortization of television production assets. For episodic programming debuting and currently expected to air exclusively on WWE Network, the cost of the
programming is expensed upon initial release, as the vast majority of viewership occurs in close proximity to the initial release.

. Depreciation and amortization of costs related to content delivery and technology assets utilized for WWE Network:

These costs are depreciated or amortized on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the expected useful life or the term of the respective assets.

. Amortization of right-of-use assets on finance leases of equipment:

The amortization expense associated with the right-of-use assets pertain predominantly to equipment utilized to produce and distribute our live event
programming and are therefore included in operating expenses.

. Depreciation on equipment used directly in revenue generating activities:

We capitalize equipment consisting primarily of television set components and related equipment that is utilized as part of our programming content. These
assets are depreciated over their respective estimated useful lives.

The following table presents the depreciation and amortization expense amounts included within Operating expenses for the periods presented:

Year Ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018
Amortization and impairment of content production assets $ 26309 $ 35,708 $ 38,390
Depreciation and amortization of WWE Network content delivery and technology assets 5,632 5,317 6,696
Amortization of right-of-use assets - finance leases of equipment 11,070 8,020 —
Depreciation on equipment used directly to support operations 561 108 —
Total depreciation and amortization included in operating expenses $ 43,572 $ 49,153 $ 45,086

Costs to produce our live event programming are expensed when the event is first broadcast, and are not included in the depreciation and amortization
table noted above.

Marketing_and Selling Expenses — Marketing and selling expenses consist of costs associated with the promotion and marketing of our services and
products. These expenses include advertising and promotional costs, and the costs associated with our sales and marketing functions, creative services functions
and our international offices.

General _and Administrative Expenses — General and administrative expenses are unallocated and include costs associated with our corporate
administrative functions, including finance, investor relations, community relations, corporate communications, information technology, legal, human resources
and our Board of Directors. We record all Company-wide severance expenses as unallocated corporate general and administrative expenses.

Content Production Incentives — The Company has access to various governmental programs that are designed to promote content production within the
United States and certain international jurisdictions. Tax credits earned with respect to expenditures on qualifying content production activities, including
qualifying capital projects, are included as an offset to the related asset or as an offset to production expenses when we have reasonable assurance regarding the
realizable amount of the tax credits.

Advertising Expense — Advertising costs are expensed as incurred, except for costs related to the development of a major commercial or media campaign,
which are expensed in the period in which the commercial or campaign is first presented. For the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, we recorded
advertising expenses of $13,539, $21,165 and $21,563, respectively.
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Foreign Currency Translation — For the translation of the financial statements of our foreign subsidiaries whose functional currencies are non-U.S.
Dollars, assets and liabilities are translated at the year-end exchange rate, and income statement accounts are translated at monthly average exchange rates for the
year. The resulting translation adjustments are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income, a component of stockholders’ equity, and also in
comprehensive income. Foreign currency transactions are recorded at the exchange rate prevailing at the transaction date, with any gains/losses recorded in other
income/expense.

Stock-Based Compensation — Equity awards are granted to directors, officers and employees of the Company. Stock-based compensation costs associated
with our restricted stock units ("RSUs") are determined using the fair market value of the Company's common stock on the date of the grant. These costs are
recognized over the requisite service period using the graded vesting method, net of estimated forfeitures. RSUs have a service requirement typically over a 3.5
years vesting schedule and vest in equal annual installments. Unvested RSUs accrue dividend equivalents at the same rate as are paid on our shares of Class A
common stock. The dividend equivalents are subject to the same vesting schedule as the underlying RSUs.

Stock-based compensation costs associated with our performance stock units ("PSUs") are initially determined using the fair market value of the
Company's common stock on the date the awards are approved by our Compensation Committee (service inception date). The vesting of these PSUs are subject
to certain performance conditions and a service requirement of typically 3.5 years. Until such time as the performance conditions are met, stock compensation
costs associated with these PSUs are re-measured each reporting period based upon the fair market value of the Company's common stock and the estimated
performance attainment on the reporting date. The ultimate number of PSUs that are issued to an employee is the result of the actual performance of the Company
at the end of the performance period compared to the performance conditions. Stock compensation costs for our PSUs are recognized over the requisite service
period using the graded vesting method, net of estimated forfeitures. Unvested PSUs accrue dividend equivalents once the performance conditions are met at the
same rate as are paid on our shares of Class A common stock. The dividend equivalents are subject to the same vesting schedule as the underlying PSUs.

During the third quarter of 2020, the Compensation Committee approved an agreement to grant PSUs to an executive management member for an
aggregate value of $15,000. The award vests in two tranches of 40%, and 60%, during the years 2022 and 2025, respectively. The first award tranche of $6,000
has performance conditions tied to results through September 2022, and the second award tranche of $9,000 has performance conditions tied to results through
September 2025. The Company began expensing the second award of $9,000 concurrent with the first award beginning on the service inception date in August
2020. The Company accounts for the first award as an equity award since the target shares are known at inception, while the second award is classified as a
liability award until the number of shares is determined upon settlement of the award. The liability and the corresponding expense are adjusted at the end of each
quarter until the date of settlement, considering the probability that the performance conditions will be satisfied. As of December 31, 2020, the liability portion of
the award was $712, which is included in Other non-current liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

In 2018, the Compensation Committee approved certain agreements to grant PSUs with a market condition (“PSU-TSRs”), where vesting is conditioned
upon the total shareholder return performance of WWE stock relative to the total shareholder return performance of a peer group over specified performance
periods. The fair value of these market-based awards is estimated on the date of grant using the Monte Carlo simulation valuation model. The compensation costs
associated with these types of awards are recognized over the requisite service period using the graded vesting method.

We estimate forfeitures based on historical trends when recognizing compensation expense and adjust the estimate of forfeitures when they are expected to
differ or as forfeitures occur.

Earnings Per Share (EPS) — Basic EPS is calculated by dividing net income by the weighted average common shares outstanding during the period.
Diluted EPS is calculated by dividing net income by the weighted average common shares outstanding during the period plus dilutive potential common shares
which are calculated using the treasury-stock method. Under the treasury-stock method, potential common shares are excluded from the computation of EPS in
periods in which they have an anti-dilutive effect.

Net income per share of Class A and Class B common stock is computed in accordance with a two-class method of earnings allocation. As such, any
undistributed earnings for each period are allocated to each class of common stock based on the proportionate share of cash dividends that each class is entitled to
receive. During 2020, 2019 and 2018, the dividends declared and paid per share of Class A and Class B common stock were the same.

Treasury Stock Retirement — The Company accounts for treasury stock transactions using the cost method. All share repurchases to date have been retired
by the Company. When the Company retires its own common stock, the excess of the repurchase price of the common stock over the par value of the common
stock is allocated between additional paid-in capital and retained earnings. The portion
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allocated to additional paid-in capital is determined by applying a percentage, determined by dividing the number of shares to be retired by the number of shares
issued and outstanding as of the retirement date, to the balance of additional paid-in capital as of the retirement date. Direct costs incurred to repurchase the
common stock are not material and are expensed in the period incurred.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In August 2020, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2020-06, “Accounting for
Convertible Instruments and Contracts in an Entity’s Own Equity.” The amendment simplifies the accounting for certain financial instruments with characteristics
of liabilities and equity, including convertible instruments and contracts on an entity’s own equity. The new guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2021 (fiscal year 2022 for the Company) with early adoption permitted, but no earlier than fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020 (fiscal
year 2021 for the Company). The amendments can be adopted either using a modified retrospective method of transition or a fully retrospective method of
transition. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the ASU on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

In March 2019, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2019-02, “Improvements to Accounting for Costs of Films and License
Agreements for Program Materials”, in order to align the accounting for production costs of an episodic television series with the accounting for production costs
of films by removing the content distinction for capitalization. The amendments also require that an entity reassess estimates of the use of a film in a film group
and account for any changes prospectively. In addition, the amendments require that an entity test films and license agreements for program material for
impairment at a film group level when the film or license agreements are predominantly monetized with other films and license agreements. The Company
evaluated its portfolio of content assets in order to determine the predominant monetization strategies which now dictates the appropriate impairment model to
apply. In general, the Company’s content assets related to original programming content airing on WWE Network are predominantly monetized as a film group
through monthly subscription fees collected from WWE Network subscribers, while the Company’s other content assets comprised largely of feature films and
episodic television series which are licensed or sold to distributors are predominantly monetized individually through the underlying rights fees collected under
the distribution arrangements. The Company previously provided separate captions within noncurrent assets on the face of the consolidated balance sheet for
episodic television production assets and feature film production assets. With the adoption of the amendments, the Company now presents both episodic
television and feature film production assets under one combined caption, Content production assets, net, within the noncurrent assets section of the consolidated
balance sheet. To conform to the current period presentation, the Content productions assets, net balance of $20,045 as of December 31, 2019 is comprised of
$15,873 of feature film production assets and $4,172 of television production assets. ASU 2019-02 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2019. The Company adopted the amendments on January 1, 2020 with no material impact to our consolidated financial statements upon adoption. See Note 9,
Content Production Assets, Net, for further details.

In November 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-18, “Collaborative Arrangements (Topic 808) — Clarifying the Interaction between Topic 808 and
Topic 606.” The amendments in this ASU clarifies that certain transactions between collaborative arrangement participants should be accounted for as revenue
under Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, when the collaborative arrangement participant is a customer in the context of a unit of account and
precludes recognizing as revenue consideration received from a collaborative arrangement participant if the participant is not a customer. The new guidance is
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019. The Company adopted the amendment on January 1, 2020 with no impact on our consolidated
financial statements.

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-15, “Customer s Accounting for Implementation Costs Incurred in a Cloud Computing Arrangement That
Is a Service Contract.” The new guidance aligns the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred in a hosting arrangement that is a service
contract with the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred to develop or obtain internal-use software (and hosting arrangements that include an
internal-use software license). The accounting for the service element of a hosting arrangement that is a service contract is not affected by the amendments in this
update. The new guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019. The Company adopted the amendments on January 1, 2020 with no
material impact to our consolidated financial statements and applied the amendments prospectively to all implementation costs incurred after the date of adoption.

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-13, “Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): Disclosure Framework—Changes to the Disclosure
Requirements for Fair Value Measurement”, which modifies the disclosure requirements on fair value measurements. The new guidance is effective for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2019. Upon the effective date, certain provisions are to be applied prospectively, while others are to be applied
retrospectively to all periods presented. The amendments eliminated certain disclosure requirements such as the elimination of disclosing the valuation process
for Level 3 fair value measurements. Other
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amendments in the update did not largely impact the Company. The Company adopted the amendments on January 1, 2020 with no impact on our consolidated
financial statements.

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, “Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial
Instruments” (“ASU 2016-13"), which requires an entity to assess impairment of its financial instruments based on its estimate of expected credit losses. Since
the issuance of ASU 2016-13, the FASB released several amendments to improve and clarify the implementation guidance. The provisions of ASU 2016-13 and
the related amendments are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019. Entities are required to apply these changes through a cumulative-effect
adjustment to retained earnings as of the beginning of the first reporting period in which the guidance is effective. The Company evaluated its financial
instruments and determined that its trade accounts receivables are subject to the new current expected credit loss model and the Company’s available-for-sale debt
securities are subject to the new modified credit impairment guidance. Based upon the application of the new current expected credit loss model on our opening
balance of accounts receivable as of January 1, 2020, we determined that no material incremental credit loss reserve is needed and accordingly did not record a
cumulative effect adjustment. As of the adoption date on January 1, 2020, the Company applied the new credit impairment guidance for available-for-sale debt
securities on a prospective basis. See Note 5, Investment Securities and Short-Term Investments, for further information on our available-for-sale debt securities.

3. Earnings Per Share

For purposes of calculating basic and diluted earnings per share, we used the following weighted average common shares outstanding (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018

Net income $ 131,771  $ 77,061 $ 99,588
Weighted average basic common shares outstanding 77,564 78,157 77,536

Dilutive effect of restricted and performance stock units 492 1,361 1,877

Dilutive effect of convertible debt instruments 6,160 10,707 9,206

Dilutive effect of employee share purchase plan 3 6 —
Weighted average dilutive common shares outstanding 84,219 90,231 88,619
Earnings per share:

Basic $ 1.70 § 099 § 1.28

Diluted $ 156 § 085 $ 1.12
Anti-dilutive shares (excluded from per-share calculations):

Net shares received on purchased call of convertible debt hedge 3,762 5,756 5,098

Outstanding restricted and performance stock units — — 3

Effect of Convertible Notes and Related Convertible Note Hedge and Warrants

In connection with the issuance of the Convertible Notes, the Company entered into Convertible Note Hedge and Warrants transactions as described
further in Note 11, Convertible Debt. The collective impact of the Convertible Note Hedge and Warrants effectively eliminates any economic dilution that may
occur from the actual conversion of the Convertible Notes between the conversion price of $24.91 per share and the strike price of the Warrants of $31.89 per
share.

For reporting periods with net income, the denominator of our diluted earnings per share calculation includes the effect of additional shares issued using
the treasury stock method since the average price of our common stock exceeded the conversion price of the Convertible Notes of $24.91 per share. In addition,
the denominator also includes the additional shares issued related to the Warrants using the treasury stock method since the average price of our common stock
exceeded the strike price of the Warrants of $31.89 per share. The dilution from the Convertible Notes had a $0.13, $0.12 and $0.13 impact on diluted earnings
per share for the years ended

F-17



Table of Contents
WORLD WRESTLING ENTERTAINMENT, INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(In thousands, except share data)

December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Prior to actual conversion, the Convertible Note Hedges are not considered for purposes of the calculation of
diluted earnings per share, as their effect would be anti-dilutive.

4. Revenues
Adoption of ASC Topic 606, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”

On January 1, 2018, the Company adopted the new revenue recognition standard pursuant to ASC Topic 606 to all contracts using the modified
retrospective method. The most significant impact of adoption relates to the acceleration in the timing of revenue recognition of our consumer product licensing
and film distribution revenues. Prior to the adoption of the new revenue standard in 2018, we recorded revenues from our consumer product licensing
arrangements and film distribution arrangements on a lag upon the receipt of statements from the licensee and/or film distributor. Under the new revenue
recognition standard, revenues are recorded based on best estimates available in the period of sales or usage. Financial statements presented for the reporting
periods beginning after January 1, 2018 are presented under ASC Topic 606.

Under the modified retrospective transition method, we recorded a net cumulative effect adjustment of $10,086 as an increase to opening retained earnings
as of January 1, 2018. The cumulative effect impact of adopting Topic 606 related primarily to our consumer product licensing revenues.

The impact to our Consolidated Statements of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2018 as a result of applying ASC Topic 606 was a decrease to
our Net revenues, Operating expenses and Operating income of $2,971, $1,360 and $1,611, respectively.

See Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — Revenue Recognition for information on our revenue recognition accounting policies.
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Disaggregated Revenues

The following table presents our revenues disaggregated by primary revenue sources. Sales and usage-based taxes are excluded from revenues.

Year Ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018
Net revenues:
Media Segment:
Network (including pay-per-view) $ 185,667 $ 184,553 $ 199,318
Core content rights fees (1) 538,334 348,593 269,793
Advertising and sponsorships 65,333 72,428 69,529
Other (2) 78,882 137,525 144,711
Total Media Segment net revenues 868,216 743,099 683,351
Live Events Segment:
North American ticket sales 15,206 93,812 105,386
International ticket sales 210 19,048 22,347
Advertising and sponsorships 354 2,072 2,124
Other (3) 4,151 10,653 14,346
Total Live Events Segment net revenues 19,921 125,585 144,203
Consumer Products Segment:
Consumer product licensing 41,675 43,197 45,970
eCommerce 41,196 29,882 34,942
Venue merchandise 3,199 18,679 21,694
Total Consumer Products Segment net revenues 86,070 91,758 102,606
Total net revenues $ 974207 $ 960,442 $ 930,160

(@) Core content rights fees consist primarily of licensing revenues earned from the distribution of our flagship programs, Raw and SmackDown, as well as our NXT
programming, through global broadcast, pay television and digital platforms.

2) Other revenues within our Media segment reflect revenues earned from the distribution of other WWE content, including, but not limited to, certain live in-ring
programming in international markets, scripted, reality and other programming, as well as theatrical and direct-to-home video releases.

3) Other revenues within our Live Events segment primarily consists of the sale of travel packages associated with the Company’s global live events and commissions earned
through secondary ticketing, as well as revenues from events for which the Company receives a fixed fee.

Except for WWE Network subscriptions revenues which are recorded over time during the subscription term, and our consumer product licensing revenues
which are recorded over time during the licensing period, our other revenue streams identified in the table above are generally recognized at a point-in-time when
the performance obligations are satisfied.

Payment Terms and Other

Our revenues do not include material amounts of variable consideration, other than the sale or usage-based royalties earned related to our consumer
product licensing and certain other content rights contracts. Our payment terms vary by the type of products or services offered and may be subject to contractual
payment terms, which may include advance payment requirements. The time between invoicing and when payment is due is not significant, generally within 30
to 60 days. We have elected the practical expedient to not adjust the total consideration within a contract to reflect a financing component when the duration of
the financing is one year or less. Our contracts do not generally include a significant financing component. Our contracts with customers do not generally result in
significant obligations associated with returns, refunds or warranties.
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Remaining Performance Obligations

As of December 31, 2020, for contracts greater than one year, the aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations
is $3,115,736, comprised of our multi-year content distribution, consumer product licensing and sponsorship contracts. We will recognize rights fees related to
our multi-year content distribution contracts as content is delivered to the distributors during the periods 2021 through 2028. We will recognize the revenues
associated with the minimum guarantees on our multi-year consumer product licensing arrangements by the end of the licensing periods, which range from 2021
through 2025. For our multi-year sponsorship arrangements, we will recognize sponsorship revenues as the sponsorship obligations are satisfied during the
periods 2021 through 2028. The transaction prices related to these future obligations do not include any variable consideration, which generally consists of sales
or usage-based royalties earned on consumer product licensing and certain other content rights contracts. The variability related to these sales or usage-based
royalties will be resolved in the periods when the licensee generates sales related to the intellectual property license.

Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities (Deferred Revenues)

A contract asset results when goods or services have been transferred to the customer, but payment is contingent upon a future event, other than the
passage of time. The Company does not have any material contract assets, only accounts receivable as disclosed on our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

We record deferred revenues (also referred to as contract liabilities under Topic 606) when cash payments are received or due in advance of our
performance. Our deferred revenues balance primarily relates to advance payments received related to our content distribution rights agreements, our consumer
product licensing agreements, and our sponsorship and advertising arrangements. The Company’s deferred revenues (i.e. contract liabilities) as of December 31,
2020 and 2019 were $62,943 and $57,025, respectively, and are included within Deferred income and Other non-current liabilities on our Consolidated Balance
Sheets.

The net increase in the deferred revenue balance for the year ended December 31, 2020 of $5,918 is primarily driven by advances received, partially offset
by revenue recognized in 2020 as a result of satisfying our performance obligations. The balance of the current portion of deferred revenue recorded as of
December 31, 2019 of $56,941 was recognized into revenue during 2020.

Contract Costs (Costs of Obtaining a Contract)

Except for certain multi-year television content arrangements, we generally expense sales commissions when incurred because the amortization period
would have been one year or less. These costs are recorded within Marketing and selling expenses on our Consolidated Statements of Operations. Capitalized
commission fees of $725 and $825 at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, relate primarily to incremental costs of obtaining our long-term content
distribution arrangements and these costs are being amortized over the duration of the underlying content agreements on a straight-line basis to Marketing and

selling expenses. The amount of amortization was $100, $1,061 and $1,356 for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively, and there was
no impairment in relation to the costs capitalized.

5. Investment Securities and Short-Term Investments
Investment Securities

Included within Investment Securities are the following:

As of December 31,
2020 2019
Equity method investments $ 1,000 $ 14,342
Nonmarketable equity investments without readily determinable fair values 10,148 13,359
Marketable equity investments with readily determinable fair values — 405
Total investment securities $ 11,148  § 28,106

Equity Method Investments

Our equity method investments relate primarily to an investment in an apparel and lifestyle brand. To the extent the investees record income or losses, the
Company records our share proportionate to our ownership percentage, and any dividends received reduce the carrying value amount of the investments. Net
equity method earnings from our equity method investments are included as a
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component of Other income, net on the Consolidated Statements of Operations. Net dividends received from our equity method investments are reflected on the
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows within Net cash provided by operating activities.

We evaluate our equity method investments for impairment when events indicate that the fair value of the investments may be below the carrying value.
When such a condition is deemed to be other than temporary, the carrying value of the investment is written down to its fair value. During the year ended
December 31, 2020, the Company recorded impairment charges of $13,231 on our equity method investments for the excess of the carrying value over its
estimated fair value as a result of our impairment evaluation. We determined fair value using a discounted cash flow model using recent forecasts from the
investee, which indicated a decline in the value of the investment. The decline in value is due to the significant adverse impact on retail market conditions caused
by COVID-19 combined with lower sales forecasts. This impairment charge is included as a component of Other (expense) income, net on the Consolidated
Statements of Operations. The Company did not record any impairment charges related to our equity method investments during the years ended December 31,
2019 and 2018.

The following table presents the net equity method earnings from our equity method investments and net dividends received from our equity method
investments for the periods presented:

Year Ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018
Net equity method earnings $ 760 $ 911 § 1,118
Net dividends received (872) (1,061) (1,274)
Equity in earnings of affiliate, net of dividends received $ a12) $ (150) §$ (156)

Nonmarketable Equity Investments Without Readily Determinable Fair Values

We evaluate our nonmarketable equity investments without readily determinable fair values for impairment if factors indicate that a significant decrease in
value has occurred. The Company has elected to use the measurement alternative to fair value that will allow these investments to be recorded at cost, less
impairment, and adjusted for subsequent observable price changes.

The following table summarizes the impairments and observable price change event adjustments recorded on our nonmarketable equity investments
without readily determinable fair values for the periods presented:

Year Ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018
Impairments (1) $ 2,715) $ — (3,773)
Observable price change upward adjustments (2) — 1,151 2,181
Observable price change downward adjustments (29) — —
Total income (loss) from adjustments to nonmarketable equity investments $ (2,744) $ LI151 § (1,592)

(1) During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company recorded an impairment charge on our investment in a themed attraction touring company for the excess of the
carrying value over its estimated fair value resulting from significant adverse changes in the economic and market conditions caused by COVID-19. During the year ended
December 31, 2018, the Company recorded an impairment charge on our investment in a mobile video publishing business for the excess of the carrying value over its
estimated fair value resulting from going concern issues of the underlying investee company. These charges are reflected in Other income, net on our Consolidated
Statements of Operations.

2) During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company recorded upward adjustments to the carrying value related to two of the Company’s equity investments. The
adjustments were the result of an observable price change events in connection with financing rounds completed by the investees where the underlying value of the
preferred shares issued were greater than the value of WWE’s substantially similar preferred shares in the investees. During the year ended December 31, 2018, the
Company recorded an upward adjustment to the carrying value related to one of the Company’s equity investments. The adjustment was the result of an observable price
change event in connection with a financing round completed by the investee where the underlying value of the preferred shares issued were greater than the value per share
of WWE’s substantially similar preferred shares in the investee. These upward adjustments are reflected in Other income, net on our Consolidated Statements of Operations.
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Marketable Equity Investments With Readily Determinable Fair Value

One of our nonmarketable equity investments, DraftKings Inc, (“DraftKings”), an online fantasy sports and betting platform, completed a business
combination and became a publicly traded company on April 24, 2020. As a result of the business combination, WWE received common stock of the new
publicly traded DraftKings company in exchange for the common shares WWE owned in the investee and accounted for the publicly traded common shares
received as a marketable equity investment prospectively. The Company’s other marketable equity investment was in a publicly traded software application
developer, Phunware, Inc. (“Phunware”). In November 2020, the Company sold all of its common shares of DraftKings and Phunware, receiving cash proceeds
totaling $11,715, which are reflected in cash flows from investing activities on the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the year ended December 31, 2020.
The Company recorded net realized gains of $10,254 on the securities during the year ended December 31, 2020. We recorded net unrealized holding losses of
$4,444 and net unrealized holding gains of $2,474 during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Realized and unrealized holding gains and
losses are included as a component of Other income, net on the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Short-Term Investments

Our short-term investments consist of available-for-sale debt securities which are measured at fair value and consist of the following:

December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019
Gross Unrealized Gross Unrealized
Amortized Fair Amortized Fair
Cost Gain (Loss) Value Cost Gain (Loss) Value
U.S. Treasury securities $ 99,973 $ 21 $ — 3 99,994 § 32,124 $ 27 $ 13) $ 32,138
Corporate bonds 25,078 6 1) 25,083 120,012 89 (74) 120,027
Municipal bonds — — — — 2,165 — — 2,165
Government agency bonds 6,187 31 — 6,218 5,693 11 — 5,704
Total $ 131238 § 58 § 1)$ 131295 $§ 159,994 $ 127 $ (87) $ 160,034

The Company adopted ASU No. 2016-13, “Financial Instruments — Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments”
on January 1, 2020 and applied the new modified credit impairment guidance related to available-for-sale debt securities prospectively. Under the new guidance,
at each reporting date, entities must evaluate their individual available-for-sale debt securities that are in an unrealized loss position and determine whether the
decline in fair value below the amortized cost basis results from a credit loss or other factors. The amount of the decline related to credit losses is recorded as a
credit loss expense in earnings with a corresponding allowance for credit losses and the amount of the decline not related to credit losses is recorded through other
comprehensive income, net of tax. As of December 31, 2020, the aggregate total amount of unrealized losses (that is, the amount by which amortized cost basis
exceeds fair value) was insignificant. We did not record an allowance for credit losses on these securities. Accordingly, during the year ended December 31, 2020,
the entire amount of the decline in fair value below the amortized cost basis was recorded as an unrealized loss, net of tax, in other comprehensive loss on the
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income. Unrealized gains are also reflected, net of tax, as other comprehensive income (loss) on the Consolidated
Statements of Comprehensive Income.

Our U.S. Treasury securities, corporate bonds, municipal bonds and government agency bonds are included in Short-term investments, net on our
Consolidated Balance Sheets. Realized gains and losses on investments are included in earnings and are derived using the specific identification method for
determining the cost of securities sold.

As of December 31, 2020, contractual maturities of these securities are as follows:

Maturities
U.S. Treasury securities 2 months - 1 year
Corporate bonds 1 month - 1 year
Municipal bonds N/A
Government agency bonds 2 months - 6 months
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During the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, we recognized $1,819, $4,728 and $4,508, respectively, of interest income on our short-term
investments. Interest income is reflected as a component of Other income, net on our Consolidated Statements of Operations.

The following table summarizes the short-term investment activity:

Year Ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018
Proceeds from sale of short-term investments $ 22613 $ — 3 —
Proceeds from maturities and calls of short-term investments $ 159,703  $ 157,487  $ 61,428
Purchases of short-term investments $ 153,904 $ 124,282  §$ 94,910
Gross realized (losses) gains on sale of short-term investments $ 64 $ — 3 —

6. Fair Value Measurement

Fair value is determined based on the exchange price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in the principal or most
advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

The accounting guidance establishes a three-level hierarchy that ranks the quality and reliability of information used in developing fair value estimates.
The hierarchy gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets and the lowest priority to unobservable data. In cases where two or more levels of
inputs are used to determine fair value, a financial instrument's level is determined based on the lowest level input that is considered significant to the fair value
measurement in its entirety. The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are summarized as follows:

Level 1-  Observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
Level 2-  Inputs other than quoted prices in active markets for similar assets and liabilities that are directly or indirectly observable; or
Level 3- Unobservable inputs, such as discounted cash flow models or valuations, in which little or no market data exists.

Certain financial instruments are carried at cost on the Consolidated Balance Sheets, which approximates fair value due to their short-term, highly liquid
nature. The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, money market accounts, accounts receivable and accounts payable approximate fair value because of
the short-term nature of such instruments.

We have classified our investments in U.S. Treasury securities, corporate bonds, municipal bonds and government agency bonds, which collectively are
investments in available-for-sale debt securities, within Level 2, as their valuation requires quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets, quoted prices
for identical or similar instruments in markets that are not active and/or model-based valuation techniques for which all significant inputs are observable in the
market or can be corroborated by observable market data. The U.S. Treasury securities, corporate bonds, municipal bonds and government agency bonds are
valued based on model-driven valuations. A third-party service provider assists the Company with compiling market prices from a variety of industry standard
data sources, security master files from large financial institutions and other third-party sources that are used to value our U.S. Treasury securities, corporate
bonds, municipal bonds and government agency bond investments. The Company did not have any transfers between Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 fair value
investments during the periods presented.

The fair value measurements of our equity investments without readily determinable fair values and our equity method investments are classified within
Level 3 as significant unobservable inputs are used as part of the determination of fair value. Significant unobservable inputs may include variables such as near-
term prospects of the investees, recent financing activities of the investees, and the investees’ capital structure, as well as other economic variables, which reflect
assumptions market participants would use in pricing these assets. For our equity investments without readily determinable fair values, the Company has elected
to use the measurement alternative to fair value that will allow these investments to be recorded at cost, less impairment, and adjusted for subsequent observable
price changes. See Note 5, Investment Securities and Short-Term Investments, for details on impairments and observable pricing event adjustments related to our
equity investments without readily determinable fair values.

The Company's long-lived property and equipment, feature film and television production assets are required to be measured at fair value on a non-
recurring basis if it is determined that indicators of impairment exist. These assets are recorded at fair value only
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when an impairment is recognized. During the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, we recorded non-cash abandonment charges of $1,783, $940 and
$1,693, respectively, to write off the carrying value of certain assets included within property and equipment that we deemed will no longer be used by the
Company and had no further alternative use. These charges are included as a component of Operating expenses on our Consolidated Statements of Operations.
Apart from these charges, the Company did not record any other impairment charges on long lived property and equipment and television production assets
during the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018. The Company classifies these assets as Level 3 within the fair value hierarchy due to significant
unobservable inputs.

During the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, the Company recorded impairment charges of $3,171, $1,301 and $4,865 on content
production assets based upon fair value measurements of $3,276, $943, and $3,635, respectively. See Note 9, Content Production Assets, for further discussion.
The Company classifies these fair values as Level 3 within the fair value hierarchy due to significant unobservable inputs. The Company utilizes a discounted
cash flows model to determine the fair value of content production assets where indicators of impairment exist.

The fair value of the Company's debt, consisting of a mortgage loan assumed in connection with a building purchase and borrowings under the Company’s
Revolving Credit Facility, is estimated based upon quoted price estimates for similar debt arrangements. At December 31, 2020, the face amount of the mortgage
loan and revolving credit facility borrowing approximates their fair value.

The convertible debt is not marked to fair value at the end of each reporting period, but instead is reported at amortized cost. As of December 31, 2020 and
2019, the calculation of the fair value of the debt component of the Company’s convertible debt required the use of Level 3 inputs, and was determined by
calculating the fair value of similar debt without the associated conversion feature based on market conditions at that time:

December 31, 2020 December 31,2019
Fair Value Carrying Value (1) Fair Value Carrying Value (1)

Convertible senior notes $ 208,437 $ 197,475 $ 207,338 $ 192,262

@) The carrying value of the convertible debt instrument presented in the table above represents the face value of the convertible note less unamortized debt discount.

7. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consist of the following:

As of December 31,
2020 2019

Land, buildings and improvements $ 163,597 §$ 163,202
Equipment 145,243 139,137
Corporate aircraft 32,249 32,249
Vehicles 1,007 1,030
Projects in progress 17,681 16,931

359,777 352,549
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (198,232) (177,797)
Total $ 161,545 § 174,752

Depreciation expense for property and equipment totaled $38,411, $30,190 and $24,176 for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018,
respectively.

During the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, we recorded non-cash abandonment charges of $1,783, $940 and $1,693, respectively, to write

off the carrying value of certain assets that we deemed will no longer be used by the Company and had no further alternative use. These charges are included as a
component of Operating expenses on the Consolidated Statements of Operations.
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8. Leases
Information about the Nature of WWE's Lease Portfolio

The Company accounts for its leases under ASC 842 — Leases, which the Company adopted on January 1, 2019 and elected not to restate prior periods as
provided by the transition rules of the standard. As of December 31, 2020, the Company’s lease portfolio consists of operating and finance real estate leases for its
sales offices, performance centers, warechouses and corporate related facilities. In addition, we have various live event production service arrangements that
contain operating and finance equipment leases. With the exception of our new global headquarters lease that commenced on July 1, 2019 with an 18-month free
rent period followed by an initial base term of 15 years with options to renew, our other real estate leases have remaining lease terms of approximately one year to
eight years, some of which may include options to extend the leases. Our equipment leases, which are included as part of various operating service arrangements,
generally have remaining lease terms of approximately one year to six years. Generally, no covenants are imposed by our lease agreements.

As it relates to the Company’s new global headquarters lease, during the fourth quarter of 2020, the landlord granted a rent deferral of $6,590 for a portion
of the rental payments due during 2021. The rent deferral amount will be payable over a five year period from 2022 through 2026. The FASB has provided relief
under ASC 842, “Leases,” related to the COVID-19 pandemic. Under this relief, companies can make an accounting policy election on how to treat lease
concessions resulting directly from COVID-19, provided that the modified lease contract results in total cash flows that are substantially the same or less than the
cash flows in the original lease contract. The Company has elected to account for the rent deferral resulting directly from COVID-19 as though the enforceable
rights and obligations to the deferral existed in the original lease contract at lease inception, and will not account for the concession as a lease modification. In
lieu of applying lease modification accounting, the Company will account for the rent deferral by accruing an accounts payable during the rent concession periods
in 2021 and relieve the payable during 2022 through 2026 when the deferred rents are due.

Key Estimates and Judgments

Key estimates and judgments made in applying the lease accounting rules include how the Company determines (i) the discount rate it uses to discount the
unpaid lease payments to present value, (ii) lease term and (iii) lease payments. ASC 842 requires a lessee to discount its unpaid lease payments using the interest
rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, its incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Company cannot readily determine the interest
rate implicit in the lease and therefore uses the incremental borrowing rate for its leases. The incremental borrowing rate reflects the rate of interest that the
Company would pay on a collateralized basis to borrow an amount equal to the lease payments under similar terms. The incremental borrowing rates were
generally determined by estimating the appropriate collateralized borrowing rates to be used for our leases and considered certain factors, including the lease
term, economic environment, and the assumed credit rating profile of the Company. The lease term for all of the Company’s lease arrangements includes the
noncancelable period of the lease plus, if applicable, any additional periods covered by an option to extend the lease that is reasonably certain to be exercised by
the Company.
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Quantitative Disclosures Related to Leases

The following table provides quantitative disclosure about the Company’s operating and financing leases for the periods presented:

For the year ended December 31

2

2020 2019
Lease costs
Finance lease costs:
Amortization of right-of-use assets $ 20,172 $ 12,556
Interest on lease liabilities 18,359 10,020
Operating lease costs 5,695 8,693
Other short-term and variable lease costs 1,678 1,914
Sublease income (1) (16) (64)
Total lease costs $ 45,888 § 33,119
Other information
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:
Operating cash flows from finance leases $ 1,244  $ 607
Operating cash flows from operating leases $ 4,850 $ 7,945
Finance cash flows from finance leases $ 10,795  $ 8,352
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new finance lease liabilities $ 40,212 § 286,330
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabilities $ 2,518 $ 6,283
As of December 31,
2020 2019
Weighted-average remaining lease term - finance leases 28.8 years 29.8 years
Weighted-average remaining lease term - operating leases 4.3 years 4.3 years
Weighted-average discount rate - finance leases 4.8% 4.8%
Weighted-average discount rate - operating leases 4.3% 4.6%
@)) Sublease income excludes rental income from owned properties.
Maturity of lease liabilities as of December 31, 2020 were as follows:
Operating Finance
Leases Leases
2021 $ 4975 $ 28,198
2022 3,816 28,904
2023 2,235 28,387
2024 1,768 26,294
2025 1,271 23,124
Thereafter 1,490 620,976
Total lease payment 15,555 755,883
Less: imputed interest (1,869) (366,402)
Total future minimum lease payments $ 13,686 § 389,481
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9. Content Production Assets, Net
See Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — Content Production Assets, Net for information on our content production accounting policies.

Content production assets consisted of the following:

Predominantly Monetized Individually Predominantly Monetized as a Film Group
As of December 31, As of December 31,
2020 2019 2020 2019

In release $ 6,608 $ 8,735 $ 173§ 580
Completed but not released — 8 — 163
In production 7,926 9,978 340 378
In development 378 203 — —
Total $ 14912 § 18,924 § 513 § 1,121

As of December 31, 2020, approximately 70% of the “in release” content assets monetized individually are estimated to be amortized over the next three
years.

As of December 31, 2020, all of the “in release” content assets monetized as a film group are estimated to be amortized over the next 12 months.

Amortization and impairment of content production assets consisted of the following:

Year Ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018

Content production amortization expense - assets monetized individually $ 17,676  $ 28,950 $ 25,418
Content production amortization expense - assets monetized as a film group 5,333 5,175 7,256
Content production impairment charges (1) 3,171 1,301 4,865
Content production development write-offs (2) 129 282 851
Total amortization and impairment of content production assets $ 26,309 $ 35,708 $ 38,390

(1) Unamortized content production assets are evaluated for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the fair value of a film predominantly
monetized on its own or as part of a film group may be less than its unamortized costs. If conditions indicate a potential impairment, and the estimated future cash flows are
not sufficient to recover the unamortized asset, the asset is written down to fair value. In addition, if we determine that content will not likely air, we will expense the
remaining unamortized asset.

2) Capitalized script development costs are evaluated at each reporting period for impairment and to determine if a project is deemed to be abandoned.
Amortization and impairment expenses related to content production assets are included in the Company’s Media segment, and as a component of

Operating expenses on the Consolidated Statements of Operations. Costs to produce our live event programming are expensed immediately when the event is first
broadcast and are not included in the content asset amortization amounts above.

F-27



Table of Contents
WORLD WRESTLING ENTERTAINMENT, INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(In thousands, except share data)

10. Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses

Accounts payable and accrued expenses consisted of the following:

As of December 31,
2020 2019
Trade related $ 7274 $ 9,282
Staff related (1) 17,682 8,651
Management incentive compensation 14,266 6,481
Talent related 4,605 8,184
Accrued WWE Network related expenses 4,253 5,510
Accrued event and television production 12,888 16,627
Accrued legal and professional 4,614 4,832
Accrued legal settlements (2) 39,000 884
Accrued purchases of property and equipment 4,365 4,997
Accrued film liability 6,100 5,986
Accrued other 9,695 9,158
Total $ 124,742 § 80,592

(1) Staff related as of December 31, 2020 includes accruals related to severance expenses associated with a reduction in our workforce.

2) Accrued legal settlements as of December 31, 2020 includes a settlement that is fully covered by an expected insurance recovery through the Company’s insurance carriers.
Accordingly, a $39,000 insurance loss recovery asset is recorded as a component of Prepaid expenses and other current assets on the Company’s Consolidated Balance
Sheet as of December 31, 2020.

Accrued other includes accruals for our international and licensing business activities, as well as other miscellaneous accruals, none of which categories
individually exceeds 5% of current liabilities.

11. Convertible Debt

In December 2016 and January 2017, we issued $215,000 aggregate principal amount of 3.375% convertible senior notes due 2023 (the “Convertible
Notes”). The Convertible Notes are due December 15, 2023, unless earlier repurchased by us or converted by the holders of the Convertible Notes, as described
below. Interest is payable semi-annually in arrears on June 15 and December 15 of each year, beginning on June 15, 2017.

The Convertible Notes are governed by an Indenture between us, as issuer, and U.S. Bank, National Association, as trustee. The Convertible Notes will be
our general unsecured obligations and will rank senior in right of payment to any of our indebtedness that is expressly subordinated in right of payment to the
Convertible Notes; equal in right of payment to any of our unsecured indebtedness that is not so subordinated; effectively junior in right of payment to any of our
secured indebtedness to the extent of the value of the assets securing such indebtedness; and structurally junior to all indebtedness and other liabilities (including
trade payables) of our subsidiaries. In the event of our bankruptcy, liquidation, reorganization or other winding up, our assets that secure secured debt will be
available to pay obligations on the Convertible Notes only after all indebtedness under such secured debt has been repaid in full from such assets.

Upon conversion of the Convertible Notes, we will pay or deliver, as the case may be, cash, shares of our Class A common stock or a combination of cash
and shares of Class A common stock, at our election, at a conversion rate of approximately 40.1405 shares of common stock per $1 principal amount of the
Convertible Notes, which corresponds to an initial conversion price of approximately $24.91 per share of Class A common stock. At any time, prior to the close
on the business day immediately preceding June 15, 2023, the Convertible Notes will be convertible under the following circumstances:

a) During any calendar quarter beginning after the calendar quarter ending on December 31, 2016 (and only during such calendar quarter), if the last reported

sale price of our Class A common stock for at least 20 trading days (whether or not consecutive) during a period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on
the last trading day of the immediately preceding quarter is greater than or equal to 130% of the conversion price on each applicable trading day;
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b) During the 5 business day period after any 10 consecutive trading day period (the “measurement period”) in which the trading price per $1 principal
amount of Convertible Notes for each trading day of the measurement period was less than 98% of the product of the last reported sale price of our Class A
common stock and the conversion rate on each such trading day;

c) Upon the occurrence of specified corporate events; or

d) On or after June 15, 2023 until the close of business on the second scheduled trading day immediately preceding the maturity date, holders may convert all
or any portion of their Convertible Notes, in multiples of $1 principal amount, at the option of the holder regardless of the foregoing circumstances.

Pursuant to item (a) noted above, the Convertible Notes have been convertible since April 1, 2018, and holders of the Convertible Notes have the right to
convert their notes at any time through at least March 31, 2021. As of December 31, 2020, since the Convertible Notes are convertible at the option of the holders,
the Convertible Notes are reflected in current liabilities on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. As of December 31, 2020, no actual conversions have occurred. See
Note 3, Earnings Per Share, for a description of the dilutive nature of the Convertible Notes.

As a result of our cash conversion option, we separately accounted for the value of the embedded conversion option as a debt discount at its issuance date
estimated fair value. The debt discount is amortized as additional non-cash interest expense over the term of the Convertible Notes using the effective interest
method. The equity component is not remeasured as long as it continues to meet the conditions for equity classification. In accounting for the transaction costs
related to the Note issuances, we allocated the total amount of offering costs incurred to the debt and equity components based on their relative values. Offering
costs attributable to the debt component are amortized as non-cash interest expense over the term of the Convertible Notes. Offering costs attributable to the
equity component were netted with the equity component in stockholders' equity.

The Convertible Notes consisted of the following components:

As of December 31,
2020 2019
Debt component:
Principal $ 215,000 $ 215,000
Less: Unamortized debt discount (17,525) (22,738)
Less: Unamortized debt issuance costs (2,792) (3,595)
Net carrying amount $ 194,683 $ 188,667
Equity component (1) $ 35547 $ 35,547
(1) Recorded on the Consolidated Balance Sheets within Additional paid-in capital.
The following table sets forth total interest expense recognized related to the Convertible Notes:
For the year ended
December 31,
2020 2019 2018
3.375% contractual coupon $ 7,256 $ 7,256 $ 7,256
Amortization of debt discount 5,213 4,891 4,588
Amortization of debt issuance costs 803 686 617
Additional interest on Convertible Notes (1) — 1,370 —
Interest expense $ 13272 $ 14203 $ 12,461

(1) During the year ended December 31, 2019, additional nonrecurring interest expense was incurred pursuant to the notes’ indenture related to the removal of the restrictive
legend and assignment of the unrestricted CUSIP on the Convertible Notes.

Convertible Note Hedge

In connection with the pricing of the Convertible Notes in December 2016 and January 2017, we entered into convertible note hedge transactions with
respect to our Class A common stock (the “Note Hedge™) with three separate counterparties. The Note Hedge transactions cover approximately 8.63 million
shares of our Class A common stock and are exercisable upon conversion of the
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Convertible Notes. The Note Hedge will expire on December 15, 2023, unless earlier terminated. The Note Hedge transactions have been accounted for as part of
additional paid-in capital.

Warrant Transactions

In connection with entering into the Note Hedge transactions described above, we also concurrently entered into separate warrant transactions (the
“Warrants”), to sell warrants to acquire approximately 8.63 million shares of our Class A common stock in connection with the Note Hedge transactions at an
initial strike price of approximately $31.89 per share, which represented a premium of approximately 60.0% over the last reported sale price of our Class A
common stock of $19.93 on December 12, 2016 (initial issuance date of the Convertible Notes). The Warrants transactions have been accounted for as part of
Additional paid-in capital.
12. Long-Term Debt and Credit Facility
Long-Term Debt

Included within Long-Term Debt are the following:

As of
December 31, December 31,
2020 2019

Current portion of long-term debt:
Revolving Credit Facility $ 100,000 $ —
Aircraft financing — 3,218
Mortgage 412 395
Total current portion of long-term debt 100,412 3,613

Long-term debt:

Mortgage $ 21,700 § 22,098
Total long-term debt 21,700 22,098
Total $ 122,112 § 25,711

Revolving Credit Facility

In May 2019, the Company entered into an amended and restated $200,000 senior unsecured revolving credit facility with a syndicated group of banks,
with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. acting as Administrative Agent (the “Revolving Credit Facility”). The Revolving Credit Facility has a maturity date of May 24,
2024. Applicable interest rates for the borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility are based on the Company's current consolidated leverage ratio. As of
December 31, 2020, the LIBOR-based rate plus margin was 1.40%. The Company is required to pay a commitment fee calculated at a rate per annum of 0.175%
on the average daily unused portion of the Revolving Credit Facility. Under the terms of the Revolving Credit Facility, the Company is subject to certain financial
covenants and restrictions, including restrictions on our ability to pay dividends and limitations with respect to our indebtedness, liens, mergers and acquisitions,
dispositions of assets, investments, capital expenditures and transactions with affiliates.

In April 2020, as a precautionary measure to further strengthen liquidity due to the impact of COVID-19, the Company borrowed $200,000 under its
Revolving Credit Facility. In December 2020, the Company repaid $100,000 of the amount outstanding. As of December 31, 2020, the Company was in
compliance with the Revolving Credit Facility, and had available debt capacity under the Revolving Credit Facility of $100,000. As of December 31, 2020 and
2019, there was $100,000 and $0 outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility, respectively. In January 2021, the Company repaid the $100,000 outstanding
on the Revolving Credit Facility, and as such, the outstanding balance as of December 31, 2020 has been classified as a current portion of long-term debt on our
Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Mortgage

In September 2016, the Company acquired real property and assumed future obligations under a loan agreement, dated June 8, 2015, in the principal
amount of $23,000, which loan is secured by a mortgage on the property. The loan bears interest at the rate of 4.50% per annum and required monthly interest
only payments of $86 until June 2018 and interest and principal payments of $117 per month thereafter, with a balloon payment on maturity on July 5, 2025.
There is a significant yield maintenance premium for prepayments.
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Pursuant to the loan agreement, since the assets of WWE Real Estate, a subsidiary of the Company, represent collateral for the underlying mortgage, these assets
will not be available to satisfy debts and obligations due to any other creditors of the Company.

As of December 31, 2020, the scheduled principal repayments under our mortgage obligation for the remaining term of the mortgage are as follows:

December 31, 2021 $ 412
December 31, 2022 431
December 31, 2023 451
December 31, 2024 471
December 31, 2025 20,347

$ 22,112

Aircraft Financing
In August 2013, the Company entered into a $31,568 promissory note (the “Aircraft Note™) with Citizens Asset Finance, Inc., for the purchase of a 2007

Bombardier Global 5000 aircraft and refurbishments. The Aircraft Note, which matured on August 7, 2020 and was fully repaid, had an interest at a rate of 2.18%
per annum, and was payable in monthly installments of $406, inclusive of interest.

13. Income Taxes

For the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, the effective tax rate on income from continuing operations was 23.0%, 18.6% and 6.1%,
respectively.

The components of our tax provision are as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018

Current taxes:

Federal $ 9,386 $ 294) $ 81

State and local 8,843 1,422 235

Foreign 23,945 7,028 7,191
Deferred taxes:

Federal (1,391) 8,015 (1,774)

State and local (1,445) 1,412 737

Foreign — 34 21)
Total income tax expense $ 39,338  $ 17,617 $ 6,449

Within the current foreign tax provision for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 is $24,106, $7,587 and $7,350, respectively, of foreign
withholding taxes paid on income included within the US pre-tax book income below.

Components of income before income taxes are as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018
United States $ 170,668 $ 92,701 $ 104,338
Foreign 441 1,977 1,699
Total income before income taxes $ 171,109 $ 94,678 $ 106,037
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The following sets forth the difference between the provision/(benefit) for income taxes computed at the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate of 21% and
that reported for financial statement purposes:

Year Ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018
Statutory U.S. federal tax $ 35930 $ 19,880 $ 22,268
State and local taxes, net of federal tax benefit 5,061 3,962 4915
Foreign rate differential 38 (53) (50)
Tax exempt interest income — (16) (32)
Nondeductible executive compensation 2,427 1,669 2,672
Unrecognized tax benefits (127) (23) 46
Meals and entertainment 119 261 233
Employee Stock Purchase Plan 53 87) 248
Deferred tax asset remeasurement — — (111)
Deemed repatriation transition tax — — (19)
Foreign-derived intangible income (FDII) (4,892) (422) (1,346)
Global intangible low-taxed income (GILTI) 175 273 122
Excess tax benefits related to the vesting of share-based compensation 388 (9,394) (22,473)
Other 166 1,567 (24)
Provision for income taxes $ 39,338 § 17,617 $ 6,449

The tax effects of temporary differences and net operating losses that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
consisted of the following:

As of December 31,
2020 2019
Deferred tax assets:
Accounts receivable $ 869 § 110
Inventory 615 1,702
Deferred income 8,020 1,555
Stock compensation 3,955 5,572
Net operating loss carryforward 1,187 1,080
Foreign tax credits — 7,158
Investments 257 695
Intangible assets 1,645 1,750
Capitalized content production costs 1,857 1,410
Accrued liabilities and reserves 2,857 1,041
Lease obligations 11,513 7,951
Federal benefit related to uncertain tax positions 29 40
Deferred tax assets, gross 32,804 30,064
Valuation allowance (1,187) (1,080)
Deferred tax assets, net 31,617 28,984
Deferred tax liabilities:
Property and equipment depreciation (15,927) (12,509)
Deferred revenue (781) (1,664)
Right-of-use assets (2,587) (4,470)
Investments (2,270) (3,124)
Deferred tax liabilities (21,565) (21,767)
Total deferred tax assets, net $ 10,052 § 7,217
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The temporary differences described above represent differences between the tax basis of assets or liabilities and amounts reported in the consolidated
financial statements that will result in taxable or deductible amounts in future years when the reported amounts of the assets or liabilities are recovered or settled.
The Company received tax deductions from the vesting of restricted stock units and performance stock units of $27,349, $65,885 and $115,792 in 2020, 2019 and
2018, respectively.

As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, we had $10,052 and $7,217, respectively, of deferred tax assets, net, included on our Consolidated Balance Sheets.
The increase in our net deferred tax asset balance was primarily driven by licensing royalty recognition, partially offset by 100% bonus depreciation.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, we recognized $388 of excess tax expenses related to the Company’s share-based compensation awards at
vesting. During the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, we recognized $9,394 and $22,473, respectively, of excess tax benefits related to the Company’s
share-based compensation awards at vesting. Income tax effects of vested awards are included within the provision for income taxes on the Consolidated
Statements of Operations. The tax expenses and benefit recorded are driven by the change in the Company’s stock price between the original grant date of the
awards and their subsequent vesting date. The corresponding offset of these tax expenses and benefits is included as a component of Prepaid expenses and other
current assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Discrete tax items, including the aforementioned excess tax expenses and benefits, resulted in a net tax benefit of $351, $7,919 and $22,650 during the
years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Excluding these items, our effective tax rate was 23%, 27% and 27% for the years ended December
31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, we had valuation allowances of $1,187 and $1,080 respectively, to reduce our deferred tax assets to an amount more
likely than not to be recovered. This valuation allowance relates to foreign income taxes and the resulting net operating losses in foreign jurisdictions where we
have ceased operations.

The Company considers all available evidence, both positive and negative, to determine whether, based on the weight of that evidence, a valuation
allowance is required to reduce the net deferred tax assets to the amount that is more likely than not to be realized in future periods. The Company believes that
based on past performance, expected future taxable income and prudent and feasible tax planning strategies, it is more likely than not that the net deferred tax
assets will be realized. Changes in these factors may cause us to increase our valuation allowance on deferred tax assets, which would impact our income tax
expense in the period we determine that these factors have changed.

We are subject to periodic audits of our various tax returns by government agencies which could result in possible tax liabilities. Although the outcome of
these matters cannot currently be determined, we believe the outcome of these audits will not have a material effect on our financial statements.

Unrecognized Tax Benefits

For the year ended December 31, 2020, we recognized $169 of previously unrecognized tax benefits. This primarily relates to the statute of limitations
expiring in certain state and local jurisdictions. Included in the amount recognized was $30 of potential interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions.
For the year ended December 31, 2019, we recognized $193 of previously unrecognized tax benefits relating to the statute of limitations expiring in certain state
and local jurisdictions. Included in the amount recognized was $8 of potential interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions. The recognition of these
amounts contributed to our effective tax rate of 23.0% for the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to 18.6% for the year ended December 31, 2019.

At December 31, 2020, we had $130 of unrecognized tax benefits, which if recognized, would affect our effective tax rate, which is classified in Other
non-current liabilities. At December 31, 2019, we had $251 of unrecognized tax benefits, which is classified in Other non-current liabilities.
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Unrecognized tax benefit activity is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2020 2019

Beginning Balance- January 1 $ 251§ 420
Increase to unrecognized tax benefits recorded for positions taken during

the current year 41 7
(Decrease) Increase to unrecognized tax benefits recorded for positions

taken during a prior period 2) 9
Decrease to unrecognized tax benefits resulting from a lapse of the

applicable statute of limitations (160) (185)
Ending Balance- December 31 $ 130§ 251

We recognize potential accrued interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions in income tax expense. We have $25 of accrued interest and $15 of
accrued penalties related to uncertain tax positions as of December 31, 2020 classified in Other non-current liabilities. At December 31, 2019, we had $63 of
accrued interest and $31 of accrued penalties related to uncertain tax positions classified in Other non-current liabilities.

Based upon the expiration of statutes of limitations and possible settlements in several jurisdictions, we believe it is reasonably possible that the total
amount of previously unrecognized tax benefits may decrease by $60 within 12 months after December 31, 2020.

We file income tax returns in the United States and various state, local, and foreign jurisdictions. During 2020 and 2019, the Company settled audits with
various state and local jurisdictions. We are generally subject to examination by the IRS for years ending on or after December 31, 2016. We are also subject to
examination by various state and local jurisdictions for years ending on or after December 31, 2016.

14. Content Production Incentives
The Company has access to various governmental programs that are designed to promote content production within the United States of America and
certain international jurisdictions. Incentives earned with respect to expenditures on qualifying film production activities and capital projects are recorded as an

offset to the related asset balances. Incentives earned with respect to television and other production activities are recorded as an offset to production expenses.
The Company recognizes these benefits when we have reasonable assurance regarding the realizable amount of the incentives.

We recorded the following incentives during the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018:

Year Ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018
Television production incentives $ 18,367 $ 13,539 $ 12,166
Feature film production incentives — 288 —
Infrastructure improvement incentives on qualifying capital projects = 1,438 —
Total $ 18,367 $ 15,265 $ 12,166
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15. Commitments and Contingencies

We have certain commitments, including various service contracts with certain vendors and various talent. Our future commitments related to our
operating and finance leases are separately disclosed in Note 8, Leases.

Future minimum payments as of December 31, 2020 under the agreements described above were as follows:

Service Contracts

and Talent
Commitments
2021 $ 28,369
2022 21,665
2023 10,299
2024 9,401
2025 8,023
Thereafter 7,063
Total $ 84,820

Legal Proceedings

On October 23, 2014, a lawsuit was filed in the U. S. District Court for the District of Oregon, entitled William Albert Haynes III, on behalf of himself and

downplayed, and/or failed to disclose the risks associated with traumatic brain injuries suffered by WWE’s performers and sought class action status. On
March 31, 2015, the Company filed a motion to dismiss the first amended class action complaint in its entirety or, if not dismissed, to transfer the lawsuit to the
U.S. District Court for the District of Connecticut. Without addressing the merits of the Company's motion to dismiss, the Court transferred the case to
Connecticut on June 25, 2015. The plaintiffs filed an objection to such transfer, which was denied on July 27, 2015. On January 16, 2015, a second lawsuit was
filed in the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania, entitled Evan Singleton and Vito LoGrasso,_individually and on behalf of all others
transfer venue to the U.S. District Court for the District of Connecticut due to forum-selection clauses in the contracts between WWE and the plaintiffs and that
motion was granted on March 23, 2015. The plaintiffs filed an amended complaint on May 22, 2015 and, following a scheduling conference in which the court
ordered the plaintiffs to cure various pleading deficiencies, the plaintiffs filed a second amended complaint on June 15, 2015. On June 29, 2015, WWE moved to
dismiss the second amended complaint in its entirety. On April 9, 2015, a third lawsuit was filed in the U. S. District Court for the Central District of California,

Connecticut due to forum-selection clauses in the contracts between WWE and the plaintiffs, which the California court granted on July 10, 2015. On
September 21, 2015, the plaintiffs amended this complaint, and, on November 16, 2015, the Company moved to dismiss the amended complaint. Each of these
suits sought unspecified actual, compensatory and punitive damages and injunctive relief, including ordering medical monitoring. The Haynes and McCullough
cases purport to be class actions. On February 18, 2015, a lawsuit was filed in Tennessee state court and subsequently removed to the U.S. District Court for the
Western District of Tennessee, entitled Cassandra Frazier, individually and as next of kin to her deceased husband, Nelson Lee Frazier, Jr.,_and as personal

Northern District of Texas entitled Michelle James, as mother and next friend of Matthew Osborne, minor child, and Teagan Osborne, a minor child v. World
Wrestling Entertainment, Inc. These lawsuits contain many of the same allegations as the other lawsuits alleging traumatic brain injuries and further allege that
the injuries contributed to these former talents’ deaths. WWE moved to transfer the Frazier and Osborne lawsuits to the U.S. District Court for the District of
Connecticut based on forum-selection clauses in the decedents’ contracts with WWE, which motions were granted by the respective courts. On
November 23, 2015, amended complaints were filed in Frazier and Osborne, which the Company moved to dismiss on December 16, 2015 and
December 21, 2015, respectively. On November 10, 2016, the Court granted the Company’s motions to dismiss the Frazier and Osborne lawsuits in their entirety.
On June 29, 2015, the Company filed a declaratory judgment action in the U. S. District Court for the District of Connecticut entitled World Wrestling_
Entertainment, Inc. v. Robert Windham, Thomas Billington, James Ware, Oreal Perras and various John and Jane Does seeking a declaration against these former
performers that their threatened claims related to alleged traumatic brain injuries and/or other tort claims are time-barred. On September 21, 2015, the defendants
filed a motion to dismiss this complaint, which the Company opposed. The Court previously ordered a stay of discovery in all cases pending decisions on the
motions to dismiss. On January 15, 2016, the Court partially lifted the stay and
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permitted discovery only on three issues in the case involving Singleton and LoGrasso. Such discovery was completed by June 1, 2016. On March 21, 2016, the
Court issued a memorandum of decision granting in part and denying in part the Company’s motions to dismiss the Haynes, Singleton/LoGrasso, and
McCullough lawsuits. The Court granted the Company’s motions to dismiss the Haynes and McCullough lawsuits in their entirety and granted the Company’s
motion to dismiss all claims in the Singleton/LoGrasso lawsuit except for the claim of fraud by omission. On March 22, 2016, the Court issued an order
dismissing the Windham lawsuit based on the Court’s memorandum of decision on the motions to dismiss. On April 4, 2016, the Company filed a motion for
reconsideration with respect to the Court’s decision not to dismiss the fraud by omission claim in the Singleton/LoGrasso lawsuit and, on April 5, 2016, the
Company filed a motion for reconsideration with respect to the Court dismissal of the Windham lawsuit. On July 21, 2016, the Court denied the Company’s
motion in the Singleton/LoGrasso lawsuit and granted in part the Company’s motion in the Windham lawsuit. On April 20, 2016, the plaintiffs filed notices of
appeal of the Haynes and McCullough lawsuits. On April 27, 2016, the Company moved to dismiss the appeals for lack of appellate jurisdiction, which motions
were granted, and the appeals were dismissed with leave to appeal upon the resolution of all of the consolidated cases. The Company filed a motion for summary
judgment on the sole remaining claim in the Singleton/LoGrasso lawsuit, which was granted on March 28, 2018. The Company also filed a motion for judgment
on the pleadings against the Windham defendants. Lastly, on July 18, 2016, a lawsuit was filed in the U.S. District Court for the District of Connecticut, entitled
Joseph M. Laurinaitis, et al. vs. World Wrestling_Entertainment, Inc. and Vincent K. McMahon,_individually and as the trustee of certain trusts. This lawsuit
contains many of the same allegations as the other lawsuits alleging traumatic brain injuries and further alleges, among other things, that the plaintiffs were
misclassified as independent contractors rather than employees denying them, among other things, rights and benefits under the Occupational Safety and Health
Act (OSHA), the National Labor Relations Act (NLRA), the Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA), federal tax law, and various state Worker’s Compensation
laws. This lawsuit also alleges that the booking contracts and other agreements between the plaintiffs and the Company are unconscionable and should be
declared void, entitling the plaintiffs to certain damages relating to the Company’s use of their intellectual property. The lawsuit alleges claims for violation of
RICO, unjust enrichment, and an accounting against Mr. McMahon. The Company and Mr. McMahon moved to dismiss and for sanctions with respect to this
complaint on October 19, 2016. On November 9, 2016, the Laurinaitis plaintiffs filed an amended complaint. On December 23, 2016, the Company and Mr.
McMahon moved to dismiss and for sanctions with respect to the amended complaint. On September 29, 2017, the Court issued an order on the motion to dismiss
pending in the Laurinaitis case and on the motion for judgment on the pleadings pending in the Windham case. The Court reserved judgment on the pending
motions and ordered that within thirty-five (35) days of the date of the order the Laurinaitis plaintiffs and the Windham defendants file amended pleadings that
comply with the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The Court further ordered that each of the Laurinaitis plaintiffs and the Windham defendants submit to the
Court for in camera review affidavits signed and sworn under penalty of perjury setting forth facts within each plaintiff’s or declaratory judgment-defendant’s
personal knowledge that form the factual basis of their claim or defense. On November 3, 2017, the Laurinaitis plaintiffs filed a second amended complaint. The
Company and Mr. McMahon believe that the second amended complaint failed to comply with the Court’s September 29, 2017 order and otherwise remained
legally defective for all of the reasons set forth in their motion to dismiss the amended complaint. Also on November 3, 2017, the Windham defendants filed a
second answer. On November 17, 2017, the Company and Mr. McMabhon filed a response that, among other things, urged the Court to grant the motion for
judgment on the pleadings against the Windham defendants and dismiss the Laurinaitis plaintiffs’ complaint with prejudice and award sanctions against the
Laurinaitis plaintiffs’ counsel because the amended pleadings failed to comply with the Court’s September 29, 2017 order and the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure. On September 17, 2018, the Court granted the motion to dismiss filed by the Company and Mr. McMahon in the Laurinaitis case in its entirety,
awarded sanctions against the Laurinaitis plaintiffs’ counsel, and granted the Company’s motion for judgment on the pleadings against the Windham defendants.
The plaintiffs attempted to appeal these decisions. On November 16, 2018, the Company moved to dismiss all of the appeals, except for the appeal of the
dismissal of the Laurinaitis case, for being filed untimely. On April 4, 2019, the Second Circuit issued an order referring the Company’s motions to dismiss to the
panel that was going to determine the merits of the appeals. The plaintiffs-appellants’ opening brief was filed on July 8, 2019. The Company and Mr. McMahon
filed their appellees’ brief on October 7, 2019. The plaintiffs-appellants filed a reply brief on October 28, 2019. The Second Circuit held oral argument on June 5,
2020. On September 9, 2020, the Second Circuit issued a summary order, dismissing the appeals of the sanctions orders and the merits appeals of the dismissal of
all claims in the Haynes, McCullough, Frazier, and Singleton cases for lack of appellate jurisdiction and affirming the judgment of the district court on all other
claims. On September 23, 2020, the plaintiffs-appellants filed a petition for rehearing/rehearing en banc, which was denied on October 15, 2020. The Company
believes all claims and threatened claims against the Company in these various lawsuits were prompted by the same plaintiffs’ lawyer and that all are without
merit. The Company intends to continue to defend itself against any further attempt to appeal these decisions vigorously.
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On March 6, 2020, the Company along with its Chairman and CEO, Vince McMahon, and former-WWE officers and directors, Michelle Wilson and
George Barrios (collectively, the “Individual Defendants”), were sued in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York in a case captioned City of
McMahon, George A. Barrios, and Michelle D. Wilson, No. 1:20-cv-02031-JSR. The complaint alleges that the Company and the Individual Defendants made
materially false and misleading statements in violation of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 regarding WWE’s strategic relationship with the Kingdom of Saudi
Arabia. Specifically, the complaint alleges that various public statements made by the Company and the Individual Defendants were false and misleading because
they failed to disclose certain adverse facts regarding WWE’s strategic relationship with Saudi Arabia that supposedly was known by them and, as a result, the
plaintiff class allegedly purchased WWE stock at artificially inflated prices. On March 12, 2020 a nearly-identical lawsuit was filed in the U.S. District Court for

Vincent K. McMahon, George A. Barrios, and Michelle D. Wilson, No. 1:20-cv-02223-JSR. This lawsuit was filed as related to the City of Warren case and was
assigned to the same judge handling the City of Warren case. By Order dated May 12, 2020, the City of Warren and Szaniawski lawsuits were consolidated for all
purposes. After multiple parties filed motions to be appointed lead plaintiff for the putative class in the consolidated action, on May 22, 2020, the Court issued a
memorandum order selecting the Firefighters’ Pension System of the City of Kansas City, Missouri to be lead plaintiff and their attorneys, Labaton Sucharow
LLP, to be lead counsel for the putative class. On May 26, 2020, the Company served Rule 11 motion for sanctions on the attorneys for the City of Warren Police
and Fire Retirement System, the attorneys for Paul Szaniawski, and Labaton Sucharow LLP. The Rule 11 motion identified false allegations in the originally filed
complaints and was supported by six declarations from Company executives and third-parties with direct first-hand knowledge of the matters at issue. Following
service of the Rule 11 motion, the attorneys for the City of Warren Police and Fire Retirement System and the attorneys for Paul Szaniawski voluntarily dismissed
their complaints before the expiration of the Rule 11 safe-harbor period. On June 8, 2020, the Firefighters’ Pension System of the City of Kansas City, Missouri
filed a consolidated amended class action complaint. On June 26, 2020, the Company moved to dismiss the consolidated amended complaint in its entirety. The
Court held oral argument on the Company’s motion to dismiss on July 30, 2020. On August 6, 2020, the Court denied the Company’s motion to dismiss. On
August 19, 2020, the Court issued a case management plan that, among other things, scheduled this case to be trial ready on February 22, 2021. On November 18,
2020, the Company entered into a term sheet (the “Term Sheet”) to settle this action, subject to notice to the class and preliminary and final approval by the Court.
The settlement will include a full release of all Defendants in connection with the allegations made in the lawsuit, and will not contain any admission of liability
or admission as to the validity or truth of any or all allegations or claims by any of the Defendants. The Term Sheet provides for a settlement payment, subject to
Court approval, of $39,000 (inclusive of all Plaintiffs’ attorneys fees and expenses and settlement costs), all of which the Company expects will be paid by the
Company’s insurance carriers. The Company believes that resolving the matter is the right business decision and that it is prudent to end the protracted and
uncertain class action process. On December 23, 2020, lead plaintiff filed an unopposed motion for preliminary approval of settlement with the Court.

Additionally, three purported shareholder derivative suits have been filed against the members of the Company’s Board of Directors patterned after the
securities class action complaints filed in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York. Merholz et al. v. Vincent K. McMabhon et al, No. 3:20-cv-
00557-VAB, was filed in the U.S. District Court for the District of Connecticut and assigned to the Honorable Victor A. Bolden. On May 29, 2020, the
Defendants served Merholz’s counsel with a Rule 11 motion that identified the false allegations in the complaint. On May 19, 2020, Merholz filed an amended
complaint prior to the expiration of the Rule 11 safe-harbor period, which is substantially similar to the consolidated amended class action complaint filed in the
securities class action. Because Merholz’s amended complaint continued to assert allegations that were proven to be false by the Defendants’ Rule 11 motion
regarding the original complaint, the Defendants served Merholz’s counsel with a Rule 11 motion regarding the amended complaint on July 2, 2020. On July 28,
2020, Merholz filed a second amended complaint. Kooi et al. v. Vincent K. McMahon et al., No. 3:20-cv-00743-VAB, was originally filed in Connecticut
Superior Court and was removed by the Defendants to the U.S. District Court for the District of Connecticut on June 1, 2020. The Kooi lawsuit was deemed to be
related to the Merholz lawsuit and transferred to Judge Bolden. On June 8, 2020, Kooi filed a motion to remand the lawsuit to state court. The Defendants filed its
opposition to the motion to remand on June 29, 2020. Following Kooi’s affirmation of the allegations of the complaint in federal court by filing the motion to
remand, on June 12, 2020, the Defendants served Kooi’s counsel with a Rule 11 motion similar to that served on counsel in the Merholz lawsuit. On July 3, 2020,
Kooi filed an amended complaint that withdrew the false allegations identified in the Defendants’ Rule 11 motion. Nordstrom et al. v. Vincent K. McMahon et al.,
No. 3:20-cv-00904-VAB, was originally filed in Connecticut Superior Court, and also removed by the Defendants to the U.S. District Court for the District of
Connecticut on July 1, 2020. The Nordstrom lawsuit was deemed to be related to the Merholz and Kooi lawsuits and was also transferred to Judge Bolden.
Following Nordstrom’s affirmation of the allegations of the complaint in federal court, on July 24, 2020, the Defendants served Nordstrom’s counsel with a Rule
11 motion similar to that served on counsel in the Merholz and Kooi lawsuits. On July 31, 2020, Nordstrom filed a motion to remand the lawsuit to state court,
which the Defendants opposed. On August 14, 2020, Nordstrom filed an amended complaint in the U.S. District Court for the District of Connecticut. On July 2,
2020, the Defendants moved to consolidate the Merholz, Kooi, and
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Nordstrom lawsuits for all purposes. Following a status conference held on July 24, 2020, on August 1, 2020, the Court denied the Defendants’ motion to
consolidate without prejudice to renew following resolution of any motions to dismiss and motions to remand. The Defendants filed a consolidated motion to
dismiss the complaints in the Merholz, Kooi, and Nordstrom lawsuits on August 28, 2020. Merholz, Kooi, and Nordstrom filed oppositions to the motion to
dismiss on September 18, 2020 and the Defendants filed its reply on October 2, 2020. Oral argument on the motion to dismiss and motions to remand is
scheduled for October 29, 2020. On October 23, 2020, another shareholder, Dennis Palkon, moved to intervene in the proceedings before Judge Bolden, to have
his counsel appointed as lead counsel, to designate the proposed complaint that he filed with his motion to intervene as the operative compliant, and to deny as
moot Defendants’ pending motions to dismiss in light of the newly-filed complaint. On November 7, 2020, the Court granted the Defendants’ motion to dismiss
the Merholz, Kooi, and Nordstrom actions without prejudice, while reserving a determination on whether the dismissal would be with prejudice pending
resolution of the motion to intervene. On November 20, 2020, the Defendants filed their Opposition to Palkon’s motion to intervene and Palkon filed his reply on
December 4, 2020. On October 28, 2020, another shareholder, Bernard Leavy, filed a notice of joinder in Palkon’s motion to intervene, which the Defendants
opposed. The Company believes all claims in the securities class action and related derivative actions are without merit, and intends to defend itself and the
members of the Board of Directors vigorously against them.

In addition to the foregoing, from time to time we become a party to other lawsuits and claims. By its nature, the outcome of litigation is not known, but
the Company does not currently expect this ordinary course litigation to have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or
liquidity.

16. Related Party Transactions

Vincent K. McMahon, Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer, controls a substantial majority of the voting power of the issued
and outstanding shares of our common stock. Through the beneficial ownership of a substantial majority of our Class B common stock, Mr. McMahon can
effectively exercise control over our affairs.

As previously announced, in April 2018, the Company entered into transactions with Alpha Entertainment, LLC (“Alpha”), an entity controlled by Vincent
K. McMahon, granting Alpha rights to launch a professional football league under the name “XFL”. Under these agreements, WWE received, among other
things, an equity interest in Alpha without payment by, or other financial obligation on the part of, WWE. The investment was accounted for under the equity
method of accounting. WWE’s equity interest in the net assets of Alpha at the transaction closing date on April 3, 2018 was insignificant. After Alpha’s formation,
we recorded our proportionate share of Alpha’s reported net losses which exceeded the carrying amount of the investment and reduced the investment value to
zero as of June 30, 2018. In connection with the Alpha transactions, WWE also entered into a support services agreement to provide Alpha with certain
administrative support services with such services billed to Alpha on a cost-plus margin basis. On April 13, 2020, Alpha filed for Chapter 11 bankruptcy, and the
support services agreement was subsequently amended and assigned to Alpha’s successor. During the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018 the
Company billed Alpha $1,006, $3,250 and $1,305, respectively, for services rendered under the support services agreement. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019,
the Company had $506 and $236, respectively, of current receivables for amounts billed to Alpha. All amounts due from Alpha under the support services
agreement have subsequently been recouped.

17. Stockholders’ Equity
Stock Repurchase Program

In February 2019, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized a stock repurchase program of up to $500,000 of our common stock. Repurchases may be
made from time to time at management’s discretion subject to certain pre-approved parameters and in accordance with all applicable securities and other laws and
regulations. The stock repurchase program does not obligate the Company to repurchase any minimum dollar amount or number of shares and may be modified,
suspended or discontinued at any time.

The Company did not repurchase any shares of common stock in the open market during the year ended December 31, 2020. During the year ended
December 31, 2019, the Company repurchased 1,398,385 shares of common stock in the open market at an average price of $59.67 for an aggregate amount of
$83,441. All share repurchases have been retired. As of December 31, 2020, $416,559 of common stock may be repurchased under the stock repurchase program
announced in February 2019.
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Class B Convertible Common Stock

Our Class B common stock is fully convertible into Class A common stock, on a one for one basis, at any time at the option of the holder. The two classes
are entitled to equal per share dividends and distributions and vote together as a class with each share of Class B entitled to ten votes and each share of Class A
entitled to one vote, except when separate class voting is required by applicable law. If, at any time, any shares of Class B common stock are beneficially owned
by any person other than Vincent McMahon, Linda McMahon, any descendant of either of them, any entity which is wholly owned and is controlled by any
combination of such persons or any trust, all the beneficiaries of which are any combination of such persons, each of those shares will automatically convert into
shares of Class A common stock. During the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, Class B shares were sold, resulting in their conversion to Class A
shares. Through his beneficial ownership of a substantial majority of our Class B common stock, our controlling stockholder, Vincent McMahon, can effectively
exercise control over our affairs, and his interests could conflict with the holders of our Class A common stock.

Dividends

We declared and paid quarterly dividends of $0.12 per share, totaling $37,249, $37,431, and $37,243 on all Class A and Class B shares for the years ended
December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

18. Stock-based Compensation

Our 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the “2016 Plan”) provides for the grant of incentive or non-qualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted
stock, restricted stock units, other stock-based awards and performance awards to eligible participants as determined by the Compensation Committee of the
Board of Directors. Awards may be granted as incentives and rewards to encourage officers, employees, consultants, advisors and independent contractors of the
Company and its affiliates and to non-employee directors of the Company to participate in our long-term success.

As of December 31, 2020, there were approximately 3.3 million shares available for future grants under the 2016 Plan. It is our policy to issue new shares
to satisfy option exercises and the vesting of RSUs, PSUs and PSU-TSRs.

Stock-based compensation costs related to RSUs, PSUs and PSU-TSRs totaled $26,737, $28,025 and $37,323 for the years ended December 31, 2020,
2019 and 2018, respectively.

During the first quarter of 2020, certain executives of the Company who received PSUs and PSU-TSRs departed the Company, and therefore forfeited their
respective shares. The Company estimates forfeitures on our stock-based compensation awards based on historical trends when recognizing compensation
expense and adjusts the estimate of forfeitures when they are expected to differ or as forfeitures occur. The units associated with these forfeited awards are
included in the respective tables below.

Restricted Stock Units

The Company grants RSUs to officers and employees under the 2016 Plan. Stock-based compensation costs associated with our RSUs are determined
using the fair market value of the Company's common stock on the date of the grant. These costs are recognized over the requisite service period using the graded
vesting method, net of estimated forfeitures. RSUs have a service requirement typically over a 3.5 years vesting schedule and vest in equal annual installments.
We estimate forfeitures based on historical trends when recognizing compensation expense and adjust the estimate of forfeitures when they are expected to differ
or as forfeitures occur. Unvested RSUs accrue dividend equivalents at the same rate as are paid on our shares of Class A common stock. The dividend equivalents
are subject to the same vesting schedule as the underlying RSUs.
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The following tables summarize the RSU activity for the year ended December 31, 2020:

Weighted-
Average

Grant-Date

Units Fair Value
Unvested at January 1, 2020 272,407 $ 4541
Granted 322489 $ 49.94
Vested (313,089) $ 4291
Forfeited (35,494) $ 62.14
Dividend equivalents 3993 § 49.62
Unvested at December 31, 2020 250,306 $ 53.78

Year Ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018

Tax benefits realized $ 14319 $ 13,813  $ 16,272
Weighted-average grant-date fair value of RSUs granted 16,106 7,327 6,872
Fair value of RSUs vested 13,434 4,763 3,709

As of December 31, 2020, total unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to unvested RSUs net of estimated forfeitures was $6,994 before
income taxes and is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately 2.2 years.

Performance Stock Units

The Company grants PSUs to officers and employees under the 2016 Plan. Stock-based compensation costs associated with our PSUs are initially
determined using the fair market value of the Company's common stock on the date the awards are approved by our Compensation Committee (service inception
date). The vesting of these PSUs is subject to certain performance conditions and a service requirement of typically 3.5 years. Until the performance conditions
are met, stock compensation costs associated with these PSUs are re-measured each reporting period based upon the fair market value of the Company's common
stock and the estimated performance attainment on the reporting date. The ultimate number of PSUs that are issued to an employee is the result of the actual
performance of the Company at the end of the performance period compared to the performance conditions and can range from 0% to 200% of the initial grant.
Stock compensation costs for our PSUs are recognized over the requisite service period using the graded vesting method, net of estimated forfeitures. We estimate
forfeitures based on historical trends when recognizing compensation expense and adjust the estimate of forfeitures when they are expected to differ or as
forfeitures occur. Unvested PSUs accrue dividend equivalents once the performance conditions are met at the same rate as are paid on our shares of Class A
common stock. The dividend equivalents are subject to the same vesting schedule as the underlying PSUs.

During the third quarter of 2020, the Compensation Committee approved an agreement to grant PSUs to an executive management member for an
aggregate value of $15,000. The award vests in two tranches of 40%, and 60%, during the years 2022 and 2025, respectively. The first award tranche of $6,000
has performance conditions tied to results through September 2022, and the second award of $9,000 has performance conditions tied to results through September
2025. The Company began expensing the second award of $9,000 concurrent with the first award beginning on the service inception date in August 2020. The
Company accounts for the first award as an equity award since the target shares are known at inception, while the second award is classified as a liability award
until the number of shares is determined upon settlement of the award. The liability and the corresponding expense are adjusted at the end of each quarter until the
date of settlement, considering the probability that the performance conditions will be satisfied. As of December 31, 2020, the liability portion of the award was
$712, which is included in Other non-current liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. There are no units associated with the second award in the table below
as of December 31, 2020 since the initial target number of shares will be determined by the Compensation Committee in 2022 based on the terms of the award.
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The following tables summarize the PSU activity for the year ended December 31, 2020:

Weighted-
Average

Grant-Date

Units Fair Value
Unvested at January 1, 2020 721398 $ 67.97
Granted 407,732 $ 48.05
Achievement adjustment (40,509) S 44.50
Vested (347,867) $ 59.88
Forfeited (166,922) §$ 61.05
Dividend equivalents 4918 $ 67.24
Unvested at December 31, 2020 578,750 § 57.13

Year Ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018

Tax benefits realized $ 13,030 $ 52,072 $ 99,520
Weighted-average grant-date fair value of PSUs granted 19,592 10,111 27,635
Fair value of PSUs vested 20,830 32,523 24,591

During the year ended December 31, 2019 we granted 155,872 PSUs, which were subject to performance conditions. During the first quarter of 2020, it
was determined that the performance conditions related to these PSUs were partially met, which resulted in an achievement adjustment decrease of 40,509 PSUs
in 2020 relating to the initial 2019 PSU grant.

As of December 31, 2020, total unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to unvested PSUs, net of estimated forfeitures, was $14,616
before income taxes, and is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately 1.8 years.

Performance Stock Units with a Market Condition Tied to Relative Total Shareholder Return

In March 2018, the Compensation Committee approved certain agreements to grant PSU-TSRs with a market condition where vesting is conditioned upon
the total shareholder return performance of the Company’s stock relative to the performance of a peer group over five distinct performance periods from 2018
through 2024. The five distinct performance periods end in March from 2020 to 2024, with the awards from each performance period vesting in July of each year.
The payout for each performance period can vest at between 50% and 175% of the target award based on the percentile ranking of WWE’s total shareholder
return performance with vesting capped at 100% if WWE’s absolute total shareholder return is negative. The grant date fair value of the award was calculated
using a Monte-Carlo simulation model which factors in the number of awards to be earned based on the achievement of the market condition. This model
simulates the various stock price movements of the Company and peer group companies using certain assumptions, including the stock price of WWE and those
of the peer group, stock price volatility, the risk-free interest rate, correlation coefficients, and expected dividend yield. The grant date fair value of the award is
being amortized as compensation cost over the requisite service period using the graded vesting method.

The following tables summarize the PSU-TSR activity for the year ended December 31, 2020:

Weighted-
Average

Grant-Date

Units Fair Value
Unvested at January 1, 2020 340,971 $ 47.42
Granted — 3 —
Achievement adjustment 7,672 $ 47.30
Vested (17,951) $ 46.26
Forfeited 272,777) $ 47.96
Dividend equivalents 50 3 47.30
Unvested at December 31, 2020 57,965 § 47.30
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Year Ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018
Tax benefits realized $ — 3 — —
Weighted-average grant-date fair value of PSU-TSRs granted — — 16,168
Fair value of PSU-TSRs vested 830 — —

As of December 31, 2020, total unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to unvested PSU-TSRs, net of estimated forfeitures, was $1,171
before income taxes, and is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately 2.7 years.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

We provide a stock purchase plan for our employees. Under the plan, all eligible regular full-time employees may contribute up to 10% of their base
compensation (subject to certain dollar limits) to the semi-annual purchase of shares of our common stock. The purchase price is 85% of the fair market value at
certain plan-defined dates. As this plan is defined as compensatory, a charge is recorded to General and administrative expenses for the difference between the fair
market value and the discounted price. During 2020, 2019 and 2018, employees purchased 57,020, 34,001 and 65,255 shares of our common stock which resulted
in an expense of $473, $488, and $1,981, respectively. As of December 31, 2020, 1.4 million shares of the Company's common stock are available for issuance
under the 2012 Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

19. Employee Benefit Plans

We sponsor a 401(k) defined contribution plan covering substantially all employees. Under this plan, participants are allowed to make contributions based
on a percentage of their salary, subject to a statutorily prescribed annual limit. We make matching contributions of 50% of each participant’s contributions, up to
6% of eligible compensation. We may also make additional discretionary contributions to the 401(k) plan. Our expense for matching contributions to the 401(k)
plan was $2,968, $2,977 and $2,570 for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The Company did not make any discretionary
contributions for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 or 2018.

20. Segment Information

The Company currently classifies its operations into three reportable segments: Media, Live Events and Consumer Products. Segment information is
prepared on the same basis that our chief operating decision maker manages the business, evaluates financial results, and makes key operating decisions.

Unallocated corporate general and administrative expenses largely relate to corporate functions such as finance, legal, human resources, facilities and
information technology. These unallocated corporate general and administrative expenses will be shown, as applicable, as a reconciling item in tables where
segment and consolidated results are both shown. Revenues from transactions between our operating segments are not material.

The Company presents Adjusted OIBDA as the primary measure of segment profit (loss). The Company defines Adjusted OIBDA as operating income
before depreciation and amortization, excluding stock-based compensation, certain impairment charges and other non-recurring material items. Adjusted OIBDA
includes depreciation and amortization expenses directly related to supporting the operations of our segments, including content production asset amortization,
depreciation and amortization of costs related to content delivery and technology assets utilized for WWE Network, as well as amortization of right-of-use assts
related to finance leases of equipment used to produce and broadcast our live events. The Company believes the presentation of Adjusted OIBDA is relevant and
useful for investors because it allows investors to view our segment performance in the same manner as the primary method used by management to evaluate
segment performance and make decisions about allocating resources. Additionally, we believe that Adjusted OIBDA is a primary measure used by media
investors, analysts and peers for comparative purposes.

We do not disclose assets by segment information. We do not provide assets by segment information to our chief operating decision maker, as that
information is not typically used in the determination of resource allocation and assessing business performance of each reportable segment.
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The following tables present summarized financial information for each of the Company's reportable segments:

Year Ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018
Net revenues:
Media $ 868,216 $ 743,099 $ 683,351
Live Events 19,921 125,585 144,203
Consumer Products 86,070 91,758 102,606
Total net revenues $ 974207 $ 960,442 $ 930,160
Depreciation and amortization:
Media $ 15,119 § 12,592 $ 11,863
Live Events 23 — —
Consumer Products 8 — —
Corporate 27,466 21,535 13,206
Total depreciation and amortization $ 42,616 $ 34,127  $ 25,069
Adjusted OIBDA:
Media $ 367,818 $ 224,136  $ 210,579
Live Events (17,655) 9,376 20,543
Consumer Products 26,638 28,559 28,376
Corporate (90,613) (82,038) (80,647)
Total Adjusted OIBDA $ 286,188 $ 180,033 $ 178,851
Reconciliation of Total Operating Income to Total Adjusted OIBDA
Year Ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018
Total operating income $ 208,544 $ 116,510 $ 114,478
Depreciation and amortization (1) 42,616 34,127 25,069
Stock-based compensation 27,989 29,396 39,304
Other adjustments (2) 7,039 — —
Total Adjusted OIBDA $ 286,188 $ 180,033 $ 178,851

(1) Depreciation and amortization for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 includes $9,103 and $4,535, respectively, of amortization related to the right-of-use asset

for the Company’s new global headquarters lease, which commenced on July 1, 2019 and is accounted for as a finance lease.

2) Other adjustments for the year ended December 31, 2020 include severance expenses associated with a reduction in our workforce as a result of COVID-19.

Geographic Information

Net revenues by major geographic region are based upon the geographic location of where our content is distributed. The information below summarizes

net revenues to unaffiliated customers by geographic area:

Year Ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018
North America $ 764,938 $ 656,642 $ 612,322
Europe/Middle East/Africa 135,876 223,471 237,196
Asia Pacific 62,327 67,493 69,064
Latin America 11,066 12,836 11,578
Total net revenues $ 974207 $ 960,442 $ 930,160
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The Company's property and equipment was almost entirely located in the United States at December 31, 2020 and 2019. During the years ended
December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, there were two customers with revenues individually in excess of 10% of total consolidated net revenues. Net revenues for
these customers were approximately $270,000 and $183,000 in 2020, approximately $207,000 and $110,000 in 2019, and approximately $176,000 and $110,000
in 2018. These revenues are primarily reflected in our Media segment.

21. Concentration of Credit Risk

We continually monitor our position with, and the credit quality of, the financial institutions that are counterparties to our financial instruments. Our
accounts receivable relates principally to a limited number of distributors, including WWE Network, television, and pay-per-view distributors, and licensees. We
closely monitor the status of receivables with these customers and maintain allowances for anticipated losses as deemed appropriate. We believe credit risk with
respect to accounts receivable is limited due to the generally high credit quality of the Company’s major customers. At December 31, 2020, there were no
customers that individually exceeded 10% of our gross accounts receivable balance. At December 31, 2019, our largest receivable balance from customers was
49% of our gross accounts receivable. No other customers individually exceeded 10% of our gross accounts receivable balance.

22. Subsequent Events

We recently announced a multi-year agreement with Peacock TV LLC, an affiliate of NBC Universal (“NBCU”) which operates the Peacock paid
streaming service (“Peacock™). This agreement grants, among other things, the exclusive domestic streaming and video-on-demand rights to WWE Network
content via Peacock, as well as certain WWE Network subscriber data. Beginning on March 18, 2021, the content licensed via Peacock will include WWE’s pay-
per-view content, second runs of our in-ring television programming, original and archival content, as well as new WWE Network content.

23. Selected Quarterly Financial Information (unaudited)

1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter

2020 Q) D@ ((3X03) A @

Net revenues $ 291,009 $ 223,405 $ 221,595 $ 238,198
Operating expenses $ 175,389  $ 117,395 $ 107,999 $ 148,697
Net income $ 26173 $ 43789 S 48278 $ 13,531
Net income per common share: basic $ 034 $ 057 $ 062 3 0.17
2019

Net revenues $ 182,448 $ 268,809 $ 186,383  § 322,802
Operating expenses $ 135,450 $ 197,363 $ 133842  §$ 171,544
Net income (loss) $ (8,396) $ 10,414 § 5790 3 69,253
Net income (loss) per common share: basic $ 0.11) § 013 $ 0.07 $ 0.89

(1) Net income for the third quarter of 2020 includes a benefit of $18,367 related to content production incentives. Net income for the second, third and fourth quarters of 2019
includes a benefit of $669, $12,498 and $372, respectively, related to content production incentives. See Note 14, Content Production Incentives, for further discussion.

2) Net income for the first and fourth quarters of 2020 includes impairment charges of $8,828 and $4,403 related to our equity method investments. Net income for the first
quarter of 2020 includes impairment charges of $2,715 related to our nonmarketable equity investments. Net income for the first quarter of 2020 includes unrealized holding
losses of $175 on a marketable equity security. Net income for the second and third quarters of 2020 includes net unrealized holding gains of $7,945 and $6,656,
respectively, on our marketable equity securities. Net income for the fourth quarter of 2020 includes net unrealized holding losses of $4,171 on our marketable equity
securities. Net income for the second quarter of 2019 includes a $1,151 investment gain related to favorable observable price adjustments related to two of our
nonmarketable equity securities. Net income for the first, second, third and fourth quarters of 2019 includes unrealized holding losses of $194, $3,597, $568 and $85,
respectively, on a marketable equity security. See Note 5, Investment Securities and Short-Term Investments, for further discussion.
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Charges to
Balance at Expense/
Beginning Against Deductions/ Balance at
Description of Year Revenues Adjustments * End of Year
For the Year Ended December 31, 2020
Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 419 § 3,572 % (331) $ 3,660
Home video allowance for returns 349 — 1 350
Allowance for WWE Network refunds and chargebacks 50 452 (462) 40
For the Year Ended December 31, 2019
Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 651 §$ 31 $ (263) $ 419
Home video allowance for returns 343 — 6 349
Allowance for WWE Network refunds and chargebacks 15 410 (375) 50
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018
Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 1,342  $ (388) $ (303) $ 651
Home video allowance for returns 1,662 129 (1,448) 343
Allowance for WWE Network refunds and chargebacks 30 230 (245) 15

Includes deductions which are comprised primarily of write-offs of specific bad debts and returns of products, as well as certain adjustments to the allowance
account, including reserves for amounts due from customers that have not been recognized as revenue.
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EXECUTION

LEASE AMENDMENT AGREEMENT

This Lease Amendment Agreement (this "Amendment") is dated as of November 25, 2020 (the
"Effective Date"), by and between STAMFORD WASHINGTON OFFICE LLC, a Delaware limited
liability company, with an address at c/o George Comfort & Sons, Inc., 200 Madison Avenue, New
York, New York 10016 ("Landlord"), and WORLD WRESTLING ENTERTAINMENT, INC., a
Delaware corporation, having an address at 1241 East Main Street, Stamford, Connecticut 06902
("Tenant").

WHEREAS, pursuant to that certain Agreement of Lease dated March 7, 2019, as amended and/or
supplemented be that certain Landlord Delivery Work Notice dated April 29, 2019, and by that certain
Commencement Date Letter dated June 26, 2019, and by that certain Landlord Delivery Work Notice
dated June 26, 2019, and by that certain Tenant Delay Notice dated October 24, 2019, and by that certain
Letter Agreement re: Landlord’s Work Credits dated December 16, 2019 (the "Letter Agreement") (said
Agreement of Lease, as so amended and/or supplemented, collectively, the "Lease"), Landlord leases
unto Tenant certain premises more particularly described therein, constituting the interior area
comprising the lobby and the interior rentable areas comprising the entire fifth (5*), sixth (6"), and
seventh (7") floors of the Pavilion Building (collectively, the "Pavilion Premises"), and the interior
rentable areas comprising the entire sixth (6"), seventh (7"), twelfth (12"), and thirteenth (13") floors of
the Tower Building (collectively, the "Tower Premises"; which Tower Premises, together with the
Pavilion Premises, are collectively referred to as the "Premises") consisting of a total of 415,266 rentable
square feet of space, for a term that commenced on July 1, 2019 and is scheduled to expire on December
31, 2035, unless sooner terminated or otherwise extended pursuant to the terms of the Lease (said Lease
term, as same may be so terminated or extended, hereinafter referred to as the "Term"); and

WHEREAS, due to market conditions and Tenant construction-related issues and
negotiations, Tenant has requested to defer and repay certain monthly Fixed Rent as further provided
herein (the "Fixed Rent Deferral"), and to make certain other changes to the Lease, and Landlord hereby
agrees to the Fixed Rent Deferral and such Lease changes, subject to and in accordance with the terms of
this Amendment; and

WHEREAS, Landlord and Tenant now desire that the Lease be appropriately amended.

NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of
which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows, as of the Effective Date,
notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the Lease or in any other agreements between the
parties:

1. General Definitions. Capitalized terms used but not separately defined in this
Amendment shall have their respective meanings used in the Lease.



2. Limited Fixed Rent Deferral and Repayment. Provided Tenant is not then in default
beyond any applicable notice and cure periods under the Lease, Landlord hereby agrees solely to a
deferral of Fixed Rent for: (a) the entire twelfth (12") and thirteenth (13") floors in the Tower Premises
for the calendar year 2021 (i.e., January 1, 2021 through December 31, 2021); and (b) the entire sixth
(6") and seventh (7") floors in the Tower Premises for the period from January 1, 2021 through
September 30, 2021, subject to the terms of this Amendment. Landlord hereby agrees solely to the Fixed
Rent Deferral as set forth above and no other payments of Fixed Rent or Additional Rent shall be
delayed, deferred or affected thereby, Tenant hereby agreeing to make any and all other Fixed Rent and
Additional Rent payments, as and when due, pursuant to the terms of the Lease. Landlord and Tenant
hereby stipulate that the total amount of Fixed Rent Deferral equals $6,589,933.75, as set forth in Exhibit
A attached hereto and made a part hereof. Tenant hereby unconditionally covenants, promises and
agrees to repay Landlord such total Fixed Rent Deferral amount, as Additional Rent, on a monthly basis
(at a monthly rate of $128,184.50, without notice, demand, abatement, offset, counterclaim or deduction,
during the period from January 1, 2022 through December 31, 2026, at an annual five percent (5%)
interest rate, all as set forth in Exhibit A hereto.

3. Tenant's Work Credit; Landlord's Performance of Tenant's Fifth Floor Pavilion
Terrace Work; Reduced Tenant Improvement Allowance. Landlord and Tenant agree that Tenant
shall accept a credit of $196,719.00 (the "Window Credit") in lieu of having Landlord install windows
on the east end of the Pavilion Premises, as originally contemplated. Landlord and Tenant agree that
Landlord shall, at Landlord's sole cost but subject to the reduction of the Tenant Improvement Allowance
noted below, perform certain portions of work related to demolition and waterproofing, all as specified in
Exhibit B attached hereto and made a part hereof (collectively, "Landlord's Demo and Waterproofing
Work"). Landlord's Demo and Waterproofing Work shall be performed in a good and workmanlike
manner, in compliance with all applicable Requirements, and using reputable, experienced contractors
and subcontractors. Landlord shall use good faith, commercially reasonable efforts to complete
Landlord's Demo and Waterproofing Work by December 31, 2020, subject to any Tenant Delays and/or
Unavoidable Delays. The costs for Landlord to assume and perform such work (and taking into account
the Window Credit) is set forth in Exhibit B, and shall result in a reduction of $239,857.00 in the Tenant
Improvement Allowance. (For purposes of clarification, the Tenant Improvement Allowance under
Article 3 of the Lease was originally $40,337,715.73; then was increased by $1,231,352.00 to a total of
$41,569,070.00 pursuant to the Letter Agreement; and now, pursuant to this Amendment, after offsetting
the aforementioned $239,857.00 reduction, the current, amended Tenant Improvement Allowance shall
total $41,329,213.00.)

4. Reduced 5" Floor Deck Space. Tenant's fifth (5") floor roof deck space is hereby
reduced by 2,212 rentable square feet, as outlined on the Replacement Roof Deck Plan attached hereto
and made a part hereof as Exhibit C.

5. Tenant's Parking Space Modification. Tenant's 1,204 unreserved parking space
allocation set forth in Section 11.06 of the Lease is hereby amended and reduced to be 1,144 unreserved
parking spaces (based on a parking ratio of 2.755 spaces per 1,000 rentable square feet of the
Premises). The first sentence of Section 11.06 is hereby amended accordingly.
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6. Tenant Expansion Options. Landlord and Tenant hereby agree that Tenant's initial
expansion options as set forth in Section 38.01 and Section 38.02 of the Lease are hereby nullified,
deleted and have no further force or effect.

7. 4" Floor Equipment Storage Space.

Amendment, Landlord hereby leases to Tenant, and Tenant hereby leases from Landlord, that certain
vacant space (the "Equipment Space"), located on the fourth (4") floor of the Pavilion Building,
consisting of approximately 2,563 rentable square feet (the parties hereby stipulating to such rentable
area), as generally outlined on Exhibit D attached hereto and made a part hereof. Tenant shall use the
Equipment Space solely for Tenant's lawful installation, use, operation, maintenance, repair and
replacement of Tenant's UPS battery equipment serving Tenant's business operations at the Premises, all
at Tenant's sole cost and expense.

(b) Term. The term of Tenant's leasing of the Equipment Space pursuant to the Lease, as
amended by this Amendment (the "Term") shall commence on January 1, 2021 (the "Storage
Commencement Date"), and shall continue throughout (and be co-terminus with) the Term of the Lease,
as same may be extended. Landlord shall deliver exclusive possession of the Equipment Space to Tenant
on the Storage Commencement Date.

(c) Fixed Rent. Tenant shall pay Landlord, throughout the Term, together with Tenant's
Fixed Rent for the Premises, Fixed Rent for the Equipment Space pursuant to the following schedule,
same to be paid without notice or demand, and without set-off, adjustment, deduction or counterclaim,
except as specifically provided in the Lease, as amended by this Amendment.

Equipment Space Premises [2,563 RSF]

Annual Monthly Annual Fixed
Lease Fixed Rent Per RSF Fixed Rent Rate Rent Rate
Years/Period
Storage $15.00 $3,203.75 $38,445.00
Commencement
Date - Lease Year
5
6-10 $16.50 $3,524.12 $42,289.50
11-15 $18.15 $3,876.54 $46,518.45
First 5-Year $19.96 $4,263.12 $51,157.48
Extension Term
Second 5-Year $21.96 $4,690.29 $56,283.48
Extension Term
Third 5-Year $24.15 $5,158.04 $61,896.45
Extension Term
Fourth 5-Year $26.56 $5,672.77 $68,073.28
Extension Term
Fifth 5-Year $29.22 $6,240.90 $74,890.86

Extension Term



The Lease Years set forth in the above Fixed Rent Schedule shall correspond with those in the applicable
Fixed Rent Schedule set forth in the Lease.

(d) Abatement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, provided Tenant is not then in default of
any obligations beyond any applicable notice and cure periods, under the Lease (as amended by this
Amendment), Tenant's Fixed Rent for the Equipment Space shall be abated for the twelve (12) month
period from January 1, 2021 through December 31, 2021.

(e) Escalations. Except as otherwise specifically provided in this Amendment, there
shall be no Tenant payments for Taxes or the Cost and Operation and Maintenance for the Equipment
Space, as would otherwise apply under Article 6 of the Lease. Tenant shall be responsible, however,
throughout the Term, as Additional Rent, for the payment, as and when billed, of any and all personal
property taxes for Tenant's equipment, property and installations located in the Equipment Space.

() Electricity. Tenant shall pay no separate monthly electricity charges for its electricity
consumption in the Equipment Space, although 100% of such charges shall be subject to recoupment,
throughout the Term, by Landlord, through Tenant's Proportionate Pavilion Share of the Cost of
Operation and Maintenance of the Pavilion Building under Article 6 of the Lease, without application of
any Base Year for such charges.

(g) Condition of Equipment Space. Tenant hereby accepts the Equipment Space, and
the means of access and egress thereto, in their current, "AS-IS", "WHERE-IS" condition, and
acknowledges that Landlord has made no promises or representations (express or implied) as to the
suitability, fitness, legality, security or condition of the Equipment Space for the Tenant's purposes
except as otherwise expressly stated herein. Tenant understands that Landlord has no obligation to
provide any security, maintenance, repairs, replacements or supervision of the Equipment Space, and
Tenant shall use and access same, pursuant to the terms hereof, at its sole risk and expense.

(h) Alterations. Tenant shall make no alterations, modifications, additions or
improvements to the Equipment Space or Complex without Landlord's prior written consent in each
instance, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed, and without
otherwise complying with all applicable terms, covenants and conditions for the making of Alterations
under the Lease. Tenant shall keep title to the Equipment Space and Complex free and clear of any liens
or encumbrances relating to any work or services ordered or performed by Tenant or those holding by,
under or through Tenant. If any such liens or encumbrances occur, Tenant, at its sole cost and expense,
shall cause same to be release or discharged within thirty (30) days after Landlord's written demand.
Tenant shall remove all of its personal property, supplies, fixtures, furnishings and equipment located
within the Equipment Space (if any) at the end of the Term, as provided in Section 7(k) hereof, and shall
restore any area(s) altered or damaged by such removal, such Tenant obligations to survive the Term.

(1) Transfers, Etc. Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Amendment, Tenant
shall have no right to assign, mortgage, hypothecate, share or otherwise transfer any right or interest in
the Equipment Space, nor shall Tenant have any right to sublet,
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license or transfer all or any part of any interest in the Equipment Space, or otherwise permit any other
uses of or occupancies in the Equipment Space, without Landlord's prior written consent in each
instance, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. Any attempt by
Tenant to so assign or sublet or otherwise transfer or permit such uses or occupancies of the Equipment
Space without such Landlord's consent shall be null and void and of no effect. Notwithstanding
anything contained in this Section 7(i) to the contrary, Tenant may include the Equipment Space as part
of any Transfer that is either (i) consented to by Landlord in accordance with the terms and conditions of
Article 19 of the Lease or, (ii) permitted without Landlord's consent in accordance with the terms and
conditions of Article 19.

(j) Use, Etc. Tenant shall use the Equipment Space solely for the permitted use set forth
in Section 7(a) hereof, and for no other purpose. Landlord and Landlord's agents or employees shall not
be responsible or liable for any personal injuries, property damage, loss, theft or vandalism to
installations or equipment in the Equipment Space or to any personal property or other items brought
into the Equipment Space unless caused by the gross negligence or willful misconduct of Landlord.
Tenant shall be responsible for providing any desired commercially reasonable and lawful security for its
use of the Equipment Space. Tenant's use of, access to or operations at the Equipment Space shall not, in
any way: (a) materially interfere with Landlord's Complex uses, maintenance, repairs, alterations,
services, occupancies, management or operations; (b) cause waste or damage to any portion of the
Complex; (c) cause any unreasonable disturbances or any public or private nuisance; (d) materially
violate any Requirements; (¢) materially interfere with any installations, equipment, structures or
systems of the Complex; (f) materially interfere with the use and enjoyment of the Complex or adjacent
properties by any occupants or tenants of the Complex or such adjoining properties; or (g) otherwise
materially impair the appearance, structural integrity, systems, amenities or services of the Complex.
Tenant, at its sole cost and expense, shall keep and maintain the Equipment Space in good order,
condition and repair at all times, reasonable wear and tear and damage by casualty, excepted.

(k) Surrender; Holdover. Upon the expiration or sooner termination of the Term,
Tenant shall timely surrender exclusive possession of the Equipment Space to Landlord, vacant, broom-
clean (and free of all of Tenant's personal property, supplies, fixtures, equipment and installations), and
with all of same in good order, condition and repair, reasonable wear and tear and damage by casualty,
excepted. In no event shall Tenant remove any of Landlord's personalty, supplies, fixtures, equipment or
furnishings (if any) from the Equipment Space, however. Time shall be of the essence with respect to
Tenant's surrender obligations hereunder. If Tenant retains possession of (or fails to surrender
possession) all or any part of the Equipment Space after the end of the Term, same shall not result in a
renewal of this Amendment or an extension of the Term, but a holdover subject to the terms of Article
18 of the Lease. Landlord acknowledges and agrees that Tenant may elect to retain possession of the
Equipment Space during the Elective Holdover Period.

(1) Insurance and Indemnity. The liability insurance required to be maintained by
Tenant pursuant to Article 7 of the Lease shall include coverage for the Equipment Space in addition to
the Premises. The indemnity obligations of Tenant as set forth in Article 17 of the Lease shall apply to
the Equipment Space in addition to the Premises.




(m) Access. Landlord and/or its agents or designees shall have the right, following
reasonable prior notice (except in genuine emergencies when only immediate telephonic notice shall be
required) to reasonably enter the Equipment Space at all reasonable times to examine the same, and/or to
make such repairs, additions, maintenance or alterations as Landlord may deem reasonably necessary for
the safety, preservation, protection or restoration of the Equipment Space or Building or Complex
(Landlord having no obligation therefor except as specifically provided in this Amendment). In
exercising such access rights, Landlord shall exercise due care to comply with Tenant's reasonable
security requirements (which may include, without limitation, having a Tenant representative present)
and to avoid risk of damage to Tenant's equipment and installations in the Equipment Space.

8 Further Assurances. Landlord and Tenant each hereby agree, at either party's written
request, at any time and from time to time, and without charge, to execute and deliver any commercially
reasonable instruments and to perform such commercially reasonable acts as may be requested by either
party to carry out the intent of this Amendment, so long as any of the foregoing do not materially
increase either party's costs, liabilities or obligations hereunder or materially decrease either party's
rights hereunder.

9. Enforcement Costs. In the event either party hereto engages in any disputes, claims,
suits or proceedings against the other party in connection with any breach or enforcement of this
Amendment, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover from the non-prevailing party its
reasonable, out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred in connection therewith, including, without
limitation, reasonable attorneys' fees and costs.

10. Brokerage. Tenant and Landlord hereby warrant and represent to the other that it has
dealt with no broker(s), agents or consultants in connection with this Amendment, and each hereby
agrees to indemnify, defend and hold the other harmless from and against any and all claims, costs or
liabilities (including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys' fees and costs) for any brokerage
commissions or other compensation asserted by any broker(s), agent(s), consultant(s) or party(ies)
claiming to represent the indemnifying party for any commissions or compensation with respect to this
Amendment. Landlord's and Tenant’s obligations under this Section shall survive the Term.

11. Miscellaneous. This Amendment (and/or the Lease) shall not be modified or amended
except by written agreement executed by both parties hereto. All understandings and agreements
previously made between the parties are merged in this Amendment, which, together with the Lease,
alone fully and completely expresses the agreement between Landlord and Tenant. As hereby amended,
Landlord and Tenant hereby ratify and confirm the Lease, which shall continue in full force and effect,
subject to and in accordance with its terms. If any provision or portion of this Amendment is found by a
court of law to be in violation of any applicable local, state or federal ordinance, statute, law, regulation,
administrative decision, or public policy, and if such court should declare such provision, or portion
thereof, to be illegal, invalid, void or unenforceable as written, then it is the intention of the parties
hereto that any such provision or portion thereof shall be given force to the fullest extent that it is legal,
valid and enforceable, and the remainder of this Amendment shall be construed as if such illegal, invalid,
unlawful void or unenforceable provision, or portion thereof, were not contained herein. In the event of
any conflicts or inconsistencies between the terms of the Lease, and the terms of
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this Lease (as amended by this Amendment), the terms of this Lease (as amended by this Amendment)
shall govern and control in each instance. This Amendment shall bind and inure to the benefit of the
parties hereto, and their respective successors and assigns. This Amendment shall not be binding on any
party until both parties have executed and delivered duplicate counterparts of this Amendment. This
Amendment, along with the Lease, constitutes the entire agreement between the parties regarding the
subject matters set forth herein, and no prior or contemporaneous agreements shall be of any force or
effect. This Amendment may be executed in individual, duplicate counterparts, which counterparts shall
be deemed one and the same instrument. This Amendment may also be executed and transmitted via
facsimile, email or PDF, and any faxed, emailed or PDF'd signatures shall be deemed original
signatures. This Amendment shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the
State of Connecticut. The parties hereto consent to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of the State and
Federal Courts located in the State of Connecticut. Each party hereby warrants and represents that the
person signing this Amendment on behalf of such party has full power and authority to do so and that
such execution of this Amendment on behalf of such party has been duly authorized by all necessary and
proper action of such party.

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]



IN WITNESS WHEREQF, the parties hereto have duly executed this Amendment as of
the date first set forth above.

LANDLORD:
STAMFORD WASHINGTON OFFICE LLC

By: /s/ PETER S. DUNCAN
Peter S. Duncan
Its Manager, duly authorized and empowered

TENANT:
WORLD WRESTLING ENTERTAINMENT, INC.

By: /s/ KRISTINA SALEN
Its Chief Financial Officer, duly authorized and empowered



Exhibit A

Fixed Rent Deferral and Repayment Schedule

Rate 5.00%
Arnartization &0 moanths
Annual Constant 22.65%
Total Rent Deferral
Beginning Balancs 12th & 13th |
112021 - 250 442 08 37208BTS 642 400 .83 287687 G458 07780
20030 345,077 .50 268 442 08 3T BEE.TS 842 400.83 §,.364.40 1,262.842.83
A2 1,252,842.83 269,442.08 T2 85875 B42 40063 B, 06352 1.943.207.18
A2 1,943,307.18 269,442.08 a72,.858.75 B42 40083 10,773,786 2,586,481.80
AiM72021 2 596 481.80 265 442 08 372,958.75 G542 40083 13,4085 34 3,262,377 97
G202 3252.377.87 269,442 .08 372,958.75 642 40083 1622825 3.911,007.05
T 3,911 007.05 26544208 IT2G58TS 542 400,83 18,972.52 4 57238042
B0 4 67238042 26944208 72 95875 542 400,83 21,728.26 5, 236,508.51
w1/2021 5,236,500 51 269442 DB 372,958.75 B42 40083 24,495 48 6,803,405 B0
1001/2021 5,803,408 80 268,442,08 - 250,442 .08 25, 720,20 B, 196,568 .08
1121 G,186,5668.08 260 442,08 25D 442,08 26,950.04 6,494, 96021
1272021 6,484 56021 260 442,08 - 25‘3.44_@.!33 28.185.01 & 792,587 30
Taoital - 3,233,105.00 3,356,628.75 6,580 933.75 202,653.55 6,792,587.30
Repayment Schedule
. n - )
1112022 6,792,587.30 128,184 50 28,302.45 99.882.05 6,682 705 25
2Hz02z 6,692,705.25 128,184.50 2T BB6 2T 100,298.23 6,592,407 .02
arfz022 5,692 407,02 128,184.50 27 460,346 100, 71614 G,481,600,668
47112022 6491 690 88 128,184 50 2T 048,71 101,135.79 6,360 555.00
anieizz 6.390.555.09 128,184.50 26 627,31 101,557 19 6,288 887 80
Bii2022 6.268,997 .50 128,184.50 2620416 101,980 34 G187 01T 55
THIA022 6,187,017 .55 128,184 60 25 770.24 102.405.26 6,084,612.20
ANz 6,084,512 29 128,184 50 25 352.56 102,831.85 5,981,780,34
/2022 5861 7TE0.34 128.184.50 24 924,08 103, 260.42 5,878,518.92
1012022 5,87E,519.892 120, 184.50 24 4%3.83 103,690.67 5,774,829.25
111072022 5,774,820 25 128,184.50 24 061.7% 104,122.71 5,670,706 54
1201/2022 5,670,706.54 128, 184,50 23627 .94 104,568 56 5,566,149 98
11/2023 5,566,145.98 128,184 50 2318229 104, 992.21 5481,157.77
H1/2023 * 5461 18777 126, 184.50 22,754 82 105,428, 68 5.365,728.09
AM2023 5,355 728,09 12E,184.50 22,315 53 106,868 97 5.249.859.13
472023 5.249 859,13 12E,184.50 2167441 106,310,098 5.143,545.04
SMI2025 5.143,545.04 128,184.50 2145145 106, 753.05 5,036, 79569
BM1/2023 5,038.795.99 128,184.50 20086 65 107,197.85 4,029 59814
THAES 4,029,508 14 128,184 50 20,530 90 107 644,51 4,521,963.63
BMA202 4,621,953.63 128,184 50 20,081.47 108,083.03 4,713,860.80
/2023 4,713, 86060 128.184.50 18,641.09 108,543 42 4,605317.18
10172023 4,605317.18 128.184.50 19,188.82 108,995.68 4,486 321.50
11142023 4,496,321 .50 128,184 50 18,734 67 109,449 B3 4 386 87187
1212023 4,386,871.67 128,164 50 18,278.63 109,905 67 4,376 965 BD
12024 4,276 965,80 128,184 50 17 820,69 110,363 81 4,166 601 53
12024 4,168 601 .90 128, 164.50 17, 360.84 110,823 68 4,088,776.33
3112024 4,055 77833 128,184 50 16,899.08 111,285.43 3,944 492 91
4112024 3,544 452 51 1268, 184 50 16.435.59 111,749.11 3.832,742.78
512024 3,832.743.7% 126, 184 .50 15 86977 112,214.74 3.720,529.05
Gi/2024 3,720,529.05 128, 184,50 15,502.20 112,682.30 3,607,848.76
TIr2024 3,607 B46.76 128,184.50 15,052 68 113,151.81 3,494 654 95
BI172024 3,484 604 85 128,184,50 14.561.23 113.823.27 3.381,071.68
Qnra024 3,381,071.68 128,184 .50 14 0BT BD 114,086.70 3.288.974 .97
10172024 3,066,974 07 128,184.50 1381240 114,572 11 3,152,402 &7
1112024 3,152,402 87 128 184.50 13,135.01 115,045 459 3,037,353 38
12112024 3,037,353.38 128,184.50 12,655.64 115,528.86 2,821 824 51
1112025 2,921,824.51 128.184.50 1217427 116,010,253 2,505,814.28
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212025
3M/2025
41/2028
5/1/2025
6172025
TH202s
BM/2025
2102025
100172025
11012025
123025
1112036
212028
2028
4172028
5172028
B1/2026
TH2026
8112026
W12026
10112026
117142028
12112026

2,805,814.28
2,689,320.87
2,572 341 67
2454 B75.26
2,336.018.41
2.218.472.07
2,089,531 20
1,960,084.74
1,860,160.84
1,738,726.80
1.618,781.16
1,497,.351.63
1,375,406.,09
1,252 852 45
1,126,088.58
1,008,5612.36
B32.521.66
758.014.533
632,088.22
507 441.17
381.371.01
254 775 65
127.652.62

128,184 50
128,184 50
128,184 50
128,164 50
128,164 50
128.164.50
128,184.50
128,164.50
128,164 .50
126,184 50
128,184 50
128,184 50
128,184.50
128,184 50
128,184 50
128,124 50
128,184.50
128,184 50
128,184.50
128,1684.50
128.184.50
128,184.50
126.184.50

11,600.89
11,208.50
10,718.0%
10,228.65
973718
024363
8 74805
8,250.39
7,750.67
7,248 66
6,744 08
B.238.07
5.730.66
5,220.64
4,708.20
4,193.80
367717
3,158.38
2,637.45
2,114.34
1,580,05
1,061,565
£31.8%

116,493 61
116,879.00
117 466 .41
117,955.86
118,447 34
115,940 &7
119,436,485
116,934.11
120,433.83
120,935,864
121,430,554
121,945 54
122 453 64
12296387
123 476,22
123,990.70
124,607 .33
128,026, 11
125,547.05
1268,070.16
126,595 46
12712204
127 652 62

2,680,320.67
2,572,341 67
2,454 875,26
2,335,919.41
221BAT2.07
2,099,531.20
1,980,094.74
1,860,160.64
1,739,726 80
1,618,791.16
1,497,351 63
1,375.406 09
1,252 852 45
1,120 858 58
1.006,512.26
BB2.521.86
758,014,33
632 9BE 22
BOT 441,17
381,371.01
254 775 55
127,852,862
(0,000




Exhibit B

Credit, 5% Floor Pavilion Terrace Work and Tenant Improvement Allowance Reduction Schedule

677 Washington Boulevar A
WWE Modification A - of Cost Breakd: i
Updated 11/9/2020

WWE Modification Agreement - Summary of Cost Breakdown

Item Amount Notes
Demolition $580,000 Contract pricing and a\! bid materials shared with Gardiner & Thecbald. Pricing is
solely for Phase 2 section.
Waleraraahin 50 Contract pricing and all bid materials shared with Gardiner & Thecbald. Pricing is
P 9 solely for Phase 2 section. Costis $257,000. Landlord to cover cost for WWE.
. ’ Price provided by Barrett to install UV protective mat, which will be sufficient for 12
LIV IPIECIVE Wt A3 months from install. Cost solely reflects revised Phase 2 SF.

TOTAL $610,093

TOTAL Demo PSF $33.22 Per Lease Agreement, Phase 2 section is 17,459 SF.

Increased SF allocated to Phase 1 213 SF Revised terrace breakdown detailed in package.

Less credit back for Increased Phase 1 Terrace Size PSF demo cost for the 2,213 SF allocated to Phase 1.

Less Additional Credit to Tenant Additional $100K credit for Tenant

WWE direction not fo proceed. Cherry Hill Glass ($134,165), plus AP

Less credit back for Pavilion Window Instaliation Construction scope of ($62,554). All materials shared with Gardiner &
Theobald.

Total Credit to Landlord $239,857 Landlord’s contribution to Tenant's Allowance to be adjusted accordingly.
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Exhibit C
Replacement Roof Deck Plan
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Exhibit D

Diagram of Equipment Space

I WWE Additional Space for UPS Batlery Infrastructure

T - -3 o £} | 2,563 USF
= o o o e

=11 o o 2] =
il =) o o a o -
C :
b o o il B E
"
1] a o o o a =
b 1
o a a o -
B T
B |
1] =] a o o a m J
= o a o : I
b i
L
ﬁ[j i i i I
[ mn -

| |\IIII\I\I\IIIIII\IIIII\I\I||||\|\||l M G0 ’_%.:;g | | 1| [ 7 | w|



SUBSIDIARIES OF WORLD WRESTLING ENTERTAINMENT, INC.

(All subsidiaries are wholly-owned, directly or indirectly, except where indicated)

WWE Real Estate Holdings, LLC (a Delaware limited liability company)

TSI Realty Company (a Delaware corporation)

Event Services, Inc. (a Delaware corporation)

WM Labor MGT, Inc. (a Delaware corporation)

Event Services (Nola), LLC (a Louisiana corporation)

WWE Jet Services, Inc. (a Delaware corporation)

WWE Network, LLC (a Delaware limited liability company)

WWE Studios, Inc. (a Delaware corporation)

Studios Originals, Inc. (a Delaware corporation)

WWE Studios Finance Holding Corp. (a Delaware corporation)

WWE Studios Finance Corp. (a Delaware corporation)

Erebus Pictures, LLC (a Delaware limited liability company) (50 percent owned)

* NOLA Temple, LLC (a Louisiana limited liability company)

Good and Bad Cop, LLC (a Louisiana limited liability company)

Temple Picture Holdings, LLC (a Delaware limited liability company) (50 percent owned)

Avaros Films, Inc (a Delaware corporation)

BG Films, Inc (a Delaware corporation)

The Marine 6 Films, Inc. (a Delaware corporation)
WH2, LLC (a Louisiana limited liability company)
Hooked Movie, LLC (a Delaware corporation)

Main Event Films, Inc. (a Delaware corporation)

Buddy Games Films, Inc. (a British Columbia company)
FWMF, LLC (a Delaware limited liability company)
Fighting Family Limited (a UK corporation)

Main Event Movie, Inc. (a British Columbia company)

CC Reality LLC (a Delaware limited liability company)

WWE Films Development, Inc. (a Delaware corporation)

WWE Studios Production, Inc. (a Delaware corporation)

Previous Films Production Corp. (a Delaware corporation)

Marine 3, LLC (a Louisiana limited liability company)

Incarnate Investments, Inc. (a Delaware corporation)

Exhibit 21.1



*  SLH Films, Inc. (a Delaware corporation)
*  Railway Films, Inc. (a British Columbia company)
Marine Productions Australia Pty Limited (an Australia corporation)
*  WWE Australia Pty Limited (an Australia limited liability company)
WWE Properties International, Inc. (a Delaware corporation)
* XFL,LLC
*  WWE Middle East FZ-LLC (a Dubai Free Zone limited liability company)
WWE Japan LLC (a Japanese limited liability company)
World Wrestling Entertainment (International) Limited (a UK corporation)
WWE UK Holdings, Ltd. (a UK corporation)
*  WWE Saudi Arabian Management Company (a Saudi Arabia corporation)
WWE Asia Pacific Pte, Ltd. (a Singapore corporation)
WWE Germany GmbH (a German corporation)



Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement Nos. 333-210879, 333-181001 and 333-151022 on Form S-8 of our
reports dated February 4, 2021, relating to the consolidated financial statements of World Wrestling Entertainment, Inc. and subsidiaries (the
"Company"), and the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting, appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of
World Wrestling Entertainment, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2020.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche, LLP

Stamford, CT
February 4, 2021



Exhibit 31.1

Certification required by Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 Rule 13a-14 as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002

I, Vincent K. McMahon certify that:
1. Ihave reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of World Wrestling Entertainment, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(%)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

Dated: February 4, 2021 By: /s/ VINCENT K. MCMAHON
Vincent K. McMahon
Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2

Certification required by Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 Rule 13a-14 as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002

I, Kristina Salen certify that:
1. Ihave reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of World Wrestling Entertainment, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

Dated: February 4, 2021 By: /s/ KRISTINA SALEN
Kristina Salen
Chief Financial Officer




Exhibit 32.1
Certification of Chairman and CEO and CFO Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the annual report on Form 10-K of World Wrestling Entertainment, Inc. (the “Company”) for the year ended December 31,
2020 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), Vincent K. McMahon as Chairman of the Board
and Chief Executive Officer of the Company and Kristina Salen as Chief Financial Officer of the Company, each hereby certifies, pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of his or her knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended; and

(2) The information contained in the report fairly presents, in all material aspects, the financial condition and results of operations of the

Company.
Dated: February 4, 2021 By: /s/ VINCENT K. MCMAHON
Vincent K. McMahon
Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer
Dated: ~ February 4, 2021 By: /s/ KRISTINA SALEN

Kristina Salen
Chief Financial Officer



